Parents' experiences of stepping back in the decision-making process during transition

in the cleft pathway

Jana Safarikova

Doctorate in Clinical Psychology

University of East Anglia

Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences

Submission date: 25 May 2021

Thesis portfolio word count (excluding appendices): 24,633

This copy of the thesis has been supplied on condition that anyone who consults it is understood to recognise that its copyright rests with the author and that use of any information derived therefrom must be in accordance with current UK Copyright Law. In addition, any quotation or extract must include full attribution.

### **Thesis Portfolio Abstract**

## Background

Cleft lip and/or palate (CL/P) is the most common congenital craniofacial condition that can cause physical health complications, psychological difficulties and challenges in social interactions. Parents of children with CL/P are also affected as they face challenges of demanding care needs and long-term treatment. It is important to understand parents' experiences and their needs to support them when caring for their children.

## Method

First, a systematic review was conducted to appraise and synthesise evidence of parental attachment in the early years of lives of children with CL/P and subsequent parental. Second, an empirical study explored parental experiences of a decision-making process about an elective, orthognathic surgery when the responsibility of the decision moves from parents to the young person affected.

## Results

The systematic review found that after some changes during the first year, there are no differences in attachment between mothers of children with and without cleft at five years. Findings on parenting were mixed but the majority highlighted either no differences in comparison to parents of healthy children or fostering autonomy despite worries about children's health and physical safety. The empirical study identified three main themes, "Our" journey', 'Stepping back' and 'Helping with the bigger picture', reflecting the changing role in responsibility for decision-making.

### Conclusions

The thesis focuses on two key time periods identified in literature, the start and the end of the cleft journey, to better understand parental needs. Parents develop attachment to their child while adjusting to their needs and undergoing initial surgeries during the first year.

Another crucial period is the transition of decision-making regarding the orthognathic

surgery when parents are expected to hand over responsibility to their adolescent child.

The thesis highlights complexities and potential key factors impacting on parental

experience, i.e., the age of the young people and parenting styles.

### **Access Condition and Agreement**

Each deposit in UEA Digital Repository is protected by copyright and other intellectual property rights, and duplication or sale of all or part of any of the Data Collections is not permitted, except that material may be duplicated by you for your research use or for educational purposes in electronic or print form. You must obtain permission from the copyright holder, usually the author, for any other use. Exceptions only apply where a deposit may be explicitly provided under a stated licence, such as a Creative Commons licence or Open Government licence.

Electronic or print copies may not be offered, whether for sale or otherwise to anyone, unless explicitly stated under a Creative Commons or Open Government license. Unauthorised reproduction, editing or reformatting for resale purposes is explicitly prohibited (except where approved by the copyright holder themselves) and UEA reserves the right to take immediate 'take down' action on behalf of the copyright and/or rights holder if this Access condition of the UEA Digital Repository is breached. Any material in this database has been supplied on the understanding that it is copyright material and that no quotation from the material may be published without proper acknowledgement.

# **Table of Contents**

Thesis Portfolio Abstract
Table of Contents
Acknowledgements
Chapter 1. Introduction Chapter
Reference List for Introduction Chapter
Chapter 2. Systematic Review
Abstract
Introduction18
Methods
Search Methods
Table 1. Systematic Review Search Strategy Keywords
Selection Criteria
Figure 1. Preferred Reporting Items of Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses
(PRISMA) Flow Diagram of Search and Eligibility Process
Data Collection24
Data Analysis24
Results
Search Outcome
Participants25
Table 2. Summary of Quantitative Studies Included in the Systematic Review2
Table 3. Summary of Qualitative Studies Included in the Systematic Review3
Grouping Based on Study Focus
Table 4. Grouping of Included Studies    33
Quality Assessment

Parent transit	ts' experiences of stepping back in the decision-making process during tion in the cleft pathway	5
	Table 5. An Overview of Quality Assessment in Individual Studies	34
	Attachment	36
	Parenting	37
Discu	ussion	39
	Findings in Context	39
	Strengths and Limitations of the Review	42
Conc	lusions	43
Ackn	owledgements	44
Decla	aration of Interest	44
Refer	rences	45
Chap	oter 3. Bridging Chapter	55
Refer	rence List for Bridging Chapter	58
Chap	oter 4. Empirical Paper	61
Abstr	ract	63
Introc	duction	64
Meth	ods	67
	Participants and Recruitment	68
	Table 1. Participants' Characteristics	69
	Procedure	69
	Analysis	70
	Table 2. Example of the Analytic Process from a Transcript to a Main Theme	e71
Resul	lts	72
	Table 3. Main Themes and Subthemes	73
	"Our" Journey	73
	Stepping Back	76

Parents' experiences of stepping back in the decision-making process during transition in the cleft pathway 6	j
Helping with the Bigger Picture	.80
Discussion	84
Methodological Considerations	.86
Clinical Implications	87
Future Research	.88
Conclusions	.88
Acknowledgements	.89
Declaration of Interest	.89
References	.90
Chapter 5. Discussion and Critical Evaluation	97
Reference List for Discussion and Critical Evaluation Chapter	111
A List of Appendices	18
Appendix A – The Cleft Palate-Craniofacial Journal Manuscript Submission	
Guidelines1	19
Appendix B – Quality rating tables of studies with inter-rater checks14	45
Appendix C – HRA approval1	47
Appendix D – Participant Information Sheet (NHS and non-NHS)1	50
Appendix E – Consent form (NHS and non-NHS)1	58
Appendix F – Demographic information form1	162
Appendix G – Topic guide1	64

### Acknowledgements

First of all, I would like to thank my primary supervisor, Dr Paul Fisher. I feel incredibly fortunate to have received his support, guidance, expertise and encouragement. My thanks also go to my secondary supervisor, Kiki Mastroyannopoulou, for her support especially through the initial stages of my empirical study. I would like to express my gratitude to Dr Eliane Young for her enthusiasm in assisting the study and facilitating participant recruitment. I would also like to extend my thanks to the Cleft Lip and Palate Association (CLAPA) who have endorsed the study and helped with recruitment in the midst of the COVID-19 pandemic, giving me hope that the study can go ahead despite the situation. And to all eleven participants who gave up their time to take part in the study.

I am grateful for a wonderful group of my fellow trainees, the time we have spent together throughout the course whether in person or remotely and the friendship and support we have given to each other. I would like to thank George Baldwin for his help as a second reviewer for the systematic review.

I would like to express special thanks to my partner David who has patiently and continually supported me through and shared my journey. And to my family and friends for cheering me on.

Chapter 1.

**Introduction Chapter** 

Cleft lip and/or palate malformations are the most common congenital abnormality affecting the craniofacial region (Goodacre & Swan, 2008, 2012; NHS England, 2013). Approximately one in 700 babies in the United Kingdom are born with this condition. It occurs when embryological parts forming the lip, nose and palate do not join correctly during early pregnancy and create a gap. Although some potential risk factors have been found, the causes are thought to be complex, an interplay of genetic and environmental factors that cannot be predicted. The most frequent type is cleft palate only (45%), cleft lip only (23%), followed by unilateral cleft lip and palate (22%) and bilateral cleft lip and palate (10%) (NHS England, 2013).

This condition can cause orthodontic complications, negatively impact facial growth, speech and hearing (NHS England, 2013), making people with cleft stand out. It can therefore cause psychological difficulties and challenges in social interactions for the individuals. Young people reported being bullied because of their appearance and wanting to fit in better (Liddle et al., 2018). Parents considered their children to have more internalising and externalising behavioural problems such as anxiety, lower self-esteem, being less happy and teased more due to their condition (Hunt et al., 2007).

Parents are greatly affected as well (Breuning et al., 2020; Hlongwa & Rispel, 2018). Their psychological burden starts when their child's condition is diagnosed, which can be during pregnancy or at birth, and continues throughout their child's life. These challenges can centre around feeding, worries their child will choke as milk comes out through the nose because of the hole in the mouth, paying extra attention to their breathing and numerous visits to the hospital and clinics during the long-term treatment. Up to 25% of cleft lip and palate conditions are diagnosed prenatally during a 20-week scan (NHS England, 2013) with cleft lip only in around 70% of cases (Goodacre & Swan, 2008, 2012). Although this represents an increased worry in expecting parents for the second half

of the pregnancy, it also gives them a chance to adapt to the diagnosis. Mothers of newborns with cleft lip and/or palate who received diagnosis postpartum reported higher anxiety, more frequently feeling scared and depressed than mothers who were given diagnosis prenatally (Johns et al., 2018).

Clinical care comprises advice on feeding and care, hearing assessments of babies, counselling and psychological support for parents, and continues into early adulthood (NHS England, 2013; Colbert et al., 2015). Children undergo several surgeries during their childhood (Cleft Lip and Palate Association, 2019; Colbert et al., 2015; Goodacre & Swan, 2008, 2012) starting with a lip repair surgery at three to six months of age. This is followed by a palate repair surgery at six to 12 months, speech surgery and lip revision around three to five years of age, and Alveolar Bone Graft surgery alongside extensive orthodontal work to help with teeth growth at six to 12 years old. Numerous eye, nose, throat (ENT), ear and speech assessments are conducted alongside surgical interventions to ensure clear hearing, breathing and speech production. Given the above raising and caring for a child with cleft leads to an additional burden of care and responsibility for decision-making for parents due to their involvement in the treatment of their children (Hlongwa & Rispel, 2018; Maurien et al., 2019; Stock & Feragen, 2016).

Around the child's age of 15 years, an elective orthognathic pathway is offered to some young people as a prospective treatment for aesthetic and functional reasons. This pathway takes several years during which extensive orthodontic work is done in preparation for the main orthognathic surgery (Royal College of Surgeons of England, 2013). The surgery itself takes place when the young person is around 20 years old, at a time when there are no more changes to their bone structure through growth. The purpose of this complex surgery is to realign the upper and lower jaws to improve biting and create a more typical facial profile, and correct other structures to help with speech production or

breathing. This surgery is understood to represent the final stage of the lengthy treatment process. With it also comes a change in decision-making as the young person themselves is expected to make the decision about the pathway, not their parents who will have held the responsibility for their child's treatment decisions for at least the previous 15 years (Nelson et al., 2012).

It is crucial to understand parents' experiences of caring for their child and their needs throughout the different stages of the cleft pathway (Nelson et al., 2011). This thesis therefore aims to develop and report a greater understanding of the impact and experiences of caring for a child with craniofacial condition. Chapter 2 contains a systematic review of literature addressing parent-to-child attachment and parenting styles. It explores whether cleft diagnosis and the child's additional needs affect bonding of the parent to their child and subsequent parenting style. Chapter 3 briefly connects the systematic review and empirical study, drawing on the link between parenting styles and their impact on decisionmaking in children. Chapter 4 presents an empirical study that explores parents' experiences of and readiness for handing over responsibility for decision-making to their children after many years of making decisions about their treatment.

The thesis portfolio finishes with Chapter 5 that brings together findings of both papers and offers a reflection on the process of conducting and reporting the systematic review and empirical paper.

### **Reference List for Introduction Chapter**

- Breuning, E. E., Courtemanche, R. J., & Courtemanche, D. J. (2020). Experiences of Canadian parents of young children with cleft lip and/or palate, *The Cleft Palate-Craniofacial journal*, X, 1-10. doi:10.1177/1055665620977271
- Cleft Lip and Palate Association. (2019). Cleft lip and palate treatment. Retrieved March 9, 2019, from https://www.clapa.com/treatment/
- Colbert, S. D., Green, B., Brennan, P. A., & Mercer, N. (2015). Contemporary management of cleft lip and palate in the United Kingdom. Have we reached the turning point? *British Journal of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery*, 53, 594-598.
- Goodacre, T., & Swan, M. (2008). Cleft lip and palate: current management. *Paediatrics and Child Health*, 18(6), 283-292.
- Goodacre, T., & Swan, M. (2012). Cleft lip and palate: current management. *Paediatrics and Child Health*, 22(4), 160-168.
- Hlongwa, P., & Rispel, L. C. (2018). "People look and ask lots of questions": caregivers' perceptions of healthcare provision and support for children born with cleft lip and palate, *BMC Public Health*, 18:506. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-018-5421-x

- Hunt, O., Burden, D., Hepper, P., Stevenson, M., & Johnston, C. (2007). Parent reports of the psychosocial functioning of children with cleft lip and/or palate. *The Cleft Palate-Craniofacial Journal*, 44, 304–311. doi:10.1597/05-205
- Johns, A. L., Hershfield, J. A., Seifu, N. M., & Haynes, K. A. (2018). Postpartum depression in mothers of infants with cleft lip and/or palate. *Journal of Craniofacial Surgery*, 29(4), e354-e358. doi:10.1097/SCS.000000000004319
- Liddle, M. J., Baker, S. R. Smith, K. G., & Thompson, A. R. (2018). Young adults' experience of appearance-altering orthognathic surgery: A longitudinal interpretative phenomenologic analysis. *The Cleft Palate-Craniofacial Journal*, 55(2), 238-247. doi:10.1177/1055665617726533
- Maurien, K., Van de Casteele, E., & Nadjmi, N. (2019). Psychological well-being and medical guidance of parents of children with cleft in Belgium during feeding problems of the child: a mixed method study, *Journal of Pediatric Nursing*, 48, 56-66. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pedn.2019.06.015
- Nelson, P. A., Caress, A.-L., Glenny, A.-M., & Kirk, S. A. (2012). 'Doing the "right" thing': how parents experience and manage decision-making for children's 'normalising' surgeries. *Social Science & Medicine*, 74, 796-804. doi:10.1016/j.socscimed.2011.11.024

- Nelson, P., Glenny, A.-M., Kirk, S., & Caress, A.-L. (2011). Parents' experiences of caring for a child with a cleft lip and/or palate: a review of the literature. *Child: Care, Health and Development*, 38(1), 6-20. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2214.2011.01244.x
- NHS England. (2013). Service Specification: Cleft lip and/or palate services including non-cleft velopharyngeal dysfunction (VPD) (All Ages). Available at https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2013/06/d07-cleft-lip.pdf
- Royal College of Surgeons of England. (2013). *Commissioning guide: Orthognathic procedures*. Available at https://www.rcseng.ac.uk/library-and-publications/rcs-publications/docs/orthognathic-procedures/
- Stock, N. M., & Feragen K. B. (2016). Psychological adjustment to cleft lip and/or palate: A narrative review of the literature. *Psychology & Health*, 31(7), 777-813. doi:10.1080/08870446.2016.1143944

Chapter 2.

Systematic Review

Prepared for submission to The Cleft Palate-Craniofacial Journal (Appendix A).

# Parental attachment and parenting when having a child born with cleft lip and/or

palate: A systematic review

Jana Safarikova and Dr Paul Fisher

Department of Clinical Psychology and Psychological Therapies, University of East Anglia, UK

Corresponding author:

Jana Safarikova, Department of Clinical Psychology and Psychological Therapies, Norwich Medical School, University of East Anglia, Norwich NR4 7TJ. E-mail.

j.safarikova@uea.ac.uk

Total word count (excluding references): 7,003

### Abstract

*Objective:* This systematic review aims to identify and evaluate available research related to parent-child attachments and parenting in parents of children born with craniofacial anomalies (CFA).

*Design:* A systematic search following Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses (PRISMA) guidance was conducted using three databases (Medline EBSCO Complete, PsycINFO and Scopus) from their inception to March 2021. *Results:* The search identified 1,188 articles of which 12 were eligible to be included in the review. Six studies addressed parent-child attachment and seven studies parenting style/approach. Only one of the studies was longitudinal and focused on both concepts. Considering mothers of children with cleft no evidence for bonding disorders was found. Maternal representations seemed to improve by 12 months, and no attachment differences were found by 5 years of child's age between the groups of mothers. In terms of parenting style, while one study found mothers of children with CFA more authoritarian, other studies found no differences between the groups in parenting, or even fostering more independence.

*Conclusions:* Bonding and attachment to a child with CFA seem to undergo development during the first year, showing no differences in maternal attachment compared with mothers of healthy children at 5 years. Due to varied methodologies findings on parenting seem mixed. The review emphasised factors influencing both attachment and parenting. It highlighted underrepresentation of fathers in research, with no paternal attachment investigated, and the need to assess parental attachment and parenting in longitudinal studies.

### Keywords

Attachment, maternal representations, parenting, cleft, review

### Introduction

Cleft lip and/or palate, the most common congenital condition of the face and oral cavity, affects approximately one in 700 babies in the United Kingdom (UK) (Goodacre and Swan, 2008, 2012). Parents' reactions to the news of having a baby with cleft were addressed internationally, describing shock, shame, worry, self-blame, sadness or disappointment (eg, Dapaah et al., 2020; Hlongwa and Rispel, 2018; McCorkell et al., 2012; Nelson et al., 2011; Nelson et al., 2012). Having a child born with cleft represents a long treatment journey (NHS England, 2013) that is intensive from the beginning and can be found overwhelming in terms of information (Costa et al., 2019) and increased burden of care (Razera et al., 2017). However, more positively, Stock et al. (2020) suggested that parents adjust to the diagnosis, and factors such as satisfaction with health care support and familial relationship serve as protective.

Adjusting to the diagnosis and demands on care such as feeding takes place during bonding stages. Forming an emotional bond and attachment to a child is generally considered the most important relationship for the child's social, emotional and cognitive development (Clark and Ladd, 2000). A secure attachment reflects the child's feelings of safety, closeness and trust. However, some factors have been found to impact on the bonding process (eg, Martins and Gaffan, 2000). A meta-analytic investigation of early maternal depression and attachment of healthy infants suggested that infants of depressed mothers were less likely to form a secure attachment. Depression was also highlighted as a predictor for insecure attachment in infants with cleft, alongside younger maternal age and this being the woman's first baby, rather than child's facial appearance (Speltz et al., 1997). In contrast, although mothers of children with cleft were found to be more likely depressed than mothers of healthy children, there was no evidence that maternal depression affected interactions with their children (Murray et al., 2008). Similarly, maternal depression was not found to significantly affect behaviours towards children with cleft but factors such as marital stress and socioeconomic circumstances did (Pelchat et al., 2003).

Research focused on early attachment of infants with medical conditions indicated more insecure attachment in comparison to healthy children (Ward et al., 1993). However, when specifically assessing attachment of infants with and without cleft no differences were found (Habersaat et al., 2013; Hoeksma et al., 1996; Speltz et al., 1997). Furthermore, there is evidence that attachment can change and by 24 months children's attachment patterns are no different (Maris et al., 2000). The greatest change was found in children with cleft palate only. If they were insecurely attached at 12 months, they were more likely to have secure attachment at 24 months. Because of these changes Maris et al. (2000) highlighted the need to address child attachment longitudinally as assessment is usually conducted once, at 12 months of infants' age, using the Strange Situation (Ainsworth et al., 1978).

Nevertheless, a recent study explored the adult attachment style of people born with cleft (Ardouin et al., 2021). They reported less secure attachment in adult relationships than the general population while having good relationships with family members who can provide emotional support.

The research above focused on evaluating attachment quality in infants or adults who were born with cleft. The attachment of parents was not addressed although some parental attributes such as protectiveness and perceived vulnerability of children were considered (Collet and Speltz, 2007; Hlongwa and Rispel, 2018; Speltz et al., 2000). These factors were also considered in parents of children with other health conditions. Increased protectiveness and/or perceived vulnerability was found in parents of children with chronic illness such as cancer (Colletti et al., 2008), diabetes (Mullins et al., 2004) or rheumatoid arthritis (Power et al., 2003).

The attachment theory (Ainsworth and Bowlby, 1991) suggests that primary caregivers should be responsive and available for the child to thrive and develop a secure attachment. However, times of increased stress and threat could impact on the caring behaviours in parents and establishing bonds with their children. Upon receiving their child's diagnosis of cleft lip and/or palate followed by experiences of shock, grief or shame (Nelson et al., 2011), parents might be mourning their 'perfect child', which negatively affects their developing attachment (Bowlby, 1982). In contrast, research also shows that parents expressed elation at having a newborn and considered the diagnosis of cleft unremarkable (Nelson et al., 2011), able to form a loving attachment.

Pinquart (2013) conducted a meta-analysis exploring parent-child relationships and parenting behaviours relating to various chronic illnesses. There was evidence, despite small effect sizes, that the parent-child relationships tended to be less positive in families with children with specific chronic illness such as epilepsy, asthma and hearing impairment, most likely due to more stressors associated with these conditions. Families with children with cleft, despite the additional burden of care and psychological strain, seemed to adjust well.

Parental characteristics such as protectiveness, control or perceived vulnerability are linked with the parenting dimensions (Baumrind, 1996) of responsiveness and demandingness. Responsiveness is conceptualised as fostering individuality in the child, being supportive, and showing warmth. Demandingness is displayed in actions to regulate child's behaviour or expectations of child's own control over their behaviour. These attributes are over time reflected in parenting styles (Baumrind, 1971), which in turn impact on the development of decisional capacity in children (Partridge, 2010). Authoritative parenting style was found most supportive of developing autonomy in children. Furthermore, there is evidence of a link between specific parenting styles and style (Nanu and Nijloveanu, 2015).

Considering the parental involvement during the whole cleft treatment, parents play a crucial, demanding role. Their attachment and parenting style will be reflected in decision-making and affect their readiness to hand over responsibility for decisions to their children (Partridge, 2010). Within this context the current systematic review aimed to present a synthesis of literature on parental attachment and parenting of a child with cleft lip and/or palate and examine whether there are any changes in them over time.

## Methods

### Search Methods

This systematic review followed the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses Statement (PRISMA; Moher et al., 2009) to report on the process and results. The protocol was registered on PROSPERO, the International prospective register of systematic reviews (PROSPERO 2021 CRD42021240453). Three electronic databases (MEDLINE EBSCO Complete, PsycINFO and Scopus) were searched for research articles from inception to 6 March 2021. Guidance was sought from a dedicated academic librarian. Search keywords are available in Table 1. Reference lists of included studies and wider cleft literature were also searched for additional potentially eligible research papers.

	Concept 1 (AB)	AND	Concept 2 (AB)	AND	Concept 3 (AB)
Search	Cleft		parent or parental or		Attachment style
terms			mother or maternal or		or relationship or
			father or paternal or		interaction
			stepparent or		
			stepparental or		

**Table 1.** Systematic Review Search Strategy Keywords.

stepmother or
stepfather or caregiver

## Selection Criteria

All retrieved records were gathered into an Excel spreadsheet and duplicates removed. Two independent researchers screened the titles and abstracts using set eligibility criteria. Remaining studies underwent a full-text screening. Studies which focused on parent-child bonding, parental attachment style with children born with cleft lip and/or palate (but not child's attachment), parenting style and parenting/caring behaviours were selected for the review. No restrictions were applied to interventions or control groups specifications due to the expected varied methodology. Both qualitative and quantitative studies were included to maximise the findings in the area of interest (Harden and Thomas, 2005). Records were excluded if they were not published in English, were editorials, review articles or not related to cleft lip and/or palate. Figure 1 represents the PRISMA flow diagram detailing the number of studies and reasons for exclusion.



**Figure 1.** Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses (PRISMA) Flow Diagram of Search and Eligibility Process.

## Data Collection

Remaining studies were reviewed in full text by the lead reviewer who also conducted the data extraction. A list of key details was developed into an excel tool for data extraction containing the following fields: authors, year, country/setting, study title, methodology (qualitative/quantitative), study focus/aim, methods, intervention, target population including gender, sample size, age of children whose parents took part, results, strengths and limitations, findings and notes. All study articles were used in a narrative synthesis.

Methodological quality and risk of bias assessment was conducted by the lead reviewer and separately 25% of studies were assessed by a second reviewer to ensure a robust process. Any disagreements were resolved between the reviewers. Studies were assessed using the Critical Appraisal Skills Programme (CASP, 2018). The CASP Cohort Study Checklist was used for quantitative studies and the CASP Qualitative Checklist for qualitative studies. Following other research that applied scoring criteria alongside CASP or similar checklists (Hendry et al., 2018; Kmet et al., 2004; Rushbrooke et al., 2014) a scoring system was used in this review. A score of 2 was assigned to 'yes', a score of 1 to 'can't tell', a score of 0 to 'no'. Where items on the quantitative studies checklist were not applicable, eg, no follow-up, those were assigned a score of 2 and deducted from the possible total score (Kmet et al., 2004). Studies that achieved a percentage of 85% and above were considered of high quality, a percentage of 51%-84% was considered moderate quality and below 50% a low quality.

### Data Analysis

Due to varied methodology across the studies a narrative synthesis was used (eg, Harden and Thomas, 2005; Popay et al., 2006). Narrative synthesis is a widely used approach for systematic reviews, especially if meta-analysis is not possible, and allows the researcher to

synthesise a range of questions and summarise findings. In undertaking the synthesis studies were initially categorised into two groups based on the concepts they explored, ie, attachment and parenting, and the findings of papers were reviewed. Connections within and between the groups were considered, leading to the synthesis of findings that are discussed.

## Results

#### Search Outcome

As Figure 1 shows, the search identified 1,188 articles. Following the removal of duplicates, 1,118 records remained for title and abstract screening during which 1,038 records were excluded with 80 records left for more detailed screening. Forty-nine articles were excluded, leaving 31 records for full text review. Of those, 12 articles published between 1993 and 2020 were included for data extraction. Nine studies used quantitative methodology (Table 2) and three studies qualitative (Table 3). One study was longitudinal (Habersaat et al., 2018), the remaining studies were cross-sectional. Five studies focused on the first year after giving birth, four studies addressed time period between 3 to 9 years, two studies explored parents' experiences of children aged 9 to 14 and one study captured a wider age range 8 to 18.

### *Participants*

In total, the 12 studies represented 79,966 participants, of which 753 were participants in the groups of interest, eg, cleft, congenital anomaly (634 parents, 119 children), and 79,213 in control groups (79,151 parents, 62 children). Participants across the 12 studies were predominantly mothers. Whereas parenting was explored with both mothers and fathers, parental attachment was investigated only in mothers. The overall high number of

participants is due to one nation-wide study accounting for 79,140 participants (Tsuchiya

et al., 2019).

Authors	Country/	Study		Target	Sample	
(year)	setting	design	Measure	population	size	Results
Boztepe et al. (2016)	Turkey	Cross- sectional; questionn aires, face-to- face interviews	Maternal Attachment Inventory (MAI), Structured Questionnaire Form	Mothers of children with CL/P, congenital heart disease and healthy controls (infants 1- 12 months old)	50 CL/P, 50 congenital heart disease, 100 controls	Mothers of infants with CL/P who did not experience psychological problems during pregnancy had higher MAI scores than did mothers who experienced psychological problems ( $z = -2.060$ , $P < .05$ ). Mothers of infants with CL/P were more likely to have future concerns (CHD: 62%, CL/P: 66%) than the mothers of infants with CHD. A statistically significant difference was found in maternal attachment scores between the mothers of infants with CL/P and those of healthy infants ( $P = .001$ ).
Cinar et al.		Cross- sectional; quasi- experime ntal study with a pre-test and post- test control group design (question	Maternal Attachment Inventory (MAI), Parental Self-Efficacy	Mothers of children with CLP who had undergone CL repair surgery (age 3-7	32 mothers of infants with CLP (16 interventi on group, 16	The difference in the mean post-test maternal attachment scores between the intervention and control groups (t = $6.670$ , P = .001). The maternal attachment score and the
(2020)	Turkey	naires)	(PSE)	months)	control)	parental self-efficacy score ( $r = 0.555$ , $P < .001$ ).

**Table 2.** Summary of Quantitative Studies Included in the Systematic Review.

 Table 2. (Continued)

Authors	Country/	Study		Target	Sample	
(year)	setting	design	Measure	population	size	Results
Despars et al. (2011)	Switzerla nd	Cross- sectional, semi- structured interview	The Working Model of the Child Interview, The Impact of Event Scale	Mothers of children with cleft lip and/or palate (but not cleft palate only) and a control group	22 mothers of children with CL/P, 36 healthy controls	Mothers of infants with CL/P presented significantly fewer balanced ( $x^2 = 3.84$ , $P = .05$ ) and more disengaged attachment representations ( $x^2 = 3.97$ , $P = .05$ ) than did mothers of healthy infants. The cleft complexity did not significantly influence the quality of mother's representations. Mothers of infants with a cleft showed significantly more posttraumatic stress symptoms than the control group ( $F_5 = 5.032$ , $P = .03$ ). The complexity of the cleft did not significantly influence maternal stress ( $F_5 =$ 2.54, $P = .09$ ). Mothers of CL/P children who showed a relatively low level of PTSD symptoms, were more frequently categorized as disengaged, as compared with mothers of the control group and with mothers of CL/P children with a relatively high level of PTSD symptoms ( $x^2 = 11.29$ , $P = .01$ ).
Continued		Cross- sectional; experime ntal design	Observation and coding of	Families of children with non-syndromic CLP (both parents), no history of migraine, learning difficulties or psychological	15 families with CLP child (7-9 years old), 20 families with a healthy child, 20 families with a	Interactions with mother: significant differences between the groups for the purpose-related control (specific instructions, $F_{2,54} = 7.185$ , $P = 0.002$ ), positive reinforcement ( $F_{2,54} = 10.514$ , $P < .001$ ) from the mother, through questions ( $F_{2,54} = 13.144$ , $P < .001$ ), interruptions ( $F_{2,54} = 4.553$ , $P = .015$ ), and autonomous problem solving, ie, control (autonomous problem solving, $F_{2,54} = 4.743$ , $P = .0133$ ) by the child. Interactions with father: significant differences between the groups for help ( $F_{2,52} = 9.370$ , $P < .001$ ) from the father, questions ( $F_{2,52} = 8.378$ , $P < .001$ ), interruptions ( $F_{2,52} = 9.404$ , $P < .001$ ), and autonomous problem solving, ie, control ( $F_{2,52} = 4.693$ , $P = .014$ ) by the children. Compared with healthy
Gassling et	C	(observati	parent-child	problems in	child with	children, there was a significant tendency towards more
al. (2014)	Germany	on)	interactions	children	migraines	autonomous behaviour among CLP-affected children ( $P = .12$ ).

# Table 2. (Continued)

Authors	Country/	Study		Target	Sample	
(year)	setting	design	Measure	population	size	Results
Habersaat et al. (2018)	Switzerla nd	Longitudi nal; semi- structured interviews , questionn aire	The Working Model of the Child Interview [WMCI]) at 2 and 12 months of children's age; Parent Development Interview [PDI], Parenting Style and Dimensions Questionnaire (PSDQ) at 5 years of children's age	Mothers of children with an orofacial cleft	30 mothers of children with an orofacial cleft and 14 mothers of children without a cleft	No statistically significant difference across groups (cleft/non-cleft) in maternal representations at the 2-month, 12-month, and 5-year assessments. In the cleft group, significant differences were shown between 2 and 12 months in caregiving sensitivity ( $t = -2.12$ , $P < .05$ ), perceived infant difficulty ( $t = -2.51$ , $P < .05$ ), fear for the infant's safety ( $t =$ -3.43, $P < .005$ ), and parental pride ( $t = -2.20$ , $P < .05$ ), all factors being higher at 12 months. Such differences in parental representations over time were not found in the non-cleft group. Mothers of the cleft group were significantly more authoritarian than mothers of children without a cleft ( $t$ [32.04] = 2.07, $P = .046$ ).
Krueckeber g et al. (1993)	USA	Cross- sectional; questionn aires, interview, facial encoding and decoding	Parenting Stress Index, Modification of the Block Child Rearing Practices Report (nurturance and restrictiveness), Social Relationship Scale; Four Factor Index of Social Status, Social Skills Questionnaire, Facial Encoding and Decoding tasks, Enactive social knowledge interview	Preschool age children (3- 6) and their families, children with craniofacial anomaly (CFA) and without	30 families with a child with CFA, 22 control families (parental gender not specified)	Parenting Stress Inventory: no significant main effects or interactions found on any of the parent measures between groups. Impact of visibility of cleft in the cleft group (out of 30 children 8 had invisible cleft) showed three statistically significant results. Parents of children with visible defects found their social network more helpful (t = 2.92, P $\leq$ .01), and favoured parenting styles that were more nurturant (t = 3.20, P < .01) and less restrictive (t = -2.54, P < .05) than parents of children with invisible defects. Child Rearing Practices Report: no significant differences between the cleft and non-cleft groups, both had similar nurturant and restrictive average scores.

# Table 2. (Continued)

Authors	Country/	Study		Target	Sample	
(year)	setting	design	Measure	population	size	Results
Shapiro et al. (2018)	USA	Cross- sectional; questionn aires	The activities subscale of the Occupations, Activities, and Traits– Attitudes Measure (C/OAT-AM), selected items from the Parent Perception Inventory (PPI), the nurturance subscale of the Parenting Dimensions Inventory–Short Form (PDI-S) and the Parenting Stress Scale (PSS)	Children with craniofacial difference (CFD) and their parents	74 dyads of children (8-18 years old) with CFD ( $n = 36$ female), including cleft lip/palate, and a parent ( $n = 56$ female).	Parents' flexible views about gender were associated with marginally lower parenting stress ( $F_{1,67} = 3.12$ , $P = .08$ , $\eta^2 = .04$ ), and higher parent-reported nurturance ( $F_{1,67} = 10.40$ , $P = .002$ , $\eta^2 = .13$ ). There was also a main effect suggesting that more flexible parents were perceived by their children to be warmer and more positive ( $F_{1,67} = 5.36$ , $P = .02$ , $\eta^2 = .07$ ). However, this main effect was qualified by an interaction between child gender and parents' gender views ( $F_{1,67} = 6.08$ , $P = .02$ , $\eta^2 = .07$ ). Specifically, females with parents with more flexible views rated their relationship with their parent more favourably than did females with parents with stereotypical views ( $F_{1,33} = 11.41$ , $P = .002$ , $\eta^2 = .26$ ), for the simple main effect.
Tsuchiya et al. (2019)	Japan	Cross- sectional; questionn aires	Mother-to-infant bonding scale 12 months after childbirth; covariates [age at birth, parity, infant sex (from medical records), smoking, drinking, feeding, Psychological distress scale (PDS) (questionnaires)]	Mothers of children with CL/P or CP at 12 months post birth	211 pairs of mother- infant with cleft, 78,929 healthy controls	Risk of bonding disorders among all the mothers of infants with CL/P or CP (0.97 [0.63-1.48], $P = .880$ ). A significant association of CL/P or CP with bonding disorders was found only among advanced-age multiparae (odds ratio [95% confidence interval] = 2.51 [1.17–5.37], $P = .018$ ), but it was weakened after additional adjustment for maternal depression.

 Table 2. (Continued)

Authors	Country/	Study		Target	Sample	
(year)	setting	design	Measure	population	size	Results
					70	
					mothers	MAI averages for mothers with infants that could not be
					of infants	cured surgically were lower ( $M = 91.47$ , $SD = 13.99$ ) than
				Mothers of	(42	MAI scores of the other mothers (curable: $M = 98.57$ , $SD =$
				infants (1-8	curable	4.72; Down syndrome: $M = 97.72$ , $SD = 7.41$ ). There was a
				months)	condition	relationship between a mother's economic situation and the
				born with	inc. CL/P,	MAI point average, with mothers with higher income having
				congenital	17	a closer attachment ( $t = 2.100, P = .039$ ). Mothers with
				anomalies	incurable	problems during their pregnancies had lower MAI averages
		Cross-	Maternal Attachment	(curable,	condition,	than mothers with a normal pregnancy ( $t = 2.286, P = .028$ ).
		sectional;	Inventory (MAI),	incurable,	11 Down	Mothers with poor relationships with their own mothers had
Yilmaz et		questionn	demographic	Down	syndrome	lower MAI scores compared with mothers who had good
al. (2011)	Turkey	aires	information	syndrome)	)	relationships ( $t = 2623, P = .011$ ).

Abbreviations: CL, cleft lip; CLP, cleft lip and palate; CL/P, cleft lip and/or palate; CP, cleft palate.

Authors (year)	Country /setting	Study design	Method	Target population	Sample size	Results
Breuning et al. (2020)	Canada	Cross- sectional; interview	Semi-structured interviews (inductive content analysis)	Parents of children younger than 7 years of age with CL/P	Parents of 14 children (14 mothers, 3 fathers)	Four themes identified, one relevant: Psychosocial (school/daycare, family, coping strategies, child's pain). Three themes identified, two of them relevant: Maternal worries and concern
Klein et al. (2006)	USA	Cross- sectional; interview	The maternal interview (narrative inductive approach)	Mothers of children with congenital craniofacial anomalies	9 mothers	(physical/medical/safety, social exclusion/teasing/reaction of others, forming social relationships, emotional well-being), Maternal proactive behaviours (school related, social/peers, encouraging independence/letting go).
Klein et al. (2014)	USA	Cross- sectional; interview	The maternal interview (thematic narrative approach), a Social coaching task	Mothers of children with congenital craniofacial anomalies	9 mothers	Maternal Interview: Mothers' reports of child's social experiences (positive and negative experiences), Mother's views of other people, Mother's responses to other people (eg, actions taken to support her child's social interactions). Social coaching task: Maternal Framing (situational factors, factors in the other children, factors in her own child), Maternal Advice (prosocial behaviour, self-reliance/withdrawal, seeking help).

# **Table 3.** Summary of Qualitative Studies Included in the Systematic Review.

Grouping Based on Study Focus

Overall, studies were divided into two groups based on the concepts they addressed.

Attachment was the focus of six studies and parenting was assessed and explored in seven.

One study (Habersaat et al., 2018) is included in both groups as it addressed both

attachment and parenting (Table 4).

 Table 4. Grouping of Included Studies.

Authors (year)	Attachment	Parenting
Quantitative studies		
Boztepe et al. (2016)	Х	
Cinar et al. (2020)	Х	
Despars et al. (2011)	Х	
Gassling et al. (2014)		Х
Habersaat et al. (2018)	Х	Х
Krueckeberg et al. (1993)		Х
Shapiro et al. (2018)		Х
Tsuchiya et al. (2019)	Х	
Yilmaz et al. (2011)	Х	
Qualitative studies		
Breuning et al. (2020)		x
Klein et al. $(2006)$		X
Klein et al. $(2000)$		X
2011)		

## Quality Assessment

Methodological quality and risk of bias of studies was assessed using the CASP checklists (Critical Appraisal Skills Programme, 2018) and scores applied (eg, Kmet et al., 2004). A second reviewer assessed three out of the 12 studies, ie, 25%. Table 5 offers an overview of quality ratings with nine studies being rated as high quality and three as moderate quality. The scoring for individual studies including inter-rater checks is available in Appendix B.

Quality	Definition	Studies
assessment		
High	A study achieved 85% or above in	Boztepe et al. (2016)
	terms of the possible maximum score	Breuning et al. (2020)
	based on answers to CASP criteria.	Cinar et al. (2020)
		Despars et al. (2011)
		Klein et al. (2006)
		Klein et al. (2014)
		Krueckeberg et al. (1993)
		Tsuchiya et al. (2019)
		Yilmaz et al. (2011)
Moderate	A study achieved 51%-84% in terms of	Gassling et al. (2014)
	the possible maximum score based on	Habersaat et al. (2018)
	the answer to CASP criteria.	Shapiro et al. (2018)
Low	A study achieved 50% or below in	N/A
	terms of the possible maximum score	
	based on answers to CASP criteria.	

Table 5. An Overview of Quality Assessment in Individual Studies.

All studies had clearly stated aims of their research and all quantitative studies used appropriate measures in an attempt to minimise bias. Seven of the quantitative studies used questionnaires to gather data (Boztepe et al., 2016; Cinar and Koc, 2020; Habersaat et al., 2018; Krueckeberg and Kapp-Simon, 1993; Shapiro et al., 2018; Tsuchiya et al., 2019; Yilmaz et al., 2011). Although there is the potential of participant and/or social desirability bias, all questionnaires were validated. Interview methods and analysis of qualitative studies (Breuning et al., 2020; Klein et al., 2006, 2014) were considered appropriate and rigorous. However, consideration of the relationship between the researchers and participants was not clear.

Apart from one longitudinal study (Habersaat et al., 2018) all of the studies in the review were cross-sectional giving evidence for one point in time. Some studies highlighted the need for a longitudinal approach especially when exploring attachment (eg, Boztepe et al., 2016; Yilmaz et al., 2011). Half of the studies (Boztepe et al., 2016; Habersaat et al., 2018; Klein et al., 2006, 2014; Krueckeberg and Kapp-Simon, 1993; Shapiro et al., 2018) were considered at risk of bias in terms of recruitment or their recruitment methods were not clear. Some authors themselves commented on the implications of their recruitment strategy (Habersaat et al., 2018; Klein et al., 2006, 2014; Tsuchiya et al., 2019). Although overall scoring 'high' on quality assessment for their studies, Klein et al. (2006, 2014) highlighted that their participants were volunteers in a support group, from a majority ethnic background, middle to upper-middle class, and therefore the authors were wary of generalising outside of these characteristics. Habersaat et al. (2018), scoring 'moderate' on quality assessment, reported on a small group of mothers of healthy children in their study leading to using non-parametric tests in their analysis due to a lack of power. They also commented that highly motivated parents were likely to participate in their longitudinal study over the 5 years.

In contrast, Gassling et al. (2014) stated that there was no recruitment bias in their study as all eligible participants that attended clinical appointments in the recruiting hospital within the time frame of the study were approached to participate and all of them consented and took part. No one declined or withdrew. However, this would indicate that only the first 15 eligible families out of the caseload were approached before reaching the required number of participants. It is questionable whether the 15 families were representative of the whole caseload. The study only included 'complete families' with both mothers and fathers present, which might not be representative of families that are separated although both parents care for the child.

Three studies were considered not fully taking into account potential confounding variables such as level of support from family or clinical team, impact of visibility of cleft (Habersaat et al., 2018; Shapiro et al., 2018), satisfaction with repair surgeries (Habersaat et al., 2018), and parenting style more broadly (Yilmaz et al., 2011).
Taken both attachment and parenting together, findings are limited to the age groups of children whose parents participated and cannot be generalised beyond that. Attachment was addressed mainly in the first year after giving birth (five out of six studies; Boztepe et al., 2016; Cinar and Koc, 2020; Despars et al., 2011; Tsuchiya et al., 2019; Yilmaz et al., 2011) and then at 5 years (Habersaat et al., 2018). Parenting was explored during a time period between 3 to 9 years in four studies (Breuning et al., 2020; Gassling et al., 2014; Habersaat et al., 2018; Krueckeberg and Kapp-Simon, 1993), ages 9 to 14 in two studies (Klein et al., 2006, 2014), and 8 to 18 in one study (Shapiro et al., 2018). Each study therefore focused on a specific period during the cleft journey and parenting within that context, with varied methodologies, which limits the scope for comparison of the studies.

#### Attachment

Having a child with cleft was not associated with increased risk of bonding disorders such as decreased maternal affection to their child in the first year (Tsuchiya et al., 2019). Although mothers of children with CL/P seem to present with fewer balanced (secured) and more disengaged (insecure) attachment representations than mothers of healthy children at 2 months (Despars et al., 2011), these changed during the first year and by 5 years no differences between mothers of children with and without CL/P were found (Habersaat et al., 2018). However, several factors were found to influence mothers' attachment. Lower economic situation, poor quality of relationship with their own mother (Yilmaz et al., 2011) and physical or psychological problems during pregnancy (Boztepe et al., 2016; Yilmaz et al., 2011) all had negative impact on attachment. Advanced maternal age and having more than one child were also highlighted as antecedents for difficulties bonding in the first year if mothers of children with CL/P had depression (Tsuchiya et al.,

2019). Nevertheless, attachment improved when mothers' level of perceived self-efficacy increased (Cinar and Koc, 2020) following additional nursing care provided to them. More broadly, attachment was also found to be influenced by the type of congenital anomaly of the child and whether it can be treated surgically (Yilmaz et al.). Mothers of children with CL/P had higher level of attachment than mothers of children with incurable conditions, eg, osteogenesis, hematologic disease.

### Parenting

Studies addressing parenting used diverse methods, focused on different aspects of parenting and participants within the studies presented a more heterogenous group as their children quite noticeably differed in age. The children's age range across these seven studies was 3 to 18 years. Findings are therefore presented within the contexts of how parenting was explored. Due to varied methodologies across the studies the results seem mixed.

In a study specifically using Baumrind's (1971) parenting style classifications mothers of children with cleft reported more authoritarian parenting style when their child was 5 years old, especially if they had more negative affective experiences with them (Habersaat et al., 2018). This would imply lower responsiveness and higher demandingness in terms of parenting dimensions (Baumrind, 1996). However, another study with parents of older children, 7 to 9 years old (Gassling et al., 2014), assessing parent-child interactions during a task found parents of children with CL/P more encouraging and less directive. These parents promoted greater independence and autonomy in their offspring than parents of healthy children or children suffering from migraines. No difference was found in parenting styles in terms of nurturance and restrictiveness between families with children aged 3 to 6 years old with CL/P and without (Krueckeberg and Kapp-Simon, 1993). However, within the group of parents with children with CL/P or other craniofacial differences some factors were found to impact on parenting. More visible clefts seemed to promote a more nurturant and less restrictive parenting, indicating a more authoritative style, than parents whose children did not have a visible cleft (Krueckeberg and Kapp-Simon, 1993). More nurturing parenting behaviours were also found associated with parents of children 8 to 18 years old with craniofacial differences who held more flexible gender views (Shapiro et al., 2018). Furthermore, levels of parenting stress were associated with the complexity of children's diagnoses, with a more severe diagnosis leading to higher parental stress. However, when compared to parents of children without cleft, stress levels were not statistically different (Krueckeberg and Kapp-Simon, 1993). This was explained as possibly due to the age of the children in the study, 3 to 6 years old, during which time there are usually no craniofacial surgeries being undertaken.

In-depth qualitative studies showed that despite worries about their children's health and physical safety parents actively promoted autonomy (Klein et al., 2006) and self-reliance (Klein et al., 2014), even more than in their healthy children. Participants in these studies were volunteers in a support group, which might be an acceptance-based coping strategy similar to joining online communities as highlighted by Breuning et al. (2020). They also identified protective coping strategies such as assistance at school which is consistent with proactively establishing links with school to ensure child's success (Klein et al., 2006).

# Discussion

This systematic review presented evidence of maternal attachment and parenting styles of parents of children born with craniofacial anomalies. No evidence for increased risk of bonding disorders in mothers of children with CL/P was found (Tsuchiya et al., 2019). Furthermore, there seems to be a change in maternal attachment during the first year. Mothers experienced a more insecure attachment to their baby 2 months after delivery (Despars et al., 2011) but at 5 years there was no difference in attachment between mothers of children with CL/P and without (Habersaat et al., 2018). Several factors were highlighted as impacting on attachment in mothers of children with CL/P such as economic situation, the quality of relationship with own mother, whether child's condition can be treated surgically (Yilmaz et al., 2011), problems during pregnancy (Tsuchiya et al., 2019; Yilmaz et al., 2011) and perceived self-efficacy (Cinar and Koc, 2020). Although there is evidence for more authoritarian parenting style when children are 5 years old (Habersaat et al., 2018), nurturance and restrictiveness were found not to differ in another study (Krueckerberg and Kapp-Simon, 1993). Furthermore, parents of older children fostered greater independence and autonomy in their offspring (Gassling et al., 2014; Klein et al., 2006, 2014).

#### Findings in Context

Mothers of children with CL/P were not found at increased risk of bonding disorders in nation-wide research (Tsuchiya et al., 2019), however, the study highlighted potential antecedents such as maternal age (35 years or older) and having more children as impacting negatively if maternal depression was also present. Maternal depression itself was found in some studies more likely linked with insecure attachment in infants (Martins and Gaffan, 2000; van Ijzendoorn et al., 1992). Speltz et al. (1997) also found certain

maternal characteristics in combination with greater depressed mood associated with insecurely attached infants, however, the trend was opposite to Tsuchiya et al., ie, young age and being a first-time mother. Nevertheless, child's cleft and appearance were not found to negatively affect attachment in children (Speltz et al.), which is consistent with Tsuchiya et al.'s findings.

Maternal attachment to children with cleft seems to develop and improve during the first year (Habersaat et al., 2018), which is consistent with research into attachment of children with cleft showing changes in attachment during the first 24 months (Maris et al., 2000). It seems that as maternal attachment changes, the infant attachment changes as well or vice versa. When assessing maternal attachment at 2 months after delivery (eg, Despars et al., 2011), the infants await their first corrective surgery and mothers are likely to experience feeding problems and other complications, which might impact on their perception of their child at the time. Consistent with this are findings that the level of perceived self-efficacy in mothers affects their attachment to their child (Cinar and Koc, 2020). Feeling more able to care for their infants, mothers' attachment improved. This is supported by another study in which offering early intervention support to adapt to children's additional needs led to lower stress levels and improved perceptions of their child research shows that parents of children with cleft adapt to the diagnosis and children's needs well (Stock et al., 2020), which might be reflected in the evolving attachment.

Considering the findings that maternal attachment was no different between mothers of children with and without cleft at 5 years (Habersaat et al., 2018), this seems to be mirrored in research into attachment of infants with and without cleft. No differences were found (Hoeksma et al., 1996; Speltz et al., 1997) and some researchers even found that infants with cleft were more likely to show secure attachment (Coy et al., 2002). Several risk factors were identified to impact on maternal attachment (Boztepe et al., 2016; Yilmaz et al., 2011). These are consistent with research in attachment in general, eg, income, family size, stressful events, marital relationships (Moss et al., 2004; Nair and Murray, 2005). However, none of the studies investigated father-infant attachment, highlighting a lack of research in the field. As Stock and Rumsey (2015) reported fathers are generally underrepresented in cleft research.

Findings related to parenting were more mixed, in part reflecting the diversity of the included studies. There is some evidence that mothers of children with cleft were more authoritarian (Habersaat et al., 2018), which could be linked with protectiveness and perceived vulnerability of children (Collet and Speltz, 2007; Hlongwa and Rispel, 2018; Speltz et al., 2000). However, the remaining studies found either no differences (Krueckeberg and Kapp-Simon, 1993), or parents of children with cleft were less directive, more encouraging and fostering autonomy in their children notwithstanding concerns about their health (Gassling et al., 2014; Klein et al., 2006, 2014). Studies comparing CL/P and chronic illness (Pinquart, 2013) indicate that despite the demands and parental stress, coping with CL/P is different to chronic illnesses and parents adjust well. Parents of children with cleft reported less distress than parents of children with chronic illness such as congenital heart disease and Down syndrome (Pelchat et al., 1999). Parental overprotection associated with lower levels of autonomy in children seen in spina bifida (Holmbeck et al., 2002), type 1 diabetes and asthma (Mullins et al., 2007) might be reflective of the ongoing level of perceived vulnerability of their children.

Although parents of children with craniofacial differences seem to adjust well to the needs of their children and their diagnosis (Pinquart, 2013; Stock et al., 2020), this review highlighted changes in attachment during the first year as well as factors impacting on the development of attachment and parenting style. As secure attachment in parents is

associated with authoritative parenting style (Nanu and Nijloveanu, 2015), which is linked to greater fostering of decisional capacity in children (Partridge, 2010), it is important for clinical teams to continue to support parents throughout the whole treatment journey and be aware of potential risk factors impacting on attachment and parenting. These will play a key role when children and young people are expected to make decisions about surgeries (NHS England, 2013).

## Strengths and Limitations of the Review

To our knowledge this is the first review of literature addressing parental attachment and parenting style in parents of children with CL/P. It provides a rigorous account of the research in this area to clinicians and researchers. Reflecting on parenting and its impact on fostering decisional capacity in children should inform clinicians when decisions about surgeries are being made. Reflecting on their attachment and parenting should allow clinicians to better support parents and their children accordingly. The eligibility of included studies and inter-rater checks of methodological quality were conducted by two reviewers to enhance the quality of the process. The review identified possible future research directions by highlighting a lack of studies in parent-child attachment in fathers of children with CL/P and the need for longitudinal studies within cleft in both attachment and parenting.

By addressing a broad question to capture both parental attachment and parenting, the review included several related but different concepts including bonding disorders, attachment, parenting approach and parenting style. Whilst links between these concepts are evident they are also distinct which made aspects of results challenging. Similarly, the included papers used varied methodologies which presented some challenges. While participants in some studies were specifically parents of children with CL/P compared to healthy controls (eg, Despars et al., 2011), in other studies participants represented a broader category, eg, craniofacial (Klein et al., 2006, 2014) or congenital anomalies (Yilmaz et al., 2011), within which they were assessed. Ages of participants' children also varied and comparing parenting approach in terms of fostering autonomy in a 7-year-old would be different to an 18-year-old. These differences in children's ages or specific conditions made the participants a less homogenous sample overall and therefore conclusions across different age groups cannot be made.

The review included only research published in peer-reviewed journals and in English and therefore some studies published in different languages might have been missed. Similarly, the grey literature was not included in the search and therefore the review might reflect a publication bias.

### Conclusions

This review presented that despite additional stress and burden of care that could negatively affect attachment to a child following the attachment theory (Ainsworth and Bowlby, 1991), mothers of children with cleft are not at increased risk of experiencing bonding disorders. The review found no evidence for decreased affection in mothers or behaviour towards their child. Their attachment is no different in comparison to mothers of healthy children at 5 years. However, it highlighted that maternal attachment can change during the first year of having a child with cleft and presented several factors that might impact on bonding with a child. Parenting was assessed using varied methodology and as such findings were mixed. The majority of studies reported either no difference to parenting children without cleft or fostering autonomy and self-reliance while negotiating concerns about children's health and safety. However, the review also highlighted the lack of studies exploring paternal attachment and general underrepresentation of fathers in

research as well as the need for longitudinal studies in that area. It is important for clinical teams to continue to support parents throughout the whole treatment journey and be aware of potential risk factors impacting on attachment and parenting.

# Acknowledgements

We would like to thank George Baldwin, Trainee Clinical Psychologist at University of

East Anglia, for his role as a second reviewer.

# **Declaration of Interest**

The authors report no conflict of interest.

#### References

- Ainsworth M, Blehar MC, Waters E, Wall, T. *Patterns of attachment: A psychological study of the strange situation*. Hillsdale, NJ: Erlbaum; 1978.
- Ainsworth M, Bowlby J. An ethological approach to personality development. *Amer Psychologist.* 1991;46(4):333-341.
- Ardouin K, Hotton M, Stock NM. Interpersonal relationship experiences in adults born with cleft lip and/or palate: A whole of life survey in the United Kingdom. *Cleft Palate-Craniofacial J.* 2021. doi:10.1177/1055665620987109
- Baumrind D. Current patterns of parental authority. *Dev Psychol*. 1971;4(1 PART 2):1-103. doi:10.1037/h0030372
- Baumrind D. The discipline controversy revisited. *Family Relations*. October 1996;45(4):405-414.
- Bowlby J. Attachment and loss: Retrospect and prospect. *Amer J Orthopsychiat*. 1982;52(4):664-678.
- Boztepe H, Ay A, Kerimoğlu Yıldız G, Çınar S. Does the visibility of a congenital anomaly affect maternal–infant attachment levels? *J Spec Pediatr Nurs*. 2016;21(4):200-211. doi:10.1111/jspn.12157

- Breuning EE, Courtemanche RJ, Courtemanche DJ. Experiences of Canadian parents of young children with cleft lip and/or palate. *Cleft Palate Craniofac J*. December 2020:1055665620977271. doi:10.1177/1055665620977271
- Çınar S, Koc G. The effect of nursing care provided to Turkish mothers of infants born with cleft lip and palate on maternal attachment and self-efficacy: A quasi-experimental study. *J Pediatr Nurs*. 2020;53:e80-e86. doi:10.1016/j.pedn.2020.02.032
- Clark KE, Ladd GW. Connectedness and autonomy support in parent-child relationships: links to children's socioemotional orientation and peer relationships. *Dev Psychol*. 2000;36(4):485-498. doi:10.1037/0012-1649.36.4.485
- Collett BR, Speltz ML. A developmental approach to mental health for children and adolescents with orofacial clefts. *Orthod Craniofacial Res.* 2007; 10:138–148
- Colletti CJM, Wolfe-christensen C, Carpentier MY, Carpentier MY, Page MC, McNall-Knapp RY, Meyer WH, Chaney JM, Mullins LL. The relationship of parental overprotection, perceived vulnerability, and parenting stress to behavioral, emotional, and social adjustment in children with cancer. *Pediatr Blood Cancer*. 2008;51:269-274. doi:10.1002/pbc
- Costa B, Williams JR, Martindale A, Stock NM. Parents' experiences of diagnosis and care following the birth of a child with cleft lip and/or palate. *Br J Midwifery*. 2019;27(3):151-160. doi:10.12968/bjom.2019.27.3.151

- Coy K, Speltz ML, Jones K. Facial appearance and attachment in infants with orofacial clefts: A replication. *Cleft Palate-Craniofacial J*. 2002;39(1):66-72. doi:10.1597/1545-1569(2002)039<0066:FAAAII>2.0.CO;2
- Critical Appraisal Skills Programme (CASP). CASP Checklist. 2018. Accessed March 1, 2021. https://casp-uk.net/casp-tools-checklists
- Dapaah JM, Addo B, Effe JP. Mothers' reactions to seeing their children with cleft for the first time: A qualitative study in Ghana. *Cleft Palate-Craniofacial J.* 2020. doi:10.1177/1055665620965407
- Despars J, Peter C, Borghini A, Pierrehumbert, B, Habersaat S, Muller-Nix C, Ansermet F, Hohlfeld J. Impact of a cleft lip and/or palate on maternal stress and attachment representations. *Cleft Palate-Craniofacial J*. 2011;48(4):419-424. doi:10.1597/08-190
- Gassling V, Christoph C, Wahle K, Koos B, Wiltfang J, Gerber W-D, Siniatchkin M.
  Children with a cleft lip and palate: An exploratory study of the role of the parent-child interaction. *J Cranio-Maxillofacial Surg*. 2014;42(6):953-958.
  doi:10.1016/j.jcms.2014.01.016
- Goodacre T, Swan MC. Cleft lip and palate: Current management. *Paediatr Child Health* (*Oxford*). 2008;18(6):283-292. doi:10.1016/j.paed.2008.03.008
- Goodacre T, Swan MC. Cleft lip and palate: Current management. *Paediatr Child Health* (*Oxford*). 2012;22(4):160-168. doi:10.1016/j.paed.2011.11.010

- Habersaat S, Monnier M, Peter C, Bolomey L, Borghini A, Despars J, Pierrehumbert B,
  Muller-Nix C, Ansermet F, Hohlfeld J. Early mother-child interaction and later quality
  of attachment in infants with an orofacial cleft compared to infants without cleft. *Cleft Palate Craniofac J.* April 2013. doi:10.1597/12-094
- Habersaat S, Turpin H, Möller C, Borghini A, Ansermet F, Muller-Nix C, Urben S,
  Hohlfeld J. Maternal representations and parenting style in children born with and
  without an orofacial cleft. *Cleft Palate-Craniofacial J*. 2018;55(1):88-97.
  doi:10.1177/1055665617718840
- Harden A, Thomas J. Methodological issues in combining diverse study types in systematic reviews. *Int J Soc Res Methodol Theory Pract*. 2005;8(3):257-271. doi:10.1080/13645570500155078
- Hendry A, Snowden A, Brown M. When holistic care is not holistic enough: The role of sexual health in mental health settings. *J Clin Nurs*. 2018;27(5-6):1015-1027. doi:10.1111/jocn.14085
- Hlongwa P, Rispel LC. "People look and ask lots of questions": Caregivers' perceptions of healthcare provision and support for children born with cleft lip and palate. *BMC Public Health*. 2018;18(1):506. doi:10.1186/s12889-018-5421-x

- Hoeksma JB, Koomen HMY, Van den Boom D. The development of early attachment behaviours. *Early Dev Parent*. 1996;5(3):135-147. doi:10.1002/(SICI)1099-0917(199609)5:3<135::AID-EDP126>3.0.CO;2-Z
- Holmbeck GN, Johnson SZ, Wills KE, McKernon W, Rose B, Erklin S, Kemper T.
  Observed and perceived parental overprotection in relation to psychosocial adjustment in preadolescents with a physical disability: The mediational role of behavioral autonomy. *J Consult Clin Psychol*. 2002;70(1):96-110. doi:10.1037/0022-006X.70.1.96
- Klein T, Pope AW, Getahun E, Thompson J. Mothers' reflections on raising a child with a craniofacial anomaly. *Cleft Palate-Craniofacial J.* 2006;43(5):590-597. doi:10.1597/05-117
- Klein TP, Pope A, Abbott R. Social interactions of school-aged children with CFA: Mothers' perspectives and advice. *Cleft Palate-Craniofacial J.* 2014;51(3):300-307. doi:10.1597/12-178
- Kmet LM, Lee RC, Cook LS. Standard quality assessment criteria for evaluating primary research papers from a variety of fields. Edmonton, Canada: Alberta Heritage Foundation for Medical Research (AHFMR). AHFMR - HTA Initiative #13; 2004.
- Krueckeberg SM, Kapp-Simon KA. Effect of parental factors on social skills of preschool children with craniofacial anomalies. *Cleft Palate Craniofac J*. 1993, 30:490–496.

- Maris CL, Endriga MC, Speltz ML, Jones K, DeKlyen M. Are infants with orofacial clefts at risk for insecure mother-child attachments? *Cleft Palate-Craniofacial J*. 2000;37(3):257-265. doi:10.1597/1545-1569(2000)037<0257:AIWOCA>2.3.CO;2
- Martins C, Gaffan EA. Effects of early maternal depression on patterns of infant-mother attachment: A meta-analytic investigation. *J Child Psychol Psychiatry Allied Discip*. 2000;41(6):737-746. doi:10.1017/S0021963099005958
- McCorkell G, McCarron C, Blair S, Coates V. Parental experiences of cleft lip and palate services. *Community Pract.* 2012;85(8):24-27.
- Moher D, Liberati A, Tetzlaff J, Altman D, The PRISMA Group. Preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and meta-analyses: The PRISMA statement. *PLoS Med*. 2009;6(7). doi:10.1371/journal.pmed.1000097
- Moss E, Cyr C, Dubois-Comtois K. Attachment at early school age and developmental risk: Examining family contexts and behavior problems of controlling-caregiving, controlling-punitive, and behaviorally disorganized children. *Dev Psychol*. 2004;40(4):519-532. doi:10.1037/0012-1649.40.4.519
- Mullins LL, Fuemmeler BF, Hoff A, Chaney JM, Van Pelt J, Ewing CA. The relationship of parental overprotection and perceived child vulnerability to depressive symptomatology in children with type 1 diabetes mellitus: The moderating influence of parenting stress. *Children's Health Care*. 2004;33:21–34.

Mullins LL, Wolfe-Christensen C, Hoff Pai AL, Carpentier MY, Gillaspy S, Cheek J, Page M. The relationship of parental overprotection, perceived child vulnerability, and parenting stress to uncertainty in youth with chronic illness. *J Pediatr Psychol.* 2007;32(8):973-982. doi:10.1093/jpepsy/jsm044

- Murray L, Hentges F, Hill J, Karpf J, Mistry B, Kreutz M, Woodall P, Moss T, Goodacre T, the Cleft Lip and Palate Study team. The effect of cleft lip and palate, and the timing of lip repair on mother-infant interactions and infant development. *J Child Psychol Psychiatry Allied Discip*. 2008;49(2):115-123. doi:10.1111/j.1469-7610.2007.01833.x
- Nair H, Murray AD. Predictors of attachment security in preschool children from intact and divorced families. *J Genet Psychol*. 2005;166(3):245-263. doi:10.3200/GNTP.166.3.245-263
- Nanu ED, Nijloveanu DM. Attachment and parenting styles. *Procedia Soc Behav Sci.* 2015;203:199-204. doi:10.1016/j.sbspro.2015.08.282
- Nelson P, Glenny AM, Kirk S, Caress AL. Parents' experiences of caring for a child with a cleft lip and/or palate: A review of the literature. *Child Care Health Dev.* 2011;38(1):6-20. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2214.2011.01244.x
- Nelson PA, Kirk SA, Caress AL, Glenny AM. Parents' emotional and social experiences of caring for a child through cleft treatment. *Qual Health Res.* 2012;22(3):346-359. doi:10.1177/1049732311421178

- NHS England. NHS standard contract for cleft lip and/or palate services including velopharayngeal dysfunction (all ages). 2013:1-24. Accessed April 3, 2020. https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2013/06/d07-cleft-lip.pdf
- Partridge BC. Adolescent psychological development, parenting styles, and pediatric decision making. *J Med Philos*. 2010;35(5):518-525. doi:10.1093/jmp/jhq044
- Pelchat D, Bisson J, Bois C, Saucier J. The effects of early relational antecedents and other factors on the parental sensitivity of mothers and fathers. *Infant and Child Dev*. 2003;12:27–51.
- Pelchat D, Bisson J, Ricard N, Perreault M, Bouchard JM. Longitudinal effects of an early family intervention programme on the adaptation of parents of children with a disability. *Int J Nurs Stud.* 1999;36(6):465-477. doi:10.1016/S0020-7489(99)00047-4
- Pinquart M. Do the parent-child relationship and parenting behaviors differ between families with a child with and without chronic illness? A meta-analysis. *J Pediatr Psychol.* 2013;38(7):708–721. doi:10.1093/jpepsy/jst020
- Popay J, Roberts H, Sowden A, Petticrew M, Arai L, Rogers M, Britten N, Roen K, Duffy S. Guidance on the Conduct of Narrative Synthesis in Systematic Reviews: A product from the ESRC Methods Programme. April 2006. doi:10.13140/2.1.1018.4643

- Power TG, Dahlquist LM, Thompson SM, Warren R. Interactions between children with juvenile rheumatoid arthritis and their mothers. *J Pediatr Psychol*. 2003;28(3):213-221. doi:10.1093/jpepsy/jsg009
- Razera APR, Trettene A dos S, Tabaquim M de LM, Niquerito AV. Study of burden among caregivers of children with cleft lip and palate. *Paidéia*. 2017;27(68):247-254. doi:10.1590/1982-43272768201701
- Rushbrooke E, Murray CD, Townsend S. What difficulties are experienced by caregivers in relation to the sexuality of people with intellectual disabilities? A qualitative metasynthesis. *Res Dev Disabil.* 2014;35(4):871-886. doi:10.1016/j.ridd.2014.01.012
- Shapiro DN, Waljee J, Buchman S, Ranganathan K, Warshcausky S. Gender views and relationships in families of children with craniofacial differences. *Cleft Palate-Craniofacial J.* 2018;55(2):189-195. doi:10.1177/1055665617726534
- Speltz ML, Endriga MC, Fisher PA, Mason CA. Early predictors of attachment in infants with cleft lip and/or palate. *Child Dev.* 1997;68(1):12-25. doi:10.2307/1131921
- Speltz ML, Endriga MC, Hill S, Maris CL, Jones K, Omnell ML. Brief report: Cognitive and psychomotor development of infants with orofacial clefts. *J Pediatr Psychol*. 2000;25(3):185-190. doi:10.1093/jpepsy/25.3.185

- Stock NM, Costa B, White P, Rumsey N. Risk and protective factors for psychological distress in families following a diagnosis of cleft lip and/or palate. *Cleft Palate-Craniofacial J.* 2020;57(1):88-98. doi:10.1177/1055665619862457
- Stock NM, Rumsey N. Parenting a child with a cleft: The father's perspective. *Cleft Palate-Craniofacial J.* 2015;52(1):31-43. doi:10.1597/13-035
- Tsuchiya S, Tsuchiya M, Momma H, Koseki T, Igarashi K, Nagatomi R, Arima T, Yaegashi N, Japan Environment & Children's Study Group. Association of cleft lip and palate on mother-to-infant bonding: A cross-sectional study in the Japan environment and children's study (JECS). *BMC Pediatr*. 2019;19(1):1-8. doi:10.1186/s12887-019-1877-9
- van IJzendoorn MH, Goldberg S, Kroonenberg PM, Frenkel OJ. The relative effects of maternal and child problems on the quality of attachment: A meta-analysis of attachment in clinical samples. *Child Dev.* 1992;63(4):840. doi:10.2307/1131237
- Ward MJ, Kessler DB, Altman SC. Infant-mother attachment in children with failure to thrive. *Infant Mental Health J.* 1993;14(3):208-220.
- Yilmaz HB, Kavlak O, Isler A, Liman T, Van Sell SL. A study of maternal attachment among mothers of infants with congenital anomalies in Turkey. *Infants Young Children*. 2011;24(3):259-266. doi:10.1097/IYC.0b013e31821b465b

Chapter 3.

**Bridging Chapter** 

The systematic review identified and synthesised literature addressing parental attachment to children born with craniofacial anomalies and their subsequent parenting. Exploring these is important as they affect parents' care for their children and their development (Clark & Ladd, 2000). Parents form bonds to their children while dealing with initial reactions to having a child with cleft lip and/or palate such as shock, disappointment or worry (e.g., McCorkell et al., 2012; Nelson et al., 2011) as well as experiencing an increased burden of care and parental stress around issues such as difficulties feeding and preparation for surgery (Grollemund et al., 2020; Razera et al., 2017). The qualitative studies in the review (Breuning et al., 2020; Klein et al., 2006, 2014) highlighted the ongoing concerns parents carry regarding their children's health and safety. While in other long-term medical conditions parents might become overprotective (e.g., Mullins et al., 2007) some research suggests that parents of children with craniofacial anomalies seem to be aware of the need to negotiate between their worries and their children's autonomy (Klein et al., 2006, 2014). Although the parents worry about their child's safety and it might be hard for them, they encourage and foster independence in their children.

Within this context parents are required to make decisions about the surgical treatments that their children undertake. They must consider the risks of surgeries involved, their benefits as well as pain and discomfort their children will go through. For these reasons parents shared being conflicted about making decisions about surgeries (Nelson et al., 2012b) as they want their children to reach their full potential but also balance this with the risks of any procedure and pain their child is likely to experience (Nelson et al., 2012a). Research would indicate that when making treatment choices (especially for elective surgeries) for their offspring the attachment relationship between parent and child and parenting style will influence the parents' decision-making (Partridge,

2010). Authoritative parenting style was found to support the development of adolescents' capacities to become competent adult decision-makers.

A significant elective surgery, an orthognathic surgery, is offered to some young people with cleft lip and/or palate around the age of 15 (NHS England, 2013). Cleft lip and palate teams are quite unique in terms of providing care across all ages so service users do not change from paediatric services to adult services unlike in other long-term conditions (Ludvigsen et al., 2021). Moving from paediatric to adult services illustrates a tangible change and expectation that the young person will be responsible for their healthcare decisions. The orthognathic pathway is therefore considered to represent that transition from paediatrics in cleft lip and/or palate. The young person, rather than their parents, is expected to take on the responsibility for the decision about their forthcoming treatment (NHS England, 2013). However, after many years of holding the responsibility for treatment decisions, parents might find it difficult to let go, as seen in other health conditions (Betz et al., 2015). The next chapter presents an empirical piece of research that explores parents' subjective accounts of the transition in cleft lip and palate and the changing decision-making process.

#### **Reference List for Bridging Chapter**

- Betz, C. L., Nehring, W. M., & Lobo, M. L. (2015). Transition needs of parents of adolescents and emerging adults with special health care needs and disabilities, *Journal* of Family Nursing, 21(3), 362-412. doi:10.1177/1074840715595024
- Breuning, E. E., Courtemanche, R. J., Courtemanche, D. J. (2020). Experiences of Canadian parents of young children with cleft lip and/or palate. *The Cleft Palate-Craniofacial Journal*, 1-10. doi:10.1177/1055665620977271
- Clark, K. E. & Ladd, G. W. (2000). Connectedness and autonomy support in parent-child relationships: Links to children's socioemotional orientation and peer relationships. *Developmental Psychology*, 36(4), 485-498. doi:10.1037//0012-1649.36.4.485
- Grollemund, B., Dissaux, C., Gavelle, P., Martinez, C. P., Mullaert, J., Alfaiate, T., Guedeney, A., & CLIP team (Cleft Lip & palate Infant Parent). (2020). The impact of having a baby with cleft lip and palate on parents and on parent-baby relationship: the first French prospective multicentre study. *BMC Pediatrics*, 20:230, 1-11. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12887-020-02118-5
- Klein, T. P., Pope, A., & Abbott, R. (2014). Social interactions of school-aged children with CFA: Mothers' perspectives and advice. *The Cleft Palate-Craniofacial Journal*, 51(3), 300-307. doi:10.1597/12-178

- Klein, T. P., Pope, A., Getahun, E., & Thompson, J. (2006). Mothers' reflections on raising a child with a craniofacial anomaly. *The Cleft Palate-Craniofacial Journal*, 43(5), 590-597.
- Ludvigsen, M., Hall, E. O. C., Westergren, T., Aagaard, H., Uhrenfeldt, L., & Fegran, L. (2021). Being cross pressured-parents' experiences of the transfer from paediatric to adult care services for their young people with long term conditions: A systematic review and qualitative research synthesis, *International Journal of Nursing Studies*, 115. doi.org/10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2020.103851
- McCorkell, G. McCarron, C., Blair, S., & Coates, V. (2012). Parental experiences of cleft lip and palate services, *Community Practitioner*, 85(8), 24-27.
- Mullins, L. L., Wolfe-Christensen, C., Hoff Pai, A. L., Carpentier, M. Y., Gillaspy, S., Cheek, J., & Page, M. (2007). The relationship of parental overprotection, perceived child vulnerability, and parenting stress to uncertainty in youth with chronic illness. *Journal of Pediatric Psychology*, 32(8), 973-982. doi:10.1093/jpepsy/jsm044
- Nelson, P. A., Caress, A.-L., Glenny, A.-M., & Kirk, S. A. (2012a). 'Doing the "right" thing': how parents experience and manage decision-making for children's 'normalising' surgeries. *Social Science & Medicine*, 74, 796-804. doi:10.1016/j.socscimed.2011.11.024

- Nelson, P., Glenny, A.-M., Kirk, S., & Caress, A.-L. (2011). Parents' experiences of caring for a child with a cleft lip and/or palate: a review of the literature. *Child: Care, Health and Development*, 38(1), 6-20. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2214.2011.01244.x
- Nelson, P. A., Kirk, S. A., Caress, A.-L., & Glenny, A.-M. (2012b). Parents' emotional and social experiences of caring for a child through cleft treatment. *Qualitative Health Research*, 22(3), 346-359. doi:10.1177/1049732311421178
- NHS England. (2013). Service Specification: Cleft lip and/or palate services including non-cleft velopharyngeal dysfunction (VPD) (All Ages). Available at https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2013/06/d07-cleft-lip.pdf
- Partridge, B. C. (2010). Adolescent psychological development, parenting styles, and pediatric decision making. *Journal of Medicine and Philosophy*, 35, 518-525. doi:10.1093/jmp/jhq044
- Razera, A. P., R., Trettene, A. d. S., Tabaquim, M. d L. M., & Niquerito, A. V. (2017).
  Study of burden among caregivers of children with cleft lip and palate. *Paideia*, 27(68), 247-254. doi:10.1590/1982-43272768201701

Chapter 4.

**Empirical Paper** 

Prepared for submission to The Cleft Palate-Craniofacial Journal (Appendix A).

Stepping back: Parents' experiences of the decision-making process for elective orthognathic surgery in cleft lip and palate (An Interpretative Phenomenological Analysis)

Jana Safarikova<sup>1</sup>, Dr Eliane Young<sup>2</sup>, Kiki Mastroyannopoulou<sup>1</sup> and Dr Paul Fisher<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Clinical Psychology and Psychological Therapies, University of East

Anglia, UK

<sup>2</sup>Cambridge University Hospitals and Cambridgeshire and Peterborough NHS Foundation Trust, Cambridge, UK

Corresponding author:

Jana Safarikova, Department of Clinical Psychology and Psychological Therapies, Norwich Medical School, University of East Anglia, Norwich NR4 7TJ. E-mail.

j.safarikova@uea.ac.uk

Total word count (excluding references): 6,715

#### Abstract

*Objective:* The current study explored parents' experiences of decision-making about an elective orthognathic surgery in cleft lip and/or palate (CL/P).

*Design:* A qualitative design was used. Semi-structured interviews were conducted with 11 participants using online videoconferencing platforms. The data were transcribed and analysed using interpretative phenomenological analysis (IPA).

*Settings:* Participants were recruited via Cleft Lip and Palate Association (CLAPA) and from a Cleft lip and palate team in the National Health Service (NHS).

*Participants:* Participants were parents of young people who made a decision whether to undergo the surgery and were either in the preparatory phase awaiting it, or not if they decided against it. Participants were 6 females and 5 males, aged 41 to 60 years. *Results:* Three main themes were identified. "Our" journey', relating to participants' involvement in the cleft process, 'Stepping back' as the responsibility for the decision-making shifted to their children and 'Helping with the bigger picture' while adjusting to their new role.

*Conclusions:* Participants were invested in the cleft journey and stepping back comprised a spectrum of experiences from a relief to a shock and upset. Participants went through sometimes difficult negotiating of their ongoing involvement while supporting their child. The study highlighted the need to explore parents' understanding of the process and forthcoming changes prior to offering the orthognathic pathway. Clinicians can support parents to recognise the complexities involved, especially if young people are making decisions before reaching adulthood.

### Keywords

Cleft, parent, decision-making, orthognathic surgery, qualitative, interpretative phenomenological analysis

# Introduction

Approximately 1 in 700 babies in the United Kingdom (UK) is born with a cleft lip and/or palate (CL/P), the most common congenital conditions of the face and oral cavity (Goodacre and Swan, 2008, 2012). It develops in early pregnancy and the causes are considered complex, a combination of environmental and genetic factors that cannot be predicted (NHS England, 2013). Despite this, parents often feel guilty and blame themselves for having done something wrong during pregnancy and causing their child's condition (Nelson et al., 2011; Zeytinoglu et al., 2016). Receiving a diagnosis was reported by parents as a shock (McCorkell et al., 2012), an emotional and traumatic experience and parents can be left feeling overwhelmed with information (Costa et al., 2019). While parents can be elated at birth, they also experience a sense of loss, grief and mourning (Beaumont, 2006; Nelson et al., 2011) and perceive their children to be more vulnerable than children without cleft (Hlongwa and Rispel, 2018).

Cleft lip and/or palate impacts on the child's feeding, breathing, hearing as well as speech, facial development and appearance. The National Health Service (NHS) offers specialist cleft lip and palate services across the UK with an approximately 20-year care pathway involving several surgeries starting at 3 months of child's age (Cleft Lip and Palate Association, 2019; Colbert et al., 2015; Goodacre and Swan, 2008, 2012; NHS England, 2013). The long-term cleft treatment with numerous appointments and surgeries are experienced by parents as a burden of care with ongoing emotional impacts (Breuning et al., 2020; Hlongwa and Rispel, 2018; Maurien et al., 2019; Stock and Feragen, 2016).

From around the age of 15 years old, some young people are offered an elective, orthognathic pathway. It is a combination of orthodontic and surgical treatment offered for functional and/or aesthetic reasons with the orthodontic part taking a few years before the actual surgery (Royal College of Surgeons of England, 2013). During the orthognathic

surgery, also known as corrective jaw surgery, the jaws and chin can be realigned to help with biting, and nose structure and nasal pathways can be corrected to improve breathing or speech. Further surgeries such as lip or nose revision can also be considered afterwards. This orthognathic surgery can dramatically alter the appearance of the young person and therefore can have a significant impact on their self-image (Alansari et al., 2014; Tevik and Feragen, 2014) and identity (Cadogan and Bennum, 2011; Liddle et al., 2018). However, when making a decision about this surgery, young people do not know what their new appearance might be (Liddle et al., 2018), making it perhaps more difficult to decide.

This complex elective surgery represents the first time that young people themselves are expected to be the main decision-makers. This is often also the first time in a young person's pathway where the treatment is optional, given that this surgery aims to improve their condition and functioning rather than being critical to their survival. Up until this point parents mainly hold responsibility for making decisions (Nelson et al., 2012a). Parents usually consider all previous surgeries as necessary, whether for functional or aesthetic reasons, and explain their pro-treatment stance as not wanting to fail their children by declining offered cleft treatments.

Cleft and palate services do not divide into paediatric and adult care unlike other long-term health conditions such as diabetes or cardiology (Ludvigsen et al., 2021). As there is no obvious change into adult services, this surgery and associated decision-making represents such a shift and therefore is a significant transition time for the young people as well as their parents. Young people need to consider the treatment, seriousness of the surgery, timing, recovery and outcome with its impacts on their appearance and identity (Liddle et al., 2018; Nelson et al., 2012a).

Similarly, their parents are at a transition point when their children are developing independence and are expected to take on responsibility for their care (Heath et al., 2017;

Miller, 2009). The parent-child relationship undergoes a complex realignment as their roles change and parents can find it difficult to 'let go' (Betz et al., 2015). Letting go can be problematic for some parents of healthy children in emerging adulthood, ie, 18-25 years, as well (Kloep and Hendry, 2010). However, the difficulties for parents of children with cleft might be intensified by the fact that the decision is often made or required while the young person is still in their teens, not legally an adult. The shift of responsibility for the decision might therefore come earlier than expected. Furthermore, some parents might also feel very protective of their children whom they consider more vulnerable due to their condition (Coy et al., 2002).

Given the importance of this transition the decision-making process experienced by young people was recently explored (Acum, 2018), which highlighted the influence of parents' and professionals' values and motivations when supporting young people to make decisions. Another qualitative study exploring young people's experiences prior and following orthognathic surgery (Liddle et al., 2018) identified the influence of significant others such as parents. Young people felt that parents' views were particularly important, with parents being usually encouraging towards the surgery.

Research found that throughout the treatment journey, parents seem to be conflicted about surgeries (Nelson et al., 2012b). They saw operations as a means for their child to get closer to 'normality' while they also considered the risks, discomfort and stress associated with them. They understood operations as a 'necessary evil' and felt a 'moral obligation to be "good" parents', wanting their children to achieve their full potential (Goodacre and Swan, 2008, 2012; Nelson et al., 2012a). It transpired that more support for parents themselves was needed during the treatment journey to address their emotional and social well-being (Nelson et al., 2012b). Communication skills and use of language by clinical teams were also found to be important factors (Alansari et al., 2014; Beaune et al., 2004; Myhre et al., 2019).

The above literature addressed parents' experiences of caring for their child throughout the whole cleft journey. The significance of the orthognathic surgery and the associated transition in decision-making has been recognised and researched with young people. However, parents' experiences and needs are missing (Nelson et al., 2011). The aim of the current study was to therefore address this gap in research and explore parents' experiences of this particular stage of the cleft journey.

### Methods

A qualitative methodology was chosen to explore parents' experiences of the decisionmaking process regarding orthognathic surgery. Semi-structured interviews were transcribed and analysed using interpretative phenomenological analysis (IPA), which is a prominent method in health psychology (Smith et al., 2009). IPA was chosen as the most appropriate approach to explore in depth how each participant made sense of their experience (Larkin and Thompson, 2012). IPA is interested in how individual people relate to the world through the meaning-making process and exploring their 'lifeworld' (Smith and Osborn, 2008), which is in line with person-centred care promoted in the NHS (Reid et al., 2005).

This study received the required approvals from the University of East Anglia, NHS research ethics committee and Health Research Authority (HRA, Appendix C).

## Participants and Recruitment

Participants represented a purposive sample and were parents of young people born with cleft lip/palate who have been through the decision-making process regarding the

orthognathic surgery in the last 5 years. If the decision was in favour of the operation, their child had not undergone the surgery at the time that they participated in the study. This was to avoid the outcome of the surgery impacting on the memory or experience of the decision-making process. Participants were required to have a good understanding and use of English language.

Six females and 5 males took part. Eight of them represented 4 heterosexual married couples. As each participant in these married dyads was considered to have a different experience of the phenomenon in question based on IPA (Smith et al., 2009), all participants were interviewed individually to gain insight into their personal experience. All participants were White British with the exception of 1 participant who was Asian/Asian British. Their age range was 41 to 60 years. In terms of surgeries they have been through with their child prior to the orthognathic surgery, the number varied from 2 (cleft related only) to 8 (6 cleft related). Their children's age when the decision was made was between 14 to 21. Table 1, using pseudonyms, presents a more detailed overview.

Pseudonym	Gender	Age	Number of child's prior surgeries	Age of child when decision made
Emma	Female	46-50	2	16-17
Peter	Male	51-55	2	16-17
Joanne	Female	45-49	5	16-17
Pat	Female	46-50	4	14-15
Sophie	Female	41-45	4	16-17
Adam	Male	56-60	3	14-15
Eve	Female	51-55	3	14-15
Andrew	Male	51-55	5-6	16-17
Daniel	Male	56-60	4-5	20-21
Mary	Female	46-50	7-8	16-17
Richard	Male	46-50	7-8	16-17

Table 1. Participants' Characteristics.

Participants were recruited via advertisement through the Cleft Lip and Palate Association (CLAPA) and from a Cleft lip and palate team in the National Health Service (NHS). Participants who engaged via CLAPA contacted the lead researcher directly. The NHS clinical team identified potential participants, shared the study details with them and obtained consent to be contacted by the lead researcher. Two initially identified participants were subsequently not interested in the study.

# Procedure

The lead researcher initially contacted all prospective participants by phone, explained what the study involved, this included discussions about confidentiality and anonymity in

accordance with the General Data Protection Regulation (UK Government, 2018). Prospective participants were then sent the Participant Information Sheet (Appendix D), consent form (Appendix E) and demographic information form (Appendix F) by email and arrangements for the interviews were made.

Due to Covid-19 restrictions all interviews were conducted via online video platforms and ranged in duration from 45 to 90 minutes. All participants confirmed their consent to take part in the study. Interviews were audio and video recorded to ensure the best quality sound. Participants were interviewed during a single appointment in a semistructured manner using a Topic guide (Appendix G). All participants were sent an electronic shopping voucher worth £10 after the interview as a 'thank you' for their time.

#### Analysis

Each interview audio recording was transcribed by the researcher into a Word document and analysed before moving to the next one (Smith et al., 2009). To ensure familiarity with each transcript, the process started with reading and re-reading of the individual accounts followed by making initial notes on the descriptions, use of language and concepts.

Initial exploratory comments and interpretations developed into emergent themes and further into superordinate themes within each transcript (Smith et at., 2009). Table 2 offers an example of the analytic process leading to 1 main theme.

Quote	Coding	Emergent theme	Superordinate theme within transcript	Main theme
"I just think however old your kids get, as a parent Um, I don't know. It's hard to take that step back. It's just hard, because you- from day one, you know, you have made that decision, it's really, really hard to take that step back, really hard."	Her role as a mother is changing. She is expected to hand over the responsibility to her child but it doesn't come naturally, it's not a welcome change, it's hard for her to "take that step back". Stepping back is as if her 'mother' identity is lessened?	Stepping back is really hard, not a natural process.	Natural process ( <i>not</i> ).	Stepping back

**Table 2.** Example of the Analytic Process from a Transcript to a Main Theme.

Once all transcripts were analysed, patterns across them were sought. Themes present in at least 5 transcripts were selected to form superordinate themes (Smith et al., 2009). To ensure the quality and validity of the themes, the transcripts and quotes for each superordinate theme were checked back for evidence. As Smith and colleagues (2009) further suggest, themes were consulted with the supervisor who also conducted a mini audit from the first transcripts, annotations, codes and themes as well as the structure and evidence of themes across.
## Reflexivity

IPA requires researchers to have a reflective stance, to bracket themselves from the participants' experiences (Larkin and Thompson, 2012). The lead researcher was a female, not a parent herself. As a Trainee Clinical Psychologist, the researcher had 6 years' experience in health research and/or clinical practice at the time of the interviews. The researcher was not part of the Cleft lip and palate team but engaged closely with the clinical staff to research and gain understanding of the cleft pathway and the orthognathic surgery. A reflective journal was kept allowing the researcher to note thoughts and reflections, and supervision took place throughout this piece of research.

#### Results

Three main themes arose from participants' accounts with 6 subthemes as presented in Table 3. The first main theme "Our" journey' relates to the participants being part of the cleft journey along their child from the start. It was this context that framed how they experienced the decision-making related to the orthognathic surgery. The second theme 'Stepping back' captures the experience of handing over the responsibility for the decision to their child. The third theme 'Helping with the bigger picture' reflects participants' new role and their negotiation of it.

Main themeSubtheme"Our" journeyThrough it together"Nearly at the endNearly at the endStepping backA natural process (or not)I'm not the one going through itI'm not the one going through itHelping with the bigger pictureThere to give advice and guidanceAware of my influence and motives

**Table 3.** Main Themes and Subthemes.

# "Our" Journey

This theme encapsulates participants' involvement in the cleft journey that often started before their child was born, attending appointments with clinicians and making decisions about surgeries and care. Seven participant accounts were drawn on in developing this theme.

You go through initially where you're responsible for everything and you are doing all the appointments in the diary and it's such a big part of your life. (Joanne)

Joanne highlights the intensity of going through the cleft journey, especially in the beginning. In "it's such a big part of your life" she conveys the meaning of being a key figure in quite an overwhelming process. Furthermore, she uses the present tense which might also reflect how intense and lasting the engulfing feeling is for her, yet distancing herself from it by talking in the second person.

### Subtheme: Through it together

The transition of the decision-making process moves the responsibility for the decision to the young people, yet participants still felt that this was their journey. They talked about the cleft journey and the surgery as much as theirs as their children's, with a united voice and a sense of togetherness.

...after she was 14 years old, this particular operation suddenly became a possibility for us. (Adam)

Adam talks about "a possibility for us", not for his daughter. This reflects the togetherness, the participation of the whole family in the cleft journey.

They're gonna have to obviously wire her jaw together for a little bit so, yeah, it's gonna be, it's gonna be fun. We'll get through it together. (Emma)

Emma considers her role in the ongoing journey thinking about the surgery. She uses dark humour in recognition of what awaits: her daughter having her jaw wired, being in pain and discomfort.

I think there is a part of you as an adult that kind of oh, your stomach almost flips a bit as a kind of like oh, gosh, you know that means that we've got to go through this surgery altogether. Because it is just such a big, I feel it's a big thing. (Eve)

Eve reflects on being part of the surgery. Her use of a metaphor that closely mirrors her physical reaction upon hearing her daughter's confirmation that she wants to undergo the surgery, portrays the complex position of her as a mother, thinking about the scope of the surgery.

#### Subtheme: Nearly at the end

As the surgery usually takes place around the young person's age of 20, the treatment pathway is perceived as a long one. The orthognathic surgery represents the end goal of this pathway following years of orthodontic treatment. However, the orthognathic surgery does not always mean the very end as other corrections might be suggested and required afterwards. This was found helpful by some participants but surprising by others.

It's a long journey ... It seems like yesterday he was born and then you think you're nearly at the end of that journey. Um, but, after maybe two, possibly three more [surgeries], then the journey is complete. (Sophie)

Sophie talks about the journey as a long one, yet going quickly, being near the end. She refers to 2 more possible surgeries after the orthognathic one as an expected process.

Joanne saw the orthognathic surgery as the end of the cleft pathway that could not arrive early enough. This was connected to her feeling of being "on a conveyor belt of treatment" that she wanted to finish. However, the 'end' seemed to be pushed further and further away, which Joanne found difficult.

You feel you're kind of going down this conveyor belt ... I just wanted it all done out of the way ... What is this magical goal where everything is complete? 'cause, 'cause then they started talking about and you might need this doing or you might need a further revision or this or that. There's not like a fixed line in the sand, that this will be finished because it won't be. (Joanne)

## Stepping Back

This theme captures the experience of realising that after years of being responsible for all decisions on behalf of their children participants are expected to hand the responsibility for making a decision about the orthognathic surgery over to their children although they might not be 18 years old yet. All participants shared their experience of stepping back, the impact it made, highlighting a spectrum of experiences and different levels of being comfortable with the change.

#### Subtheme: A natural process (or not)

Four participants understood the shift of responsibility for the decision to their child as a natural process reflecting the developmental stage of their child as well as what the surgery entails and therefore the need for their child to decide themselves. Participants felt that their children reached an age when they were able to consider implications, pros and cons of having or not having the surgery and make a decision that would be right for them.

As a parent, you feel proud because your child is now taking the ownership for his or her life ahead and deciding this is what I want to do and I'm taking ownership of that decision ... To me it was the right thing to do, let go of the reins, because she has to live with her choice and she has to be happy with the choice. (Daniel)

Daniel's metaphor "let go of the reins" represented a proud moment for him, seeing his daughter as a mature young woman.

However, 3 participants described the process of handing over responsibility as difficult or surprising. Joanne talks about a need to adapt.

It's quite difficult, that period of adjustment, to be in charge of everything and to be making all the decisions and then suddenly at this one it's like, oh no, now it's over to your son. It would help to have a bit more of a sliding scale. (Joanne)

Similarly, Peter describes a stunned surprise.

They suddenly hit us with it in a roundabout way. To say, this has to be decision that your daughter has to make. And it's up to your daughter to decide if she wants the op. And I mean, it's her decision only. It's nothing to do with what would anybody else- ... It's just a fact of life. She's growing up. She has to make the decision. There's got to be a time when you let go of the of the purse strings, isn't it? (Peter)

Peter describes the moment using a metaphor "they hit us" signifying an unexpected surprise. Yet, on reflection he comes to a new understanding and accepting the shift as "a fact of life", and further normalises the timing of it by another metaphor "let go of the purse strings".

Sophie found it incredibly hard and upsetting that her son was to make the decision before he reached the age of 18. In her understanding of being a mother, she felt she should be responsible for all decisions, more notably voice them until her son reached adulthood. This seems greatly embedded in her identity as a mother, that is very important to her, so the news came as a shock.

...the shock of that being announced ... It was like somebody had taken my voice away from me ... It sounds selfish, I just felt that I was no longer needed as mum. Yeah, the only way I can explain it, really. (Sophie)

In contrast, 2 participants felt a welcome relief when it was suggested to step back. The previous ownership of decisions for the participants was laden with worries whether they were making the right decision for their children. They appreciated that the young people had a voice and could decide for themselves.

It sounds really awful, but in a way it was a little bit of a relief. Because it's really hard- Yeah, in a way it was a little bit of a relief because as a parent with a child that needs treatment it's all on you. I've got to make this decision. What if I make the wrong one? ... It was no longer my right or privilege to do that for her ... It was always going to be her decision. It wasn't something that we actively had to make ourselves think: Oh, she's going to make this decision. We knew that she would make it for herself and I don't think it's anything to do with the cleft. I think she's just quite a determined personality. (Pat)

Pat describes her worry associated with potentially making the wrong decision for her daughter yet talks about her daughter being "a determined personality" who always made her decisions. This seems to make stepping back easier for Pat. In some ways it's a bit of a relief to know that you don't have to make that decision completely on your own, and that your daughter is now old enough to make the decision with you. (Mary)

Mary considers the orthognathic surgery a major, complex procedure with significant impact on her daughter. She is therefore relieved that she no longer has the responsibility for the decision.

Adam understood the shift as natural but something that was to happen after the operation, not at the time of his daughter making a decision.

Once that big operation is out of the way we can start taking a step back and because she's now an adult and she can take all those decisions for herself, the shift from us to her is slowly happening. I'm sure that after her major- after her jaw surgery the shift is gonna be 75% her and 25% us. We shall see. (Adam)

#### Subtheme: I'm not the one going through it

Eight participants shared a strong feeling that the decision had to be down to their child due to the procedure itself, the pain and discomfort involved, the recovery time and the unknown impact on their appearance as they were "going into it blind".

Six participants explained that it was not their place to make the decision as they were not the ones going through the surgery.

She's ultimately the one who has to have the surgery. It's not me that's going through recovery. It's not me who is not gonna be able to eat for two weeks. It's not. It's her. (Emma)

Andrew felt that if his daughter was aware of the procedure and what it involved, despite perhaps his preference, it was not his place to try and dissuade her. He respected her decision.

When they're describing shaving bits of bone off her hip to insert into her gum, there's always that horrible cold stomach feeling ... So if she can go through that and not worry about it and decide to go a step further, who are we to argue with her? (Andrew)

### Helping with the Bigger Picture

Stepping back did not represent withdrawing from the decision-making process altogether. Participants were adapting to their new position and a role they could and/or should play going forward. All 11 participants were involved in supporting the young person whilst making their decision.

# Subtheme: There to give advice and guidance

Participants reflected on the developmental stage and age of their child and ability to decide themselves, how significant the surgery was and/or what a big decision it represented. Participants talked about having discussions with their children, exploring advantages and disadvantages of the surgery, impact on their future plans, some shared their preference with their child and for others it was important not to, to avoid influencing

their decision. They offered advice, support as well as space for the young people to establish what they wanted.

It's something that you know as far as we're concerned, this decision that *she*'s gotta make and she's gotta be 100% comfortable with. We would review the facts, go over everything, and then just yeah, and respect, respect the decision she makes. We were just talking to her, helping, supporting, advising. (Richard)

The age of participants' children differed and Eve in particular highlighted the influences young people are under.

They're making this decision during a time when they're very influenced by lots of external factors. I'm beginning to wonder whether they make those decisions based on the right reasons. (Eve)

Eve acknowledged the influence of media and portrayal of perfect-looking faces and questioned whether making this decision when her daughter was perhaps 25 would bring a different outcome. Although Eve trusted her daughter's judgement and knew she made the right decision for herself at that time, she wondered about the "right reasons" for the surgery at any particular time.

Two participants also highlighted that using humour was important in the family dynamics when talking about the surgery with their child. Joanne in particular.

There were lots of conversations going on and you know lots of, lots of discussions around it. Would he wanna wear braces if he went to university and he didn't think that would do much for his attractiveness to women (laugh) and all these conversations ... And a lot of it was like good humoured so there was a lot of laughter going on. (Joanne)

## Subtheme: Aware of my influence and motives

This subtheme was linked with participants' awareness of their influence on their children. Participants reflected on their position and whether they supported the young people objectively, or consciously tried to influence them. Some participants talked about how their worries of pain and potential disadvantages of the surgery might translate in conversations and influence their children. Two participants made a conscious effort not to share their worries with their children.

If I thought about it just as a mum and that's my child, yeah, if you don't have to have it done, don't do it. But that's, that's my view and I was determined that I wasn't going to let her know that that's perhaps how I felt, because that's not fair ... I can't put my worries onto her. (Pat)

You don't want to try and influence her decision by putting your worries too far to the front. (Mary)

Both Pat and Mary felt it unfair sharing their worries and influencing their daughters. They did not consider it a supportive and helpful role.

Pain seems to be the overarching theme in Andrew's account. Based on previous operations and seeing his daughter in pain that he could not take away, the idea of the orthognathic surgery seems rather difficult. He uses generalisation to other parents to normalise his concerns about his daughter being in pain, and so did 3 other participants.

[The surgery] sounds like some sort of medieval torture really, doesn't it? ... At the back of my mind is how much it will be hurting. So no, I myself, I wouldn't wish the pain (pressured outbreath) on anybody ... I'm sure most people don't want to see their children in pain, do they? (Andrew)

Whereas for some participants it was crucial not to influence their child's decision, 2 participants, a married couple, felt that as parents who loved their daughter, knew her and her needs, they also knew what was best for her. However, they were also aware that it was their daughter's decision and she needed time and space to feel comfortable making it.

If she was completely against it because she was too scared, you have to respect it, but my initial things were I'm going to do what I can to put my point across to her because I know it would be for the best ... As parents we see a bigger picture... You have to convince her to try and see, see this bigger picture which as 16-, 17year-olds or now 18 doesn't always see. (Peter)

Peter acknowledges the developmental stage of his daughter and the need to support her around the complexity of the decision, to see "the bigger picture". Nevertheless, he is open about his determination to influence her decision-making and "convince her" if he can.

### Discussion

This study aimed to gain a greater understanding of parents' experiences of their involvement in decision-making about an orthognathic surgery for their child. A greater insight into their experiences would help better understand the support needs parents have during this transitional period.

Three main themes captured parents' involvement in the cleft journey and changes associated with the orthognathic surgery: "Our" journey', 'Stepping back' and 'Helping with the bigger picture'.

It became clear that participants were invested in the treatment pathway after many years of holding responsibility for their child's healthcare needs, considering it also their own journey. This journey reflected a significant burden for both the young people and the parents (Breuning et al., 2020; Hlongwa and Rispel, 2018; Nelson et al., 2011; Stock and Feragen, 2016). However, as the end stage of the treatment was approaching, they found out that it was no longer their place to decide about it.

Being told about the transition in decision-making moving to the young people generated a spectrum of experiences in participants from a relief (eg, Pat) to a shock and upset (Sophie). Even if it was a welcome change for the participants, they were facing a complex situation. They still had their worries and preferences, wanted their child to make the right decision for themselves, while being supportive and respectful of the young person's choice. If the shift came unexpectedly, it took time to adjust to the idea of transition, to consider their new position and come to terms with it. This adjustment was evident in Peter's reflection on the transition. Coy and colleagues (2002) found extraordinary protectiveness in some mothers of children with CL/P, which might have been at play for some female participants in the current study. Sophie talked about the

impact of the transition on her role as a mother. The experience of stepping back and knowing they had to, was influenced by the degree to which participants felt this shift being a natural process (or not). As others (Betz et al., 2015) addressing transition in longterm conditions found, some parents struggled with not being responsible and accountable for their child's care and had difficulty letting go.

Control and protectiveness are characteristics of the parenting dimensions (Baumrind, 1996) of demandingness and responsiveness. Demandingness is portrayed by the extent of regulating a child's behaviour and/or expecting a child to control their own behaviour, ie, having a varying level of control over the child's actions. Responsiveness represents the extent of fostering individuality in the child, showing warmth, supporting the child's autonomy and being responsive to their communication. This is particularly evident in the second and third themes where the participants let the young person decide about the surgery while providing guidance and support. Whether participants initially felt they wanted to be the ones making the decision or not, they accepted that it had to be a decision made by their child considering what the surgery involved. The extent of demandingness and responsiveness adjusted through the process of transition. However, this highlighted a conflicting experience some participants had, yet not necessarily shared with clinicians and others at the time. It is therefore important that clinicians are aware of the potential internal conflict parents might go through around this surgery and explore it with them. Checking parents' understanding of the process and exploring their experience of the journey as well as preparing them for the forthcoming changes is important as it will shape their expectations and give them time to adjust to the transition. This corresponds with the delivery of person-centred care in the NHS (Department of Health and Social Care, 2021).

A key factor in terms of stepping back might have been the age at which the young people decided about the orthognathic pathway. Daniel talked about feeling proud of his daughter making the decision, however, she was in the oldest group. In contrast, Eve highlighted influences on young people in the lowest age group and the reasons for their decision. The developing brain undergoes changes linked with decision-making between 15 and 20 years (eg, Partridge, 2010), especially in the capacity to consider long-term implications or risk. Research with young people undergoing the orthognathic surgery identified support with decision-making as a key need (Acum, 2018; Liddle et al., 2018). This is worth taking into account not only from the young person's perceptive but how their age might impact on parents' readiness to step back as in the current study.

Participants often used metaphors to convey their message and illustrate their experience, several of them depicted in the quotes. Talking particularly about the orthognathic surgery, they used metaphors such as a medieval torture (Andrew), a feeling that their stomach flips (Eve). Such metaphors were very emotive, striking, helping the researchers to understand the participants' meaning-making (Smith et al., 2009) and the impact on them. While these intense thoughts and feelings were happening within the participants, they did not express them, or their internal conflict, in front of their children or clinicians. This means that clinicians are not aware of what is going on within parents.

#### Methodological Considerations

Due to COVID-19 restrictions, the study was conducted online using videoconferencing platforms, which is considered an effective alternative to face-to-face research with many advantages (Archibald et al., 2019; Bolderston, 2012; Irani, 2019). Participants were in their own homes, there was no need to travel, which decreased the burden on participants. However, ensuring privacy was crucial as other family members were sometimes present.

For example, a participant had to change rooms to continue to speak freely without being overheard when their child arrived home during our interview.

A strength of this study was addressing experiences of both mothers and fathers (6 and 5 respectively), the latter being underrepresented in cleft research (Nelson et al., 2011). Parents of children who decided for as well as against the surgery were encouraged to take part. In this study only 1 participant's child decided against the surgery in comparison to 6 young people who were awaiting the procedure. The experiences of this 1 parent contributed to all resulting themes, adding to their breadth.

This was a cross-sectional study capturing one point in time. Longitudinal research starting when the orthognathic pathway is offered until the end of the surgery with both the young people and their parents would offer greater insight into their experiences over time.

## **Clinical Implications**

The study found that the cleft journey represented a significant part of parents' lives. Their understanding and experience of the changing role surrounding the orthognathic pathway varied. The experience of the transition seemed to be especially difficult for participants whose child was not an adult yet. They were used to making decisions about care throughout the cleft journey and expected to do so until their child reached adulthood. Some felt it was part of their parental role. This sudden change to parental expectations can therefore challenge their sense of themselves and their parental role and make it more difficult to let go.

To support parents with this complex transition it is suggested to communicate with them about the end stages, including the decision-making processes around the orthognathic pathway in the years before this point is reached. It is important to highlight that their children are likely to still be underage at the time this decision point is reached.

Parents also need to be aware that their involvement will still be welcomed and required to support their child with the decision. Explaining this to parents earlier on, rather than when presenting the opportunity of the orthognathic pathway, might help shape expectations and prevent feelings of stunned surprise.

Furthermore, clinicians can support parents in recognising the complexity and importance of the transition in the decision-making, their expectations around it and being sensitive to the parents' potential internal conflicts around these changes. These approaches could serve to better prepare parents for their final part of the orthognathic journey.

#### Future Research

Future research can build on the current findings by using a longitudinal approach to explore parents' and their children's experiences over time, starting when the orthognathic pathway is offered until after the surgery. Research can also focus specifically on experiences of parents whose children decided against the surgery, considering that only 1 participant in this study represented that population. Furthermore, research could explore clinicians' experiences of the orthognathic pathway as their views are currently missing from the literature.

#### Conclusions

Exploring parents' experience of the transition in cleft pathway when they are expected to hand over responsibility for decision-making about an orthognathic surgery to their child brought to light a complex picture. Participants were invested in the cleft journey over many years and stepping back was represented by a spectrum of experiences, from a welcome change and a relief to a shock and upset. Participants shared about sometimes difficult negotiation of their ongoing involvement when supporting their child to make the right decision for themselves. The study highlighted the need for parents' understanding of the process and forthcoming changes to be explored prior to the appointment during which the orthognathic pathway is offered. Exploring their experiences of the journey and helping them to recognise the complexities involved in stepping back, especially that their children might be in middle teenage years, should better prepare parents for the transition. Future research could address clinicians' perspective on decision-making about the orthognathic pathway as it is missing.

### Acknowledgements

We would like to thank the parents who gave time to share their experiences to take part in this study, and the Cleft lip and palate team and CLAPA who facilitated their recruitment.

### **Declaration of Interest**

The authors report no conflict of interest.

#### References

- Acum M. End of pathway cleft surgery: Exploring the patient-reported outcomes and young people's decision making experiences. Norwich, United Kingdom: University of East Anglia; 2018. Dissertation. Retrieved from British Library EThOS. https://ethos.bl.uk/OrderDetails.do?uin=uk.bl.ethos.761566
- Alansari R, Bedos C, Allison P. Living with cleft lip and palate: The treatment journey. *Cleft Palate-Craniofacial J.* 2014;51(2):222-229. doi:10.1597/12-255
- Archibald MM, Ambagtsheer RC, Casey MG, Lawless M. Using zoom videoconferencing for qualitative data collection: Perceptions and experiences of researchers and participants. *Int J Qual Methods*. 2019;18:1-8. doi:10.1177/1609406919874596
- Baumrind D. The discipline controversy revisited. *Family Relations*. October 1996;45(4):405-414.
- Beaumont D. Exploring parental reactions to the diagnosis of cleft lip and palate. *Paediatric Nursing*. 2006;18(3):14-8. doi:10.7748/paed.18.3.14.s19
- Beaune L, Forrest CR, Keith T. Adolescents' perspectives on living and growing up with Treacher Collins syndrome: A qualitative study. *Cleft Palate-Craniofacial J*. 2004;41(4):343-350. doi:10.1597/02-158.1

- Betz CL, Nehring WM, Lobo ML. Transition needs of rarents of adolescents and emerging adults with special health care needs and disabilities. *J Fam Nurs*. 2015;21(3):362-412. doi:10.1177/1074840715595024
- Bolderston A. Conducting a research interview. *J Med Imaging Radiat Sci.* 2012;43(1):66-76. doi:10.1016/j.jmir.2011.12.002
- Breuning EE, Courtemanche RJ, Courtemanche DJ. Experiences of Canadian parents of young children with cleft lip and/or palate. *Cleft Palate Craniofac J*. December 2020:1055665620977271. doi:10.1177/1055665620977271
- Cadogan J, Bennun I. Face value: An exploration of the psychological impact of orthognathic surgery. *Br J Oral Maxillofac Surg*. 2011;49(5):376-380.
  doi:10.1016/j.bjoms.2010.07.006
- Cleft Lip and Palate Association. Cleft lip and palate treatment. Available at: www.clapa.com/treatment/. Accessed March 9, 2019.
- Colbert SD, Green B, Brennan PA, Mercer N. Contemporary management of cleft lip and palate in the United Kingdom. Have we reached the turning point? *Br J Oral Maxillofac Surg*. 2015;53(7):594-598. doi:10.1016/j.bjoms.2015.06.010
- Costa B, Williams JR, Martindale A, Stock NM. Parents' experiences of diagnosis and care following the birth of a child with cleft lip and/or palate. *Br J Midwifery*. 2019;27(3):151-160. doi:10.12968/bjom.2019.27.3.151

- Coy K, Speltz ML, Jones K. Facial appearance and attachment in infants with orofacial clefts: A replication. *Cleft Palate-Craniofacial J*. 2002;39(1):66-72. doi:10.1597/1545-1569(2002)039<0066:FAAAII>2.0.CO;2
- Department of Health and Social Care. *The NHS Constitution*. Available at: www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-nhs-constitution-for-england/the-nhsconstitution-for-england#principles-that-guide-the-nhs. Accessed January 7, 2021.
- Goodacre T, Swan MC. Cleft lip and palate: Current management. *Paediatr Child Health* (*Oxford*). 2008;18(6):283-292. doi:10.1016/j.paed.2008.03.008
- Goodacre T, Swan MC. Cleft lip and palate: Current management. *Paediatr Child Health* (*Oxford*). 2012;22(4):160-168. doi:10.1016/j.paed.2011.11.010
- Heath G, Farre A, Shaw K. Parenting a child with chronic illness as they transition into adulthood: A systematic review and thematic synthesis of parents' experiences. *Patient Educ Couns*. 2017;100(1):76-92. doi:10.1016/j.pec.2016.08.011
- Hlongwa P, Rispel LC. "People look and ask lots of questions": Caregivers' perceptions of healthcare provision and support for children born with cleft lip and palate. *BMC Public Health.* 2018;18(1):506. doi:10.1186/s12889-018-5421-x

Irani E. The use of videoconferencing for qualitative interviewing: Opportunities, challenges, and considerations. *Clin Nurs Res.* 2019;28(1):3-8. doi:10.1177/1054773818803170

- Kloep M, Hendry LB. Letting go or holding on? Parents' perceptions of their relationships with their children during emerging adulthood. *Br J Dev Psychol*. 2010;28(4):817-834. doi:10.1348/026151009X480581
- Larkin M, Thompson A. Interpretative phenomenological analysis. In: Thompson A, Harper D, eds. *Qualitative research methods in mental health and psychotherapy: a guide for students and practitioners*. Oxford: John Wiley & Sons; 2012;99-116.
- Liddle MJ, Baker SR, Smith KG, Thompson AR. Young adults' experience of appearancealtering orthognathic surgery: A longitudinal interpretative phenomenologic analysis. *Cleft Palate-Craniofacial J.* 2018;55(2):238-247. doi:10.1177/1055665617726533
- Ludvigsen MS, Hall EOC, Westergren T, Aagaard H, Uhrenfeldt L, Fegran L. Being cross pressured-parents' experiences of the transfer from paediatric to adult care services for their young people with long term conditions: A systematic review and qualitative research synthesis. *Int J Nurs Stud.* 2021;115:103851. doi:10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2020.103851
- Maurien K, Van de Casteele E, Nadjmi N. Psychological well-being and medical guidance of parents of children with cleft in Belgium during feeding problems of the child: A mixed method study. *J Pediatr Nurs*. 2019;48:e56-e66. doi:10.1016/j.pedn.2019.06.015

- McCorkell G, McCarron C, Blair S, Coates V. Parental experiences of cleft lip and palate services. *Community Pract*. 2012;85(8):24-27.
- Miller VA. Parent-child collaborative decision making for the management of chronic illness: A qualitative analysis. *Fam Syst Heal*. 2009;27(3):249-266. doi:10.1037/a0017308
- Myhre A, Agai M, Dundas I, Feragen KB. "All eyes on me": A qualitative study of parent and patient experiences of multidisciplinary care in craniofacial conditions. *Cleft Palate-Craniofacial J*. 2019;56(9):1187-1194. doi:10.1177/1055665619842730
- Nelson PA, Caress AL, Glenny AM, Kirk SA. 'Doing the "right" thing': How parents experience and manage decision-making for children's 'normalising' surgeries. *Soc Sci Med.* 2012a;74(5):796-804. doi:10.1016/j.socscimed.2011.11.024
- Nelson P, Glenny AM, Kirk S, Caress AL. Parents' experiences of caring for a child with a cleft lip and/or palate: A review of the literature. *Child Care Health Dev.* 2011;38(1):6-20. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2214.2011.01244.x
- Nelson PA, Kirk SA, Caress AL, Glenny AM. Parents' emotional and social experiences of caring for a child through cleft treatment. *Qual Health Res.* 2012b;22(3):346-359. doi:10.1177/1049732311421178

- NHS England. NHS standard contract for cleft lip and/or palate services including velopharayngeal dysfunction (all ages). 2013:1-24. Accessed April 3, 2020. https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2013/06/d07-cleft-lip.pdf
- Partridge BC. Adolescent psychological development, parenting styles, and pediatric decision making. *J Med Philos*. 2010;35(5):518-525. doi:10.1093/jmp/jhq044

Reid K, Flowers P, Larkin M. Exploring lived experience. Psychologist. 2005;18(1):20-23.

- Royal College of Surgeons of England. Commissioning guide: Orthognathic procedures. 2013. Accessed January 5, 2021. https://www.rcseng.ac.uk/library-and-publications/rcspublications/docs/orthognathic-procedures/
- Smith JA, Flowers P, Larkin M. *Interpretative Phenomenological Analysis: Theory, Method and Research*. London: SAGE Publications Ltd; 2009 (reprint 2013).
- Smith JA., Osborn M. Interpretative Phenomenological Analysis. In: Smith JA, ed. Qualitative Psychology: A Practical Guide to Research Methods (2<sup>nd</sup> edition). London: SAGE Publications Ltd.; 2008:54-80.
- Stock NM, Feragen KB. Psychological adjustment to cleft lip and/or palate: A narrative review of the literature. *Psychol Heal*. 2016;31(7):777-813. doi:10.1080/08870446.2016.1143944

Tevik F, Feragen KB. I want the way I look to matter less: A case study describing psychological aspects of changing appearance. *Clin Child Psychol Psychiatry*. 2015;20(4):626-639. doi:10.1177/1359104514542303

UK Government. Data Protection Act 2018. Accessed June 9, 2019.

https://www.gov.uk/data-

protection#:~:text=The%20Data%20Protection%20Act%202018%20is%20the%20UK

s% 20 implementation% 20 of, used% 20 fairly% 2C% 20 lawfully% 20 and% 20 transparently

Zeytinoglu S, Davey MP, Crerand C, Fisher K. Fathers of children born with cleft lip and palate: Impact of the timing of diagnosis. *Fam Syst Heal*. 2016;34(2):150-158. doi:10.1037/fsh0000198

Chapter 5.

**Discussion and Critical Evaluation** 

This chapter presents an overall discussion of the findings from both the systematic review and empirical paper, addresses their strengths and limitations, and suggests directions for future research. It also offers a reflection on the thesis process.

#### **Overview of results**

#### Systematic review

The systematic review synthesised literature on parent-child attachment and parenting style. Twelve studies were included in the review, nine quantitative and three qualitative, and assessed for methodological quality and risk of bias.

Only maternal attachment, not paternal, was addressed in the studies included in the review. Attachment seems to undergo changes during the first year of having a baby with cleft lip and/or palate while parents adjust to the additional needs of their children (Habersaat et al., 2018). However, no differences in attachment were found at five years in comparison to healthy children. This is consistent with research in attachment of infants with the condition (Maris et al., 2000) where changes in attachment were found during the first two years. Other studies also support that there are no differences in infant attachment in comparison to children without cleft (Hoeksma et al., 1996; Speltz et al., 1997). Although parents were protective of their children with craniofacial anomalies, overprotectiveness seen in other medical conditions or chronic diseases such as type 1 diabetes, asthma (Mullins et al., 2007) or cancer (Colletti et al., 2008) was not found in this review. Despite worries and concerns about children's physical health and safety parents fostered autonomy (Gassling et al., 2014; Klein et al., 2006) and self-reliance (Klein et al., 2014) in children seven to 14 years old. This review identified several factors that can influence maternal attachment such as perceived level of self-efficacy (Cinar & Koc, 2020) which is supported by other research (Pelchat et al., 1999), family size, income and stressful events, also found in other studies (Moss et al., 2004; Nair & Murray, 2005).

## Empirical paper

The empirical study focused on parents' experiences of a decision-making process about an elective surgery during a transition when the responsibility for the decision moves from the parents to their children. A qualitative method of semi-structured interviews was used to allow for in-depth exploration of participants' experiences and data were analysed employing an interpretative phenomenological analysis.

The empirical paper identified three main themes. "Our" journey', 'Stepping back' and 'Helping with the bigger picture' reflected parents' involvement over many years of being in charge of their children's healthcare decisions. In the theme "Our" journey' participants talked about the burden of the cleft treatment in terms of the previous surgeries their child had experienced and the many varied appointments, worries and concerns they had experienced over the years as are documented in other literature (Breuning et al., 2020; Hlongwa & Rispel, 2018; Nelson et al., 2011; Stock & Feragen, 2016). The second theme highlighted a whole spectrum of experiences when asked to step back, from a relief of not making the decision to a shock. Difficulties in letting go of the responsibility for decisions is consistent with evidence in other long-term conditions (Betz et al., 2015). The last theme captured parents' new role during the changing process and their ongoing support. Participants considered the orthognathic surgery to be a big decision requiring a thorough deliberation and assisted their children in thinking about the impact of the surgery, timing and implications for the future, a breadth of aspects that the young people might not necessarily consider in middle adolescence themselves (Partridge, 2010). The need for parents to support their children during the decision-making process was also acknowledged and appreciated by young people in other studies (e.g., Liddle et al., 2018).

#### Critical appraisal of the research

#### Systematic review

The completed systematic review had a number of strengths. One strength was related to consultations with an experienced academic librarian to ensure the most appropriate search strategy in terms of keywords and databases. Another strength was registering the review protocol on PROSPERO, an international prospective register of systematic reviews, which is considered a good research practice as it supports research transparency and avoids potential duplication (Stewart et al., 2012). A further strength was the involvement of a second reviewer to ensure a robust process (Charrois, 2015; Moher et al., 2009). The second reviewer assisted with the selection of papers included in the review and conducted inter-rater checks of methodological quality of 25% of studies in the review. Another strength was synthesising available evidence on the topic which has not been done before, offering a helpful summary for clinicians.

There are a number of potential limitations and areas for future development with the current review. The main limitation is that addressing attachment and especially parenting presented the lead researcher with varied concepts linked to the phenomena such as bonding disorders (decreased maternal affection and behaviour to their child), attachment, parenting style, parenting dimensions, etc. Different studies based around particular concepts naturally used varied methodology and population sampling, it was therefore not possible to compare studies at the level of measures used and this impacts on the ability of any review to generate generalisable conclusions. Due to the lack of homogeneity across the included papers it was more difficult to synthesise measures and findings which presented a challenge. This was dealt with by focusing on the findings within each phenomenon and population groups and exploring similarities and differences across them (Popay et al., 2006). Findings should be understood only within the populations they were studied in and not generalised beyond the age groups of children whose parents were involved or to other sociodemographic groups. For example, generalisations relating to maternal attachment beyond child's age of five years should be avoided as no research addressed maternal attachment to older children in the review.

# Empirical paper

The empirical paper explored parents' experiences of decision-making about a specific elective surgery that represents a significant time during the treatment pathway of their children. It adds a new perspective to the knowledge in the area that has been explored with the young people themselves (e.g., Liddle et al., 2018), however, parents' experiences of this were missing. Another strength was the number of participants in the study. With eleven participants, which is at the higher end of the recommended number, it offered a more multifaceted account of experiences (Reid et al., 2005). Additionally, both mothers and fathers took part, with the latter being underrepresented in research (Nelson et al., 2011).

A further strength was the level of engagement of the lead researcher from the initial stages of the study when preparing a protocol throughout. The researcher closely liaised with the clinical team in the NHS to learn about the care provision as well as in preparation of study materials. Drawing on Patient and Public Involvement in research (National Institute for Health Research, 2014) study documents were sent to parents of service users who provided valuable feedback that was used in finalising the documents prior to the study approval process. A pilot interview was also performed with a fellow Trainee Clinical Psychologist to ensure a smooth process when conducting research with participants. This allowed testing of online technologies and highlighted a need for study documents to be amended to reflect NHS and non-NHS participants, which was submitted

as a non-substantial amendment to the research authorities. Conducting the pilot therefore proved invaluable.

Another strength is related to the researchers' commitment to the quality of the study. Sensitivity to context was demonstrated in several ways (Yardley, 2017). For example, choosing a phenomenological approach to studying the experiences of participants represents the most appropriate approach to achieving an in-depth understanding of their experiences. An important part of interviews was building rapport with participants and making them feel comfortable to share their experiences. Furthermore, the resulting themes were generated from the data, based on the participants' accounts, not being imposed prior to analysis.

Commitment and rigour were evident in thorough and complete data collection, indepth interviews and analysis as well as consultations between the researchers. The study reported on variation and complexity of accounts, providing illustrations in carefully selected quotes. This is demonstrated, for example, in the subtheme 'Natural process (*or not*)' where participants' experiences differed dramatically. Sophie's account portrayed the most difficult experience when she described feeling as if her voice was taken away from her, no longer needed as a mum.

Transparency and coherence were demonstrated in the reported recruitment process. Moreover, the interpretation of research data was documented in transcripts during analysis and development of themes within and across accounts and checked back for evidence. A reflective stance of the lead researcher was embraced, reflections noted in a reflective journal and supervision used throughout the research process.

The empirical study also had a number of limitations. Firstly, in terms of the participants, although parents of young people who decided either for or against the surgery were invited to take part, only one parent whose child decided not to have surgery

was represented, which might be considered a limitation. However, their account contributed to all themes, adding to their scope. Another limitation might be linked to the recruitment from two different organisations, i.e., the NHS and the Cleft Lip and Palate Association (CLAPA). Although all participants received treatment in the NHS, they were from different teams across the UK and therefore potentially having different experiences of information delivery and the process of the transition in decision-making, making for a less homogeneous sample. However, all were suitable to participate because they had the experience of the process that was being explored. Another limitation might be seen in context of COVID-19 restrictions and conducting interviews online. However, research suggests that online interviews are a suitable alternative to interviews in person (Archibald et al., 2019; Bolderston, 2012; Irani, 2019).

### **Reflections on the Thesis Portfolio Process**

#### Systematic review

This was the first systematic review the lead researcher conducted and it represented a range of valuable learning opportunities. The search strategy was consulted with a dedicated academic librarian to ensure that no studies were missed. Broad search terms were used to identify all eligible papers. Despite this one of the papers included in the review was identified through hand searching as it did not appear in database searches, which highlighted the need for reference lists checking and searching in related literature as database searches might not be exclusive.

Assessing methodological quality of studies in the review also generated a key learning. Using the Critical Appraisal Skills Programme (CASP, 2018) Checklists allowed for the appraisal, however, they did not offer a method of scoring to establish the level of quality. The lead researcher therefore drew on studies that had used CASP and added scoring system to determine the level of quality (Hendry et al., 2017; Kmet et al., 2004; Rushbrooke et al., 2014).

Trying to synthesise heterogenous concepts and methodologies introduced some challenges. The process of bringing the results together appeared rather disjointed at first due to various aspects such as different population characteristics, methods and measures used. This was dealt with by keeping two overarching concepts, maternal attachment and parenting, that served as umbrella terms for research in these areas.

A substantial learning point was related to the process of conducting the systematic review. Published systematic reviews are presented as a linear, streamlined process yet conducting it revealed how iterative it in reality is and how much of the revision processes might not be acknowledged in the paper itself.

#### Empirical paper

The lead researcher chose the area of cleft lip and palate due to her interest in clinical health psychology with no previous clinical experience of the condition. That offered valuable learning of a new field of expertise, opportunity to expand knowledge and understanding of the cleft journey for the individuals as well as for their parents. However, at the beginning of learning about the condition the researcher had to reflect on some emotional reactions to photographs of babies affected by cleft.

Conducting the qualitative study was met with several challenges due to COVID-19. At first, all recruitment in the National Health Service (NHS) stopped for several months, which threatened the feasibility of the study that almost had to be abandoned. After being invested in the study for over a year and being just days away from starting recruitment at the time COVID-19 restrictions struck, this was unsettling and stressful for the lead researcher. However, the doctoral programme staff at the University of East Anglia were supportive and acknowledged the impact of COVID-19 by offering a later thesis portfolio submission to accommodate delays caused by restrictions.

For the study to continue and to gain some level of control during the times of uncertainty and delay, the lead researcher proactively identified another, non-NHS recruitment channel and adapted methodology to comply with restrictions by conducting the study solely remotely. Online research interviews presented a range of new learning in terms of technology and experiences of adapted rapport building. Interviewing in person seemed much more natural to the researcher, yet participants seemed to be almost more relaxed and causal in their own environment online than in usual clinical settings in person.

Participants shared lots of experiences and offered various reflections, some of which unfortunately could not be included in the empirical paper due to methodological limitations of theme frequency or word count. It highlighted how much of research data can be lost in the process between analysis and presentation of findings. Thinking about the end stages of the cleft journey, participants talked about its beginning, receiving their child's diagnosis of cleft lip and/or palate, reflecting on the very first surgery their child underwent, their love for their child pouring through. Several participants also reflected on the impact of COVID-19 on the timing of their child's operation. Although parents were encouraged by clinical teams to get in touch with any questions, this opportunity to find out about delays or impact of COVID-19 was not taken up by many participants, highlighting parents' potentially ambivalent position of wanting to know but not wanting to put further strain on the team during the pandemic. Yet, some parents shared frustrations with delays and uncertainty about timing that subsequently impacted on plans for their children's education or employment. Some parents considered their child to be 'in limbo', their 'life on hold' while waiting for the surgery. That highlighted the significance of the long-awaited surgery for the whole family.

Conducting 11 interviews meant spending many hours on transcription and working through masses of data during analysis. It was a long process that the lead researcher broke down into smaller parts and carefully planned to meet deadlines. A lot of effort was put into organising the data, identifying, structuring the themes and checking back for evidence, which at times felt overwhelming. Supervision was invaluable during this process when ideas and reflections were discussed leading to the themes structure being amended to best capture parents' experiences. It helped the lead researcher in crystalising her understanding and interpretation of the data.

#### **Clinical and Theoretical Implications**

#### Systematic review

Although the systematic review of included studies found no differences in attachment in mothers of children with craniofacial anomalies in comparison to mothers of healthy children at five years, it highlighted changes in maternal attachment during the first year. It is therefore crucial to bear in mind that attachment evolves during that time, potentially in a different way to typically developing children. Parents adjust to the additional needs of their children, feel more confident in taking care of their children over time (Cinar & Koc, 2020) and go through the first repair surgeries with their children (NHS England, 2013) leading to yet again adjusting to their child's new needs and appearance.

As attachment feeds into the developing parenting styles (Nanu & Nijloveanu, 2015), it is crucial to support parents in establishing effective and positive relationships with their child. Psychological support for parents is part of the cleft lip and palate service provision (NHS England, 2013) where parents can address their initial reactions to the diagnosis, stress related to surgeries or whether they perceive their child to be more

vulnerable and they feel they need to be perhaps more protective of them by holding more control.

Being aware of potential risk factors for developing attachment such as stressful events, psychological or physical problems during pregnancy (Boztepe et al., 2016; Yilmaz et al., 2011) as well as the evolving attachment process during the first year will allow clinicians to better support parents throughout the cleft journey.

# Empirical paper

Research suggests that parents can find it difficult to 'let go' and support independence in their children whether this is within healthy population of young adults (Kloep & Hendry, 2010) or young people with health conditions (Betz et al., 2015). The more challenging fact in decision-making about the orthognathic pathway might be that young people are not yet adults, usually in their middle teenage years, and there is no tangible transition between paediatric and adult services. This might be making it more difficult for parents to hand over responsibility for treatment choices.

Clinicians are aware of the intensity of the cleft treatment pathway and the commitment of parents in the process over many years (e.g., Nelson et al., 2011). However, they might not be aware of the potentially conflicting processes that take place within parents during the transition of responsibility in decision-making around the orthognathic surgery. The empirical study found a wide spectrum of parents' experiences that participants did not readily share with clinical teams. It is therefore recommended to prepare parents for this change in decision-making gradually so they are aware of the shift happening while their child is still an adolescent, which for some parents might feel too early. Clinicians can introduce the idea of the shift ahead of actually offering the orthognathic pathway to the young people, this should enable parents to have more space to share some of their experiences and concerns about these changes. Clinicians can
explore parents' potential internal conflict of not wanting to let go and feeling that it is their responsibility to make decisions about their child's healthcare, a role they took on when their child was born.

### **Direction for Research**

#### Systematic review

The systematic review gathered and synthesised available evidence on parental attachment and parenting style in the population of interest. It highlighted a lack of research into father-child attachment and the need for longitudinal studies in attachment as well as parenting to gain a clearer understanding of parenting and to see any changes over time. For example, fostering autonomy in pre-school children during play is different to encouraging autonomy during decision-making about surgeries when the children are adolescents.

### **Empirical paper**

The empirical paper explored parents' experiences of a changing decision-making process in a cross-sectional study. A longitudinal approach capturing several crucial time points, e.g., when parents are told about the change in who decides about the surgery, while they are stepping back and after the surgery if the young people opt in, would be helpful to enhance understanding of the evolving process during the transition. The empirical study featured parental reflections on the age of their children and their motives for making a decision about the surgery. The young person often needs to wait several years for their bones to mature while undergoing orthodontic treatment, during which time their level of self-acceptance and motivation for the surgery can change. What might have seemed the right decision at the age of 15 might be different when the young person reaches adulthood, has new opportunities, interests and responsibilities, e.g., university or

employment. Considering the cognitive development that occurs during the late teenage years, making the decision later and consequently undergoing the surgery later or checking with the young person that their decision stands might be helpful. Longitudinal research could address the development and potential decisional changes.

Research could specifically explore experiences of parents of children who decided against the surgery. Literature suggests that parents are usually in favour of 'normalising' surgeries (Nelson et al., 2012) and thus parents of children who do not want to undergo the surgery might have different needs and require different support from the clinical team, e.g., accepting that what they might have wanted for their child to reach their 'full potential' is not the young person's preference. Another area to address is how clinicians themselves view the orthognathic surgeries as their accounts are missing in literature. Research could explore clinicians' experiences of the orthognathic pathway, their role in the decision-making, their drives and narratives used when talking about it within the team and with families.

### **Thesis Portfolio Conclusion**

Taken together, the systematic review is a helpful summary of research and what is known on the topic of maternal attachment and parenting style in parents of children born with craniofacial anomalies. The review will inform clinicians when supporting parents during the cleft journey and highlights to researchers important areas for future studies.

The empirical paper focused on parents' experiences of the end stages of the cleft journey, reflecting their parenting styles and attitudes. After many years of making decisions about their child's treatments parents are expected to hand over the responsibility for a decision about a complex surgery to their child who might still be in their middle teenage years. Parents in the study shared their readiness to step back and let go of the

responsibility for decisions about the orthognathic surgery. The study highlighted a whole spectrum of experiences, a shock, feeling as if their voice was taken away, as well as a relief, that are not necessarily shared with the clinical team. Parents talked about trying to present in front of clinicians as if the change did not make any impact on them, they reflected on the need to adjust to that change over time and talked about their ongoing involvement in the long treatment process as they considered it their journey as well. Clinicians thus need to be aware that this change in decision-making may have a profound impact on parents in the moment whilst they try to keep their emotional reactions hidden. Clinicians can prepare parents for the transition gradually and support them in exploring the complexities involved. Further research in the field is also suggested.

### **Reference List for Discussion and Critical Evaluation**

- Archibald, M. M., Ambagtsheer, R. C., Casey, M. G., & Lawless, M. (2019). Using zoom videoconferencing for qualitative data collection: Perceptions and experiences of researchers and participants. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 18, 1-8. doi:10.1177/1609406919874596
- Betz, C. L., Nehring, W. M., & Lobo, M. L. (2015). Transition needs of parents of adolescents and emerging adults with special health care needs and disabilities, *Journal* of Family Nursing, 21(3), 362-412. doi:10.1177/1074840715595024
- Bolderston, A. (2012). Conducting a research interview. *Journal of Medical Imaging and Radiation Sciences*, 43, 66-76. doi:10.1016/j.jmir.2011.12.002
- Boztepe, H., Ay, A., Yildiz, G. K., & Cinar, S. (2016). Does the visibility of a congenital anomaly affect maternal-infant attachment levels? *Journal for Specialists in Pediatric Nursing*, 21, 200-211. doi:10.1111/jspn12157
- Breuning, E. E., Courtemanche, R. J., Courtemanche, D. J. (2020). Experiences of Canadian parents of young children with cleft lip and/or palate. *The Cleft Palate-Craniofacial Journal*, 1-10. doi:10.1177/1055665620977271
- Critical Appraisal Skills Programme (CASP) (2018). CASP Checklist. Retrieved April, 18 2021, from https://casp-uk.net/casp-tools-checklists

- Charrois, T. L. (2015). Systematic reviews: What do you need to know to get started? *The Canadian Journal of Hospital Pharmacists*, 68(2), 144-148.
- Cinar, S. & Koc, G. (2020). The effect of nursing care provided to Turkish mothers of infants born with cleft lip and palate on maternal attachment and self-efficacy: A quasiexperimental study. *Journal of Pediatric Nursing*, 53, e80-e86. https://doi.org/10.1016.j.pedn.2020.02.032
- Colletti, C. J. M., Wolfe-Christensen, C., Carpentier, M. Y., Page, M. C., McNall-Knapp,
  R. Y., Meyer, W. H., Chaney, J. M., & Mullins, L. L. (2008). The relationship of parental overprotection, perceived vulnerability, and parenting stress to behavioural, emotional, and social adjustment in children with cancer. *Pediatric Blood Cancer*, 51, 269-274. doi:10.1002/pbc.21577
- Gassling, V., Christoph, C., Wahle, K., Koos, B., Wiltfang, J., Gerber, W.-D., & Siniatchkin, M. (2014). Children with a cleft lip and palate: An exploratory study of the role of the parent-child interaction. *Journal of Cranio-Maxillo-Facial Surgery*, 42, 953-958. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jcms.2014.01.016
- Habersaat, S., Turpin, H., Moller, C., Borghini, A., Ansermet, F., Muller-Nix, C., Urben,
  S., & Hohlfeld, J. (2018). Maternal representations and parenting style in children born
  with and without an orofacial cleft. *The Cleft Palate-Craniofacial Journal*, 55(1), 88-97.
  doi:10.1177/1055665617718840

- Hendry, A., Snowden, A., & Brown, M. (2017). When holistic care is not holistic enough:
  The role of sexual health in mental health settings. *Journal of Clinical Nursing*, 27, 1015-1027. doi:10.1111/jocn.14085
- Hlongwa, P., & Rispel, L. C. (2018). "People look and ask lots of questions": caregivers' perceptions of healthcare provision and support for children born with cleft lip and palate. *BMC Public Health*, 18:506, 1-10. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-018-5421-x
- Hoeksma, J. B., Koomen, H. M. Y., & Van den Boom, D. (1996). The development of early attachment behaviours. *Early Development and Parenting*, 5(3), 135-147.
- Irani, E. (2019). The use of videoconferencing for qualitative interviewing: Opportunities, challenges, and considerations. *Clinical Nursing Research*, 28(1), 308. doi:10.1177/1054773818803170
- Klein, T. P., Pope, A., & Abbott, R. (2014). Social interactions of school-aged children with CFA: Mothers' perspectives and advice. *The Cleft Palate-Craniofacial Journal*, 51(3), 300-307. doi:10.1597/12-178
- Klein, T. P., Pope, A., Getahun, E., & Thompson, J. (2006). Mothers' reflections on raising a child with a craniofacial anomaly. *The Cleft Palate-Craniofacial Journal*, 43(5), 590-597.

- Kloep, M., & Hendry, L. B. (2010). Letting go or holding on? Parents' perceptions of their relationships with their children during emerging adulthood. *The British Journal of Developmental Psychology*, 28, 817-834.
- Kmet, L. M., Lee, R. C., & Cook, L. S. (2004). Standard quality assessment criteria for evaluating primary research papers from a variety of fields. Alberta Heritage Foundation for Medical Research (AHFMR). AHFMR – HTA Initiative #13.
- Liddle, M. J., Baker, S. R. Smith, K. G., & Thompson, A. R. (2018). Young Adults' Experience of Appearance-Altering Orthognathic Surgery: A Longitudinal Interpretative Phenomenologic Analysis. *The Cleft Palate-Craniofacial Journal*, 55(2), 238-247. doi:10.1177/1055665617726533
- Maris, C. L., Endriga, M. C., Speltz, M., Jones, K., & DeKlyen, M. (2000). Are infants with orofacial clefts at risk for insecure mother-child attachments? *The Cleft Palate-Craniofacial Journal*, 37(3), 257-265.
- Moher, D., Liberati, A., Tetzlaff, J., Altman, D. G., The PRISMA Group. (2009). Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses: The PRISMA Statement.
  PLoS Med 6(7): e1000097. doi:10.1371/journal.pmed.1000097
- Moss, E., Cyr, C., Dubois-Comtois, K. (2004). Attachment at early school age and developmental risk: Examining family contexts and behavior problems of controllingcaregiving, controlling-punitive, and behaviorally disorganized children. *Developmental Psychology*, 40(4), 519-532. doi:10.1037/0012-1649.40.4.519

- Mullins, L. L., Wolfe-Christensen, C., Hoff Pai, A., L., Carpentier, M. Y., Gillaspy, S., Cheek, J., & Page, M. (2007). The relationship of parental overprotection, perceived child vulnerability, and parenting stress to uncertainty in youth with chronic illness. *Journal of Pediatric Psychology*, 32(8), 973-982. doi:10.1093/jpepsy/jsm044
- Nair, H. & Murray, A. D. (2006). Predictors of attachment security in preschool children from intact and divorced families. *The Journal of Genetic Psychology*, 166(3), 245-263. doi:10.3200/GNTP.166.3.245-263
- Nanu, E. D. & Nijloveanu, D. M. (2015). Attachment and parenting styles. *Procedia Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 203, 199-205. doi:10.1016/j.sbspro.2015.08.282
- National Institute for Health Research. (2014). Patient and public involvement in health and social care research: A handbook for researchers. Available at https://www.rdsyh.nihr.ac.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/01/RDS\_PPI-Handbook\_2014-v8-FINAL-11.pdf
- Nelson, P. A., Caress, A.-L., Glenny, A.-M., & Kirk, S. A. (2012). 'Doing the "right" thing': how parents experience and manage decision-making for children's 'normalising' surgeries. *Social Science & Medicine*, 74, 796-804. doi:10.1016/j.socscimed.2011.11.024

- Nelson, P., Glenny, A.-M., Kirk, S., & Caress, A.-L. (2011). Parents' experiences of caring for a child with a cleft lip and/or palate: a review of the literature. *Child: Care, Health and Development*, 38(1), 6-20. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2214.2011.01244.x
- NHS England. (2013). Service Specification: Cleft lip and/or palate services including non-cleft velopharyngeal dysfunction (VPD) (All Ages). Available at https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2013/06/d07-cleft-lip.pdf
- Partridge, B. C. (2010). Adolescent psychological development, parenting styles, and pediatric decision making. *Journal of Medicine and Philosophy*, 35, 518-525. doi:10.1093/jmp/jhq044
- Pelchat, D., Bisson, J., Ricard, N., Perreault, M., & Bouchard, J.-M. (1999). Longitudinal effects of an early family intervention programme on the adaptation of parents of children with a disability. *International Journal of Nursing Studies*, 36, 465-477.
- Popay, J., Roberts, H., Sowden, A., Petticrew, M., Arai, L., Rogers, M., Britten, N., Roen,
  K., & Duffy, S. (2006). Guidance on the Conduct of Narrative Synthesis in Systematic
  Reviews: A product from the ESRC Methods Programme. doi:10.13140/2.1.1018.4643
- Reid, K., Flowers, P., & Larkin, M. (2005). Exploring lived experience. *The Psychologist*, 18(1), 20-23.
- Rushbrooke, E., Murray, C. D., & Townsend, S. (2014). What difficulties are experienced by caregivers in relation to the sexuality of people with intellectual disabilities? A

qualitative meta-synthesis. *Research in Developmental Disabilities*, 35, 871-886. doi:10.1016/j.ridd.2014.01.012

- Speltz, M. L., Endriga, M. C., Fisher, P., A., & Mason, C. A. (1997). Early predictors of attachment in infants with cleft lip and/or palate. *Child Development*, 68(1), 12-25.
- Stewart, L., Moher, D., & Shekelle, P. (2012). Why prospective registration of systematic reviews makes sense. *Systematic reviews*, 1(7), 1-4. doi:10.1186/2046-4053-1-7
- Stock, N. M., & Feragen K. B. (2016). Psychological adjustment to cleft lip and/or palate:
  A narrative review of the literature. *Psychology & Health*, 31(7), 777-813.
  doi:10.1080/08870446.2016.1143944
- Yardley, L. (2017). Demonstrating the validity of qualitative research. *The Journal of Positive Psychology*, 12(3), 295-296. doi:10.1080/17439760.2016.1262624
- Yilmaz, H. B., Kavlak, O., Isler, A., Liman, T., & Van Sell, S. (2011). A study of maternal attachment among mothers of infants with congenital anomalies in Turkey. *Infants & Young Children*, 24(3), 259-266. doi:10.1097/IYC.0b013e31821b465b

# A List of Appendices

- Appendix A The Cleft Palate-Craniofacial Journal Manuscript Submission Guidelines
- Appendix B Quality rating tables of studies with inter-rater checks
- Appendix C HRA approval
- Appendix D Participant Information Sheet (NHS and non-NHS)
- Appendix E Consent form (NHS and non-NHS)
- Appendix F Demographic information form
- Appendix G Topic guide

### Appendix A. The Cleft Palate-Craniofacial Journal Manuscript Submission

### Guidelines

### https://journals.sagepub.com/author-instructions/CPC

### Manuscript Submission Guidelines:

Due to the worldwide impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, we are very aware that many researchers and reviewers will have difficulty meeting the typical timelines associated with our journal's peer review process. Our editorial office will continue to send reminders, but we intend to be very flexible during this time. Please do let us know if you will need additional time. Furthermore, journal submissions are currently substantially higher for *CPCJ* and the availability of reviewers in some cases is limited. This may cause delays, but please be rest assured that our journal team is working to ensure the timely management of your submission.

This Journal is a member of the <u>Committee on Publication Ethics</u>.

This Journal recommends that authors follow the <u>Recommendations for the Conduct</u>, <u>Reporting, Editing, and Publication of Scholarly Work in Medical Journals</u> formulated by the International Committee of Medical Journal Editors (ICMJE).

Please read the guidelines below then visit the Journal's submission site <u>https://mc.manuscriptcentral.com/cpcj</u> to upload your manuscript. Please note that manuscripts not conforming to these guidelines may be returned.

SAGE Publishing disseminates high-quality research and engaged scholarship globally, and we are committed to diversity and inclusion in publishing. We encourage submissions from a diverse range of authors from across all countries and backgrounds.

Only manuscripts of sufficient quality that meet the aims and scope of *The Cleft Palate-Craniofacial Journal (CPCJ)* will be reviewed. *CPCJ* is directed to a multidisciplinary readership of clinicians and scientists interested in craniofacial anomalies, including cleft lip and cleft palate. The *CPCJ* publishes original research articles, clinical reports, brief

communications, articles related to new ideas or innovations, letters to the editor, editorials, invited book reviews, and meeting announcements.

There are no fees payable to submit or publish in this journal.

As part of the submission process you will be required to warrant that you are submitting your original work, that you have the rights in the work, that you have obtained and can supply all necessary permissions for the reproduction of any copyright works not owned by you, that you are submitting the work for first publication in the Journal, and that it is not being considered for publication elsewhere and has not already been published elsewhere. Note that the Journal may accept submissions of papers that have been posted on pre-print servers; include the DOI for the preprint in the designated field during the submission process. Authors should not post an updated version of their paper on the preprint server while it is being peer reviewed for possible publication in the journal. If the article is accepted for publication, the author may re-use their work according to the Journal's author archiving policy. If your paper is accepted, you must include a link on your preprint to the final version of your paper.

If you have any questions about publishing with SAGE, please visit the <u>SAGE Journal</u> <u>Solutions Portal</u>

- 1. <u>What do we publish?</u>
  - 1.1 Aims & Scope
  - 1.2 Article types
  - 1.3 Writing your paper
- 2. Editorial policies
  - 2.1 <u>Peer review policy</u>
  - 2.2 <u>Authorship</u>
  - 2.3 Acknowledgements
  - 2.4 Funding
  - 2.5 Declaration of conflicting interests
  - 2.6 Research ethics and patient consent
  - 2.7 Clinical trials
  - 2.8 <u>Reporting guidelines</u>
  - 2.9 <u>Data</u>

- 3. <u>Publishing policies</u>
  - 3.1 Publication ethics
  - 3.2 Contributor's publishing agreement
  - 3.3 Open access and author archiving
- 4. Preparing your manuscript
  - 4.1 Formatting
  - 4.2 Artwork, figures and other graphics
  - 4.3 Identifiable information
  - 4.4 Supplementary material
  - 4.5 <u>Reference style</u>
  - 4.6 English language editing services
- 5. Submitting your manuscript
  - 5.1 <u>ORCID</u>
  - 5.2 Information required for completing your submission
  - 5.3 <u>Permissions</u>
- 6. On acceptance and publication
  - 6.1 SAGE Production
  - 6.2 Online First publication
  - 6.3 Access to your published article
  - 6.4 Promoting your article
- 7. Further information

### 1. What do we publish?

### 1.1 Aims & Scope

Before submitting your manuscript to *CPCJ*, please ensure you have read the <u>Aims &</u> <u>Scope</u>. *CPCJ* publishes manuscripts of the highest scientific quality on all topics related to orofacial clefts and other craniofacial anomalies in order to advance the global education of scientists and clinicians

### **1.2 Article Types**

**Original Articles**: 7 typeset pages as they appear in the journal (about 7,000 words, with up to 6 figures or tables combined)

**What I (We) Do**: 2 typeset pages as they appear in the journal (about 1,000 words, with up to 3 figures or tables combined and up to 5 references)

**Case Reports**: 4 typeset pages as they appear in the journal (about 4,000 words, with up to 6 figures or tables combined)

**Ethics / Health Policy / Ideas and Innovations / Brief Communications**: 3 typeset pages as they appear in the journal (about 3,000 words, with up to 3 figures or tables combined)

**Perspectives / Letters to the Editor / Editorials**: Should provide thoughtful, scientific, constructive commentary pertaining to articles or research published in The Cleft Palate-Craniofacial Journal. 1.5 typeset pages as they appear in the journal (about 1,500 words, with up to 1 figure or table).

A single figure may include multiple images (a, b, c, etc.) but all must appear on the same page.

Supporting material that is not essential to an understanding of the article may be posted with the article as supplemental online-only material.

*CPCJ* allows as many citations and references as the authors feel necessary for the manuscript.

# 1.3 Writing your paper

The SAGE Author Gateway has some general advice and on <u>how to get published</u>, plus links to further resources.

# 1.3.1 Make your article discoverable

When writing up your paper, think about how you can make it discoverable. The title, keywords and abstract are key to ensuring readers find your article through search engines such as Google. For information and guidance on how best to title your article, write your abstract and select your keywords, have a look at this page on the Gateway: <u>How to Help</u> <u>Readers Find Your Article Online</u>

# Back to top

# 2. Editorial policies

### 2.1 Peer review policy

Two independent peer reviews are typically solicited. At the discretion of the Section Editor, a third review by a biostatistician may also be solicited. The Editor is responsible for all final decisions regarding acceptance or rejection, recommendations for revision, and final editing. Manuscripts will be evaluated according to various criteria, including scientific methodology, level of evidence, novelty, clarity, and conciseness. Accepted articles describing novel findings or methods with high levels of evidence may be advanced in the publication queue at the discretion of the Editor.

All submitted articles are "double-blinded" to ensure an unbiased review. Reviewers will not have access to author names or affiliations. Authors will not have access to reviewer names or affiliations.

The Editor or members of the Editorial Board may occasionally submit their own manuscripts for possible publication in the journal. In these cases, the peer review process will be managed by alternative members of the Board and the submitting Editor/Board member will have no involvement in the decision-making process.

*CPCJ* is committed to delivering high quality, fast peer-review for your paper, and as such has partnered with Publons. Publons is a third party service that seeks to track, verify and give credit for peer review. Reviewers for *CPCJ* can opt in to Publons in order to claim their reviews or have them automatically verified and added to their reviewer profile. Reviewers claiming credit for their review will be associated with the relevant journal, but the article name, reviewer's decision and the content of their review is not published on the site. For more information visit the Publons website.

The Editor or members of the Editorial Board may occasionally submit their own manuscripts for possible publication in the journal. In these cases, the peer review process will be managed by alternative members of the Board and the submitting Editor/Board member will have no involvement in the decision-making process.

### 2.2 Authorship

Papers should only be submitted for consideration once consent is given by all contributing authors. Those submitting papers should carefully check that all those whose work contributed to the paper are acknowledged as contributing authors.

The list of authors should include all those who can legitimately claim authorship. This is all those who:

(i) Made a substantial contribution to the concept or design of the work; or acquisition, analysis or interpretation of data,

(ii) Drafted the article or revised it critically for important intellectual content,

(iii) Approved the version to be published,

(iv) Participated sufficiently in the work to take public responsibility for appropriate portions of the content.

Each author must declare his or her contribution to the manuscript by signing the copyright transfer form. Authors should meet the conditions of all of the points above.

CPCJ follows authorship guidelines as outlined by the International Committee of Medical Journal Editors (ICMJE). If a paper has more than 10 authors, a cover letter detailing the contributions of all authors should be included in the submission. Only those involved in writing the paper should be included in the author line. Others should be listed as a footnote or acknowledgment. While there is no limit on the number of authors, no more than 20 will be listed on the masthead of the published article; additional authors will be listed at the end of the article. These authors will be indexed in PubMed as full authors.

The *CPCJ* allows research groups to be recognized in submitted manuscripts. Authors should identify both the group name and the individual authors who accept responsibility for the article (e.g., Smith A, Johnson R, Williams T; The CleftCran Research Group). The named individuals must meet the full criteria and requirements for authorship as described above. Other research group members who do not qualify for authorship may be listed in an Acknowledgement.

Acquisition of funding, collection of data, or general supervision of the research group alone does not constitute authorship, although all contributors who do not meet the criteria for authorship should be listed in the Acknowledgments section. Please refer to the <u>International Committee of Medical Journal Editors (ICMJE) authorship guidelines</u> for more information on authorship.

# 2.3 Acknowledgements

All contributors who do not meet the criteria for authorship should be listed in an Acknowledgements section. Examples of those who might be acknowledged include a person who provided purely technical help, or a department chair who provided only general support.

Please supply any personal acknowledgements separately to the main text to facilitate anonymous peer review.]

# 2.3.1 Third party submissions

Where an individual who is not listed as an author submits a manuscript on behalf of the author(s), a statement must be included in the Acknowledgements section of the manuscript and in the accompanying cover letter. The statements must:

- Disclose this type of editorial assistance including the individual's name, company and level of input
- Identify any entities that paid for this assistance
- Confirm that the listed authors have authorized the submission of their manuscript via third party and approved any statements or declarations, e.g. conflicting interests, funding, etc.

Where appropriate, SAGE reserves the right to deny consideration to manuscripts submitted by a third party rather than by the authors themselves.

# 2.3.2 Writing assistance

Individuals who provided writing assistance, e.g. from a specialist communications company, do not qualify as authors and so should be included in the Acknowledgements section. Authors must disclose any writing assistance – including the individual's name, company and level of input – and identify the entity that paid for this assistance.

It is not necessary to disclose use of language polishing services.

# 2.4 Funding

*CPCJ* requires all authors to acknowledge their funding in a consistent fashion under a separate heading. Please visit the <u>Funding Acknowledgements</u> page on the SAGE Journal Author Gateway to confirm the format of the acknowledgment text in the event of funding, or state that: This research received no specific grant from any funding agency in the public, commercial, or not-for-profit sectors.

# 2.5 Declaration of conflicting interests

It is the policy of *CPCJ* to require a declaration of conflicting interests from all authors enabling a statement to be carried within the paginated pages of all published articles. Authors are required to disclose, in a cover letter accompanying their manuscript, any relevant conflict of interest, including direct or indirect financial interests they may have in the materials or subject matter dealt with in the manuscript. This information will be held in confidence by the Editor during the review process, but at the discretion of the Editor, may be included in publication of an accepted manuscript.

Please ensure that a 'Declaration of Conflicting Interests' statement is included at the end of your manuscript, after any acknowledgements and prior to the references. If no conflict exists, please state that 'The Author(s) declare(s) that there is no conflict of interest'.

For guidance on conflict of interest statements, please see the ICMJE recommendations <u>here</u>.

# 2.6 Research ethics and patient consent

Medical research involving human subjects must be conducted according to the <u>World</u> <u>Medical Association Declaration of Helsinki</u>. Compliance with these guidelines should be indicated in the Methods section of the manuscript, along with Institutional Review Board approval if appropriate.

Submitted manuscripts should conform to the <u>ICMJE Recommendations for the Conduct</u>, <u>Reporting, Editing, and Publication of Scholarly Work in Medical Journals</u>, and all papers reporting animal and/or human studies must state in the methods section that the relevant Ethics Committee or Institutional Review Board provided (or waived) approval. Please

ensure that you have provided the full name and institution of the review committee, in addition to the approval number.

While informed consent might not be required for consecutive case series and/or retrospective chart review reports, these are still considered research given that the objective of your report is to generalize the findings. As such, they require Humans Subjects Review Board approval. If a form IRB is not available, the authors must state so in a cover letter accompanying the submission, and include a statement in the manuscript that principles outlined in the Declaration of Helsinki were followed.

For research articles, authors are also required to state in the methods section whether participants provided informed consent and whether the consent was written or verbal.

Information on informed consent to report individual cases or case series should be included in the manuscript text. A statement is required regarding whether written informed consent for patient information and images to be published was provided by the patient(s) or a legally authorized representative. The author is responsible for ensuring the anonymity of protection of any individual depicted in a manuscript. A signed permission form must be submitted for any recognizable individual appearing in manuscript figures. Shading of the eyes is not an acceptable means of rendering an individual unrecognizable. If an author chooses to use his/her own institutional patient permission form, it must include permission to use photographs for all types of publication including but not limited to print, visual, electronic, or broadcast media. Consent forms should be uploaded at submission.

Please also refer to the <u>ICMJE Recommendations for the Protection of Research</u> <u>Participants</u>.

All research involving animals submitted for publication must be approved by an ethics committee with oversight of the facility in which the studies were conducted. The journal has adopted the <u>Consensus Author Guidelines on Animal Ethics and Welfare for</u> <u>Veterinary Journals</u> published by the International Association of Veterinary Editors.

### 2.7 Clinical trials

*CPCJ* endorses the <u>ICMJE requirement</u> that clinical trials are registered in a WHOapproved public trials registry at or before the time of first patient enrolment. However, consistent with the <u>AllTrials campaign</u>, retrospectively registered trials will be considered if the justification for late registration is acceptable. The trial registry name and URL, and registration number must be included at the end of the abstract.

### 2.8 Reporting guidelines

The relevant <u>EQUATOR Network</u> reporting guidelines should be followed depending on the type of study. For example, all randomized controlled trials submitted for publication should include a completed <u>CONSORT</u> flow chart as a cited figure and the completed CONSORT checklist should be uploaded with your submission as a supplementary file. Systematic reviews and meta-analyses should include the completed <u>PRISMA</u> flow chart as a cited figure and the completed PRISMA checklist should be uploaded with your submission as a supplementary file. The <u>EQUATOR wizard</u> can help you identify the appropriate guideline.

Other resources can be found at NLM's Research Reporting Guidelines and Initiatives.

### **2.9 Data**

At SAGE we are committed to facilitating openness, transparency and reproducibility of research. Where relevant, CPCJ requests all authors submit any primary data used in their research articles alongside their article submissions to be published in the online version of the journal, or provide detailed information in their articles on how the data can be obtained. This information should include links to third-party data repositories or detailed contact information for third-party data sources. Data available only on an authormaintained website will need to be loaded onto either the journal's platform or a thirdparty platform to ensure continuing accessibility. Examples of data types include but are not limited to statistical data files, replication code, text files, audio files, images, videos, appendices, and additional charts and graphs necessary to understand the original research. The editor may consider limited embargoes on proprietary data. The editor(s) can also grant exceptions for data that cannot legally or ethically be released. All data submitted should comply with Institutional or Ethical Review Board requirements and applicable government regulations. Authors should also follow data citation principles. For more information please visit the SAGE Author Gateway, which includes information about SAGE's partnership with the data repository Figshare. For further information or clarification, please contact the Editor at the address given below.

# Back to top

# **3.** Publishing Policies

### **3.1 Publication ethics**

SAGE is committed to upholding the integrity of the academic record. We encourage authors to refer to the Committee on Publication Ethics' <u>International Standards for</u> <u>Authors</u> and view the Publication Ethics page on the <u>SAGE Author Gateway</u>.

### 3.1.1 Plagiarism

*CPCJ* and SAGE take issues of copyright infringement, plagiarism, or other breaches of best practice in publication very seriously. We seek to protect the rights of our authors, and we always investigate claims of plagiarism or misuse of published articles. Equally, we seek to protect the reputation of the journal against malpractice. Submitted articles may be checked with duplication-checking software. Where an article, for example, is found to have plagiarised other work or included third-party copyright material without permission or with insufficient acknowledgement, or where the authorship of the article is contested, we reserve the right to take action including, but not limited to: publishing an erratum or corrigendum (correction); retracting the article; taking up the matter with the head of department or dean of the author's institution and/or relevant academic bodies or societies; or taking appropriate legal action.

### **3.1.2 Prior publication**

If material has been previously published it is not generally acceptable for publication in a SAGE journal. However, there are certain circumstances where previously published material can be considered for publication. Please refer to the guidance on the <u>SAGE</u> <u>Author Gateway</u> or if in doubt, contact the Editor at the address given below.

### 3.2 Contributor's publishing agreement

Before publication, SAGE requires the author as the rights holder to sign a Journal Contributor's Publishing Agreement. SAGE's Journal Contributor's Publishing Agreement is an exclusive licence agreement which means that the author retains copyright in the work but grants SAGE the sole and exclusive right and licence to publish for the full legal term of copyright. Exceptions may exist where an assignment of copyright is required or preferred by a proprietor other than SAGE. In this case copyright in the work will be assigned from the author to the society. For more information please visit the <u>SAGE</u> <u>Author Gateway</u>

# 3.3 Open access and author archiving

*CPCJ* offers optional open access publishing via the SAGE Choice program. For more information please visit the <u>SAGE Choice website</u>. For information on funding body compliance, and depositing your article in repositories, please visit <u>SAGE Publishing</u> <u>Policies</u> on our Journal Author Gateway.

# Back to top

# 4. Preparing your manuscript for submission

# 4.1 Formatting

*Original Articles*: Reports of original clinical or basic science data pertaining to prevalence, causes, mechanisms, diagnosis, course, treatment, and prevention, including systematic reviews and meta-analysis that represent a new contribution to the field. Limit: 7 typeset pages as they appear in the journal (about 7,000 manuscript words, with up to 6 figures or tables combined).

*What I (We) Do*: Introduce new solutions to clinical problems. Novelty and quality of illustrations and videos (when appropriate) are key ingredients. Authors should include a brief (50-75 words) abstract with the following format: background (what is the issue/problem), solution, what I/we did that is new. Also, include 3-5 keywords. If no patient identifiable data are included, no IRB form is necessary. Limit: 2 typeset pages as they appear in the journal (about 1,000 words, with up to 3 figures or tables combined, and up to 5 references).

*Clinical Reports*: Case reports presenting new clinical information. Limit: 4 typeset pages as they appear in the journal (about 4,000 manuscript words, with up to 6 figures or tables combined).

*Ideas and Innovations*: Short communications related to novel ideas, techniques, methods of assessment, etc. Limit: 3 typeset pages as they appear in the journal (about 3,000 manuscript words, with up to 3 figures or tables combined).

*Brief Communications*: Preliminary or limited results of origial research pertaining to prevalence, causes, mechanisms, diagnosis, course, treatment, and prevention. Limit: 3 typeset pages as they appear in the journal (about 3,000 manuscript words, with up to 3 figures or tables combined).

*Ethics/Health Policy: Ethical and Legal Reports* are original articles which examine issues of ethics or the law arising in cleft and craniofacial care and research. *Health Policy Reports* are original articles which examine social, political, and economic issues arising in cleft and craniofacial care or research. Limit: 3 typeset pages as they appear in the journal (about 3,000 manuscript words, with up to 3 figures or tables combined).

*Perspectives* are typically solicited articles (unsolicited articles will be considered) that provide background and context for an article in the issue in which they appear. Perspectives should provide thoughtful, scientific, constructive commentary. Limit: 1.5 typeset pages as they appear in the journal (about 1,500 manuscript words, with up to 1 figure or table). A single figure may include multiple images (a, b, c, etc.) but all must appear on the same page. Supporting material that is not essential to an understanding of the article may be posted with the article as supplemental online-only material.

*Letters to the Editor*: Comments in the form of letters that express differences of opinion or supporting views of recently published *CPCJ* content. They should provide thoughtful, scientific, constructive commentary. Limit: 1.5 typeset pages as they appear in the journal (about 1,500 manuscript words, with up to 1 figure or table). A single figure may include multiple images (a, b, c, etc.) but all must appear on the same page. Supporting material that is not essential to an understanding of the article may be posted with the article as supplemental online-only material.

*Editorials*: Brief substantiated commentaries on subjects of interest to the CPCJ readership. Editorials should be narrative in form and provide thoughtful, scientific, constructive commentary. Limit: 1.5 typeset pages as they appear in the journal (about 1,500 manuscript words, with up to 1 figure or table). A single figure may include multiple images (a, b, c, etc.) but all must appear on the same page. Supporting material that is not essential to an understanding of the article may be posted with the article as supplemental online-only material. The preferred format for your manuscript is Word. LaTeX files are also accepted. Word and (La)Tex templates are available on the <u>Manuscript Submission Guidelines</u> page of our Author Gateway.

# 4.2 Artwork, figures and other graphics

For guidance on the preparation of illustrations, pictures and graphs in electronic format, please visit SAGE's <u>Manuscript Submission Guidelines</u>.

Figures supplied in colour will appear in colour online regardless of whether or not these illustrations are reproduced in colour in the printed version. For specifically requested colour reproduction in print, you will receive information regarding the costs from SAGE after receipt of your accepted article. The first color image is \$800, and it is \$200 for any additional color images within the same contribution.

# 4.3 Identifiable information

Where a journal uses double-blind peer review, authors are required to submit:

- 1. A **version of the manuscript** which has had any information that compromises the anonymity of the author(s) removed or anonymised. This version **will** be sent to the peer reviewers.
- 2. A **separate title page** which includes any removed or anonymised material. This **will not** be sent to the peer reviewers.

See <u>https://sagepub.com/Manuscript-preparation-for-double-blind-journal</u> for detailed guidance on making an anonymous submission.

# 4.4 Supplementary material

This journal is able to host additional materials online (e.g. datasets, podcasts, videos, images etc) alongside the full-text of the article. For more information please refer to our <u>guidelines on submitting supplementary files</u>.

# Video

Video clips that contribute <u>significantly</u> to the manuscript may be submitted in either avi, mov, or mpeg formats. Videos should be submitted at the desired reproduction size and length, but should not exceed 6MB in size. If submitting avi files, the files must be

compressed. Authors are solely responsible for all editing of video clips. Each video file must be accompanied by a still image from the video that conforms to the figure resolution and size requirements outlined above for figures. This image will be published in the print version of the journal in place of the video. Please indicate in the figure legend that the still image has an associated video file. Both the print-version figure and the video must share the same file name (e.g., Figure1.jpg and Figure1.mov). A "List of Video Legends" should be prepared on a separate page at the end of the manuscript article file. *Video submissions are strongly encouraged, particularly for articles dealing with surgical techniques*.

### Audio

Audio clips that contribute <u>significantly</u> to the manuscript may be submitted in .au, .ram, .wav, or .mp3 formats. Audio files should not exceed 6 MB in size. Authors are solely responsible for all editing of audio clips. Audio clips should be cited in the manuscript as Audio 1, Audio 2, etc. A "List of Audio Legends" should be submitted on a separate page at the end of the manuscript article file.

# 4.5 Reference style

For citations and references, *CPCJ* uses the 11<sup>th</sup> Edition <u>AMA Manual of Style</u>.

# 4.6 English language editing services

Authors seeking assistance with English language editing, translation, or figure and manuscript formatting to fit the journal's specifications should consider using SAGE Language Services. Visit <u>SAGE Language Services</u> on our Journal Author Gateway for further information.

# Back to top

# 5. Submitting your manuscript

*CPCJ* is hosted on SAGE Track, a web based online submission and peer review system powered by ScholarOne<sup>™</sup> Manuscripts. Visit <u>https://mc.manuscriptcentral.com/cpcj</u> to login and submit your article online.

IMPORTANT: Please check whether you already have an account in the system before trying to create a new one. If you have reviewed or authored for the journal in the past year

it is likely that you will have had an account created. For further guidance on submitting your manuscript online, please visit <u>ScholarOne</u>.

# MANUSCRIPT FILES TO BE UPLOADED

# 1. Title Page

- The Title Page (submitted separately from the manuscript) must include (in the following order): Title (maximum 20 words); should be informative, relevant, and concise
- Author names with *no more than* three highest attained degrees, in the order that they will appear in print
- Academic rank or position, and institutional affiliation for each author
- Name, address, telephone number, fax number, and email address of the corresponding author, who will receive all editorial communication and reprint requests
- If applicable, statement that manuscript was presented orally at a professional meeting, including the name, date, and location of the meeting
- Credits and appropriate grant numbers if the study was supported by an agency.
- Running title (less than 8 words)
- If applicable, statement acknowledging all forms of financial support
- If desired, any other acknowledgements (e.g. individuals assisting with conduct of the study but not qualifying for authorship)

To ensure that the article is blinded, please do not include author names or affiliations, or any other identifying information in any portion of the manuscript other than this Title Page.

# 2. Manuscript

Please be sure you are using patient-first language in your entire manuscript (e.g., use 'patients with CLP'' instead of ''CLP patients''; or ''patients with 22q11.2 DS'' instead of 22q11.2DS patients'').

Manuscripts should avoid priority claims such as "this is the first study to...", "this is the largest study", etc. even when qualified by statements like "to our knowledge..."

**Page 1: Title** The first page of the manuscript text file should include only the title used on the Title Page (above).

**Page 2: Abstract** Original articles and ideas and innovations articles should include a <u>structured abstract</u> of no longer than 250 words (including Key Words) with the following headings and information, as applicable. Structured abstracts of no longer than 150 words should be used for data-based Brief Communications articles.

### Structured Abstract:

*Objective:* State the main question or objective of the study and the major hypothesis tested, if any.

*Design:* Describe the design of the study indicating, as appropriate, use of randomization, blinding, criterion standards for diagnostic tests, temporal direction (retrospective or prospective), etc.

*Setting:* Indicate the study setting, including the level of clinical care (for example, primary or tertiary; private practice or institutional).

*Patients, Participants:* State selection procedures, entry criteria, and numbers of participants entering and finishing the study.

*Interventions:* Describe the essential features of any intervention, including the methods and duration of administration.

*Main Outcome Measure(s):* The primary study outcome measures should be indicated as planned before data collection began. If the hypothesis being reported was formulated during or after data collection, this fact should be clearly stated.

*Results:* Describe measurements that are not evident from the nature of the main results and indicate any blinding. If possible, the results should be accompanied by confidence intervals (most often the 95% interval) and the exact level of statistical significance. For comparative studies, confidence intervals should relate to the differences between groups. Absolute values should be indicated when risk changes or effect sizes are given.

*Conclusions:* State only those conclusions of the study that are directly supported by data, along with their clinical application (avoiding overgeneralization) and/or whether

additional study is required before the information should be used in clinical settings. Equal emphasis must be given to positive and negative findings of equal scientific merit.

(Reproduced with permission from: Haynes RB et al. More informative abstracts revisited. *Ann Intern Med.* 1990;113:69–76).

*Key Words:* A short list of the key words that reflects the article's content. Clinical reports should include an unstructured abstract of no longer than 100 words, including Key Words, describing the objective, essential features and uniqueness of the case being presented, and conclusions. Non-data-based Brief Communications and Ethics, Legal, or Health Policy reports should include an unstructured abstract of no longer than 100 words, including Key Words.

**Page 3: Body of Manuscript** Where applicable, divide the body of the manuscript into the Introduction, Methods, Results, Conclusion, and References.

The *CPCJ* follows guidelines published in the *American Medical Association Manual of Style*. Manuscripts should be typed double-spaced with 1" margins, left justified, and use a standard 12-point font. Pages should be numbered consecutively in the upper right hand corner, beginning with the second page. Do not print a running title. Turn off the word processing program's hyphenation feature and "smart quotes" feature before typing. Headings must be used to designate the major divisions of the manuscript. Up to three levels of headings may be used.

# **Statistics**

If a statistical analysis is conducted, explanation of the methods used must precede the Results section in the manuscript. Unusual or complex analysis methods should be referenced.

### Units of Measure/ Abbreviations

The metric system is preferred for expressing units of measure. Abbreviations may be used for terms. The full term for each abbreviation should appear at its first use in the text, unless the abbreviation is a standard unit of measure. Abbreviations used in a table must be explained in a footnote below the table. For a list of standard abbreviations, consult the Council of Biology Editors Style Guide (available from the Council of Science Editors,

9650 Rockville Pike, Bethesda, MD 20814; <u>http://www.councilscienceeditors.org</u>) or other standard sources.

The table below lists standard accepted abbreviations for typical cleft-type classifications and study groups. Other abbreviations may be proposed for classifications and groups not listed.

### ABBREVIATION USED TO DESCRIBE A SUBJECT GROUP THAT INCLUDES:

	cleft lip (excludes (1) cleft lip and alveolus, (2) cleft lip and palate, and (3) cleft palate)
CL	cleft palate only (excludes (1) cleft lip and (2) cleft lip and palate)
СР	cleft lip and palate (excludes (1) cleft lip and (2) cleft palate)
CLP	cleft lip with or without cleft palate = cleft lip + cleft lip and palate
CL±P	(excludes cleft palate)
CP±L	cleft palate with or without cleft lip = cleft lip and palate + cleft palate (excludes cleft lip)
CL/P	cleft lip and/or cleft palate = cleft lip + cleft lip and palate + cleft palate
CL±A	(no exclusions)
	cleft lip with or without cleft alveolus = cleft lip + cleft lip and alveolus (excludes (1) cleft lip, (2) cleft lip and palate, and (3) cleft palate)

# *TERMS THAT MAY BE ADDED TO THE ABBREVIATIONS ABOVE (IF APPROPRIATE):*

- i isolated
- I incomplete

- U unilateral
- B bilateral

SM submucous

### Phonetic Symbols

Authors who use phonetic symbols are required to use Unicode-compliant fonts in their manuscripts. This will ensure the symbols display properly both during peer review and in the final published article. Examples of acceptable fonts include Charis SIL, Doulos SIL, and Gentium Unicode. Times New Roman is also acceptable, as it includes most IPA symbols and is Unicode compliant.

#### Citations/References

Single Author Article

*Citation*: Mantel (1963) or (Mantel, 1963)

*Reference*: Mantel N. Chi-square tests with one degree of freedom; extensions of the Mantel-Haenszel procedure. *J Am Stat Assoc*. 1963;58:690–700.

#### Two Author Article

*Citation*: Rasheed and Munshi (1996) or (Rasheed and Munshi, 1996) *Reference*: Rasheed SA, Munshi AK. Electromyographic and ultrasonographic evaluation of the circum-oral musculature in children. *J Clin Pediatr Dent*. 1996;20:305-311.

#### Three Or More Author Article

*Citation*: Lilja et al. (2000) or (Lilja et al., 2000) *Reference*: Lilja J, Elander A, Lohmander A, Persson C. Isolated cleft palate and submucous cleft palate. *Oral Maxillofac Surg Clin N Am*. 2000;12:455–468.

Two or more works by the same first author in the same year *Citation*: Smith (1975a), Smith (1975b) or (Smith, 1975a) etc *Reference*: Smith RC. Long term effects of smoking on fetal development. *Teratology* 1975a;42:75-84.

### Monograph

*Citation*: Bardach (1967) or (Bardach, 1967) *Reference*: Bardach J. *Cleft Lip and Palate* (Monograph). Warsaw: Polish Institute of Medical Publications; 1967.

#### <u>Thesis</u>

Citation: Dowden (1992)

*Reference*: Dowden PA. The Effects of Listener Training on the Speech Intelligibility of Severely Dysarthric Individuals. Seattle, WA: University of Washington; 1992. Dissertation.

### Book

*Citation*: McWilliams et al. (1990) or (McWilliams et al., 1990) *Reference*: McWilliams BJ, Morris HL, Shelton RL. *Cleft Palate Speech*. Philadelphia: BC Decker; 1990: 40-49. (only list pages if specific pages are cited).

### Chapter in Book

Citation: Eliason (1990) or (Eliason, 1990)

*Reference*: Eliason MJ. Neuropsychological perspectives of cleft lip and palate. In: Bardach J, Morris HL, eds. *Multidisciplinary Management of Cleft Lip and Palate*. Philadelphia: WB Saunders; 1990:825–831.

### **Conference Presentation**

*Citation*: Parke and Sawin (1975) or (Parke and Sawin, 1975) *Reference*: Parke RD, Sawin DB. Infant characteristics and behavior as elicitors of maternal and paternal responsivity in the newborn period. Presented at the Meeting of the Society for Research in Child Development; April 1975; Denver, Colorado.

#### Website

*Citation*: World Health Organization (2005)

*Reference*: World Health Organization. International database on craniofacial anomalies. Available at: <u>www.who.int/genomics/anomalies/</u>. Accessed June 27, 2005.

When multiple references are cited simultaneously in the text, they should be arranged in chronological order, for example: (Smith, 1975; Jones et al., 1981; Brown, 1986). References should be double-spaced, and listed in alphabetical order (unnumbered)

according to the surname of the first author. For articles with more than ten authors, include only the first ten author names in the reference list, followed by "et al."

### Figure Legends

A list of figure legends must be included on a separate page at the end of the manuscript article file. The legend should explain each figure as concisely as possible. Do not include figure legends in your figure art file. Figure legends are not included in the word count limit.

### Tables

Tables should be numbered consecutively using Arabic numerals. Each table should have an appropriate title and explanation at its head. Abbreviations used in a table must be explained in a footnote below the table. Submit tables as separate files, with one table per file, in either .doc (text) or .xls (spreadsheet) format.

### **Figures**

All figures and illustrations must be original photographs or artwork. For figures or illustrations reprinted from published work, the author must obtain written permission from the copyright holder and upload that permission as an "Additional Information" file at submission. Figures should be numbered consecutively in the order in which they appear in the manuscript, using Arabic numerals. A "List of Figure" Legends must be included on a separate page following the body of the manuscript. The legend should explain each figure in detail. Authors will be responsible for the following charges for each color figure submitted: \$75.00 for online only; \$400.00 for both online and print for ACPA members or \$500.00 for non-members. A single figure may include multiple images (a, b, c, etc.) but all must appear on the same page.

Figures should be submitted in one of the following formats: tif (preferable), eps, jpg, pdf. Each figure should be submitted as a separate file. Composite figures made up of more than one image should be submitted as separate files (e.g. Fig 1A, Fig 1B). However, composite figures should contain a single legend describing the contents of all figures in the composite.

Refer to the Digital Art Specifications document at <u>www.cpcjournal.org</u> (see 'For Authors') for image resolution, size, and format requirements. For symbols that must be explained, please use a key that can be shot with the figures. Do not include symbols in the figure legend. Authors may be charged if artwork must be generated to incorporate figure symbols into the figure legend.

Figures submitted at lower than the required resolutions stated above will be allowed for review purposes. However, the publication process for accepted manuscripts will be delayed until acceptable images have been submitted.

### 5.1 ORCID

As part of our commitment to ensuring an ethical, transparent and fair peer review process SAGE is a supporting member of <u>ORCID</u>, the <u>Open Researcher and</u> <u>Contributor ID</u>. ORCID provides a unique and persistent digital identifier that distinguishes researchers from every other researcher, even those who share the same name, and, through integration in key research workflows such as manuscript and grant submission, supports automated linkages between researchers and their professional activities, ensuring that their work is recognized.

The collection of ORCID IDs from corresponding authors is now part of the submission process of this journal. If you already have an ORCID ID you will be asked to associate that to your submission during the online submission process. We also strongly encourage all co-authors to link their ORCID ID to their accounts in our online peer review platforms. It takes seconds to do: click the link when prompted, sign into your ORCID account and our systems are automatically updated. Your ORCID ID will become part of your accepted publication's metadata, making your work attributable to you and only you. Your ORCID ID is published with your article so that fellow researchers reading your work can link to your ORCID profile and from there link to your other publications.

If you do not already have an ORCID ID please follow this <u>link</u> to create one or visit our <u>ORCID homepage</u> to learn more.

### 5.2 Information required for completing your submission

You will be asked to provide contact details and academic affiliations for all coauthors via the submission system and identify who is to be the corresponding author. These details must match what appears on your manuscript. The affiliation listed in the manuscript should be the institution where the research was conducted. If an author has moved to a new institution since completing the research, the new affiliation can be included in a manuscript note at the end of the paper. At this stage please ensure you have included all the required statements and declarations and uploaded any additional supplementary files (including reporting guidelines where relevant).

Please be sure you are using patient-first language in your entire manuscript (e.g., use "patients with CLP" instead of "CLP patients"; or "patients with 22q11.2DS" instead of "22q11.2DS patients").

# 5.3 Permissions

Please also ensure that you have obtained any necessary permission from copyright holders for reproducing any illustrations, tables, figures or lengthy quotations previously published elsewhere. Submission of a manuscript to the CPCJ is taken as evidence that no portion of hte text or figures has been published or submitted for publication elsewhere unless information regarding prevoius publication is explicitly cited and written copyright permission obtained and uploaded at the time of manuscript submission. Permission should be obtained for both print and online publication.

For further information including guidance on fair dealing for criticism and review, please see the Copyright and Permissions page on the <u>SAGE Author Gateway</u>.

### Back to top

### 6. On acceptance and publication

# **6.1 SAGE Production**

Your SAGE Production Editor will keep you informed as to your article's progress throughout the production process. Proofs will be sent by PDF to the corresponding author and should be returned promptly. Authors are reminded to check their proofs carefully to confirm that all author information, including names, affiliations, sequence and contact details are correct, and that Funding and Conflict of Interest statements, if any, are accurate. Please note that if there are any changes to the author list at this stage all authors will be required to complete and sign a form authorising the change.

# **6.2 Online First publication**

Online First allows final articles (completed and approved articles awaiting assignment to a future issue) to be published online prior to their inclusion in a journal issue, which significantly reduces the lead time between submission and publication. Visit the <u>SAGE</u> Journals help page for more details, including how to cite Online First articles.

# 6.3 Access to your published article

SAGE provides authors with online access to their final article.

# 6.4 Promoting your article

Publication is not the end of the process! You can help disseminate your paper and ensure it is as widely read and cited as possible. The SAGE Author Gateway has numerous resources to help you promote your work. Visit the <u>Promote Your Article</u> page on the Gateway for tips and advice.

# Back to top

# 7. Further information

Any correspondence, queries or additional requests for information on the manuscript submission process should be sent to the CPCJ editorial office as follows:

Editor: Jamie Perry, PhD Editorial Office: The Cleft Palate-Craniofacial Journal Email: <u>perryja@ecu.edu</u>

# 7.1 Appealing the publication decision

Editors have very broad discretion in determining whether an article is an appropriate fit for their journal. Many manuscripts are declined with a very general statement of the rejection decision. These decisions are not eligible for formal appeal unless the author believes the decision to reject the manuscript was based on an error in the review of the
If an author believes the decision regarding their manuscript was affected by a publication ethics breach, the author may contact the publisher with a detailed written description of their concern, and information supporting the concern, at <u>publication\_ethics@sagepub.com</u>

### 145

### Appendix B. Quality rating tables of studies with inter-rater checks

**Table 1.** CASP quality rating for quantitative studies with inter-rater checks

CASP criteria	Boztepe et	Cinar et	Despars	Gassling	Habersaat	Krueckeberg	Shapiro	Tsuchiya	Yilmaz
(inter-rater score)	al. (2016)	al.	et al.	et al.	et al.	et al. (1993)	et al.	et al.	et al.
		(2020)	(2011)	(2014)	(2018)		(2018)	(2019)	(2011)
1.Did the study addressed a clearly	2	2	2	2	2 (2)	2	2	2 (2)	2
formulated issue?									
2.Was the cohort recruited in an acceptable	1	2	2	2	1 (1)	1	1	2 (2)	2
way?									
3.Was the exposure accurately measured to	N/A	2	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A
minimise bias?									
4. Was the outcome accurately measured to	2	2	2	2	2 (2)	2	2	2 (2)	2
minimise bias?									
5a.Have the authors identified all important	2	2	2	2	0 (0)	2	0	2 (2)	2
confounding factors?									
5b.Have they taken account of the	2	2	2	2	1(1)	2	1	2 (2)	1
confounding factors in the design and/or									
analysis?									
6a.Was the follow-up of subjects complete	N/A	2	2	N/A	2 (2)	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A
enough?									
6b.Was the follow-up of subjects long	N/A	2	2	N/A	2 (2)	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A
enough?									
9.Do you believe the results?	2	2	2	2	2 (2)	2	2	2 (2)	2
10.Can the results be applied to the local	2	2	2	1	2 (2)	2	2	2 (2)	2
population?									
11.Do the results of this study fit with other	2	2	2	0	1(1)	N/A	2	2 (2)	2
available evidence?									
12.What are the implications of this study	2	2	2	1	2 (2)	2	2	2 (2)	2
to practice?									
Possible total score per study	18	24	22	18	22	16	18	18	18
Total score achieved (percentage)	17 (94%)	24	22	14 (78%)	17 (17)	15 (94%)	14	18 (18)	17
		(100%)	(100%)		(77%)		(78%)	(100%)	(94%)

146

Note (Table 1): Questions 7 and 8 do not use answers 'yes', 'can't tell', 'no' and therefore could not be scored in the same way.

CASP criteria	Breuning et	Klein et al.	Klein et al.
(inter-rater checks)	al. (2020)	(2006)	(2014)
1.Was there a clear statement of the aims of	2	2	2 (2)
the research?			
2.Is the qualitative methodology	2	2	2 (2)
appropriate?			
3.Was the research design appropriate to	2	2	2 (2)
address the aims of the research?			
4.Was the recruitment strategy appropriate	2	1	1 (1)
to the aims of the research?			
5.Was the data collected in a way that	2	2	2 (2)
addressed the research issue?			
6.Has the relationship between researcher	1	1	1(1)
and participants been adequately			
considered?			
7.Have ethical issues been taken into	2	2	2 (2)
consideration?			
8.Was the data analysis sufficiently	2	2	2 (2)
rigorous?			
9.Is there a clear statement of findings?	2	2	2 (2)
10.How valuable is the research?	2	2	2 (2)
Possible total score per study	20	20	20
Total score achieved (percentage)	19 (95%)	18 (90%)	18 (90%)

**Table 2.** CASP quality rating for qualitative studies with inter-rater checks

147

### Appendix C. HRA approval



Cambridgeshire and Peterborough NHS Foundation Trust Elizabeth House, Fulbourn Hospital Fulbourn Cambridge CB21 5EF

25 February 2020 Reissued 02 March 2020

Dear Miss Safarikova

	NHS
Health	Research Authority

Email: hra.approval@nhs.net HCRW.approvals@wales.nhs.uk

HRA and Health a	and Care
<b>Research Wales</b>	(HCRW)
Approval Le	tter

Study title:	Parents' experiences of the decision-making process
	for elective surgery at transition in cleft lip and palate:
	An Interpretative Phenomenological Analysis
IRAS project ID:	266133
REC reference:	20/WS/0034
Sponsor	University of East Anglia

I am pleased to confirm that <u>HRA and Health and Care Research Wales (HCRW) Approval</u> has been given for the above referenced study, on the basis described in the application form, protocol, supporting documentation and any clarifications received. You should not expect to receive anything further relating to this application.

Please now work with participating NHS organisations to confirm capacity and capability, in line with the instructions provided in the "Information to support study set up" section towards the end of this letter.

# How should I work with participating NHS/HSC organisations in Northern Ireland and Scotland?

HRA and HCRW Approval does not apply to NHS/HSC organisations within Northern Ireland and Scotland.

If you indicated in your IRAS form that you do have participating organisations in either of these devolved administrations, the final document set and the study wide governance report (including this letter) have been sent to the coordinating centre of each participating nation. The relevant national coordinating function/s will contact you as appropriate.

Please see <u>IRAS Help</u> for information on working with NHS/HSC organisations in Northern Ireland and Scotland.

### How should I work with participating non-NHS organisations?

HRA and HCRW Approval does not apply to non-NHS organisations. You should work with your non-NHS organisations to <u>obtain local agreement</u> in accordance with their procedures.

### What are my notification responsibilities during the study?

The standard conditions document "<u>After Ethical Review – guidance for sponsors and</u> <u>investigators</u>", issued with your REC favourable opinion, gives detailed guidance on reporting expectations for studies, including:

- Registration of research
- Notifying amendments
- Notifying the end of the study

The <u>HRA website</u> also provides guidance on these topics, and is updated in the light of changes in reporting expectations or procedures.

### Who should I contact for further information?

Please do not hesitate to contact me for assistance with this application. My contact details are below.

Your IRAS project ID is 266133. Please quote this on all correspondence.

Yours sincerely, Catherine Adams

Approvals Manager

Email: hra.approval@nhs.net

Copy to: Ms Polly Harrison

### The final document set assessed and approved by HRA and HCRW Approval is listed below.

Document	Version	Date
Copies of advertisement materials for research participants [Poster_266133_v1_2020-01-17]	v1	17 January 2020
Evidence of Sponsor insurance or indemnity (non NHS Sponsors only) [Public_Liability_and_Product_Liability_(to_May_2020)]		01 May 2019
Interview schedules or topic guides for participants [Topic_guide_266133_v1_2020-01-10]	v1	10 January 2020
IRAS Application Form [IRAS_Form_24012020]		24 January 2020
Letter from sponsor [Insurance_and_Indemnity_confirmation_2020- 10-17]		17 January 2020
Letters of invitation to participant [Participant_invitation_letter_parents_266133_v1_2020-01-17]	v1	17 January 2020
Letters of invitation to participant [Participant_invitation_letter_YP_266133_v1_2020-01-17]	v1	17 January 2020
Organisation Information Document		03 February 2020
Other [Professional_Indemnity_(to_May_2020)]		01 May 2019
Other [Research_CV_Eliane_Young_2019-09-20]		20 September 2019
Other [Consent_to_contact_266133_v1_2020-01-17]	v1	17 January 2020
Other [Demographic_information_form_266133_v1_2020-01-17]	v1	17 January 2020
Other [Voucher_receipt_form_266133_v1_2020-01-17]	v1	17 January 2020
Other [Signature_And_Delegation_Log_Template_v1- 2_IRAS266133_2020-01-17]	v1-2	17 January 2020
Other [Confirmation Email re Cl/Student role]		26 January 2020
Participant consent form [Consent_form_266133_v1	V2	18 February 2020
Participant information sheet (PIS) [PIS_266133_v1	V2	18 February 2020
Research protocol or project proposal [Thesis_Protocol_266133_v1_2020-01-10]	v1	10 January 2020
Schedule of Events or SoECAT [IRAS schedule-events-excel- template-1_0_266133_2020-01-17]	v1_0	17 January 2020
Summary CV for Chief Investigator (CI) [Research_CV_Jana_Safarikova_2019-09-23]		23 September 2019
Summary CV for supervisor (student research) [Research_CV_Paul_Fisher_2019-11-04]		04 November 2019
Summary CV for supervisor (student research) [Research_CV_Kiki_Mastroyannopoulou_2019-09-20]		20 September 2019

### **Appendix D. Participant Information Sheet (NHS and non-NHS)**

### Participant Information Sheet (NHS)



[Trust logo]

### PARTICIPANT INFORMATION SHEET

#### 'Parents' experiences of decision-making about orthognathic surgery'

My name is Jana Safarikova, Trainee Clinical Psychologist at the University of East Anglia. I am carrying out a research study about parents' experiences of decision-making about orthognathic surgery which is conducted as part of my Doctorate in Clinical Psychology course.

Please take time to read through this information sheet. You can ask me for clarification if anything is not clear or if you would like further details.

#### Why me?

You are being invited to take part in this study because you are a parent of a young person who was born with cleft lip and/or palate and who has been cared for by the Cleft Lip and Palate Team at By taking part in the study, you could help us improve and shape our services to deliver the best support for children, young adults and their families.

#### What is the study about?

We understand that orthognathic surgery is offered to young people during a transition time when they are expected to be the main decision-makers. It is therefore a significant time for them and consequently for many parents. A recent study addressed the experiences of young people making a <u>decision</u> about this elective surgery but there is limited knowledge about the experiences of parents during the decision-making process. We would like to interview 8-10 parents to share their experiences with us.

#### Who can take part?

- Parents of young people who have made a decision about whether or not to undergo orthognathic surgery.
- If the decision is 'yes', the young person is on the treatment pathway to undergo the surgery. It is expected that this decision has been made in the last five years.
- · If the decision is 'no', then this decision was made in the last five years as well.

#### Do I have to take part?

No, you do not have to take part. Taking part in NHS research is voluntary, it is up to you whether you want to take part or not. If you decide against taking part, this will in no way affect the care provided to the young person in your family. It is an opportunity for you to share your experiences.

> IRAS 266133, REC 20/WS/0034 PIS\_NHS\_V5\_19062020 Page 1 of 4

#### What would taking part in this study involve?

If you are interested in taking part, you should contact either me (Jana) directly or the Cleft Lip and Palate Team using the contact details provided at the end of this information sheet Once you make contact, we will arrange a meeting for our interview. Considering the current COVID-19 restrictions, the interview will be done via Skype or similar online platform.

We will start our meeting by going through the study details to ensure that you are well informed and agree to take part. We will then read through a consent form to confirm your agreeing to taking part and I will audio record your consent. This might take up to 15 minutes.

During our interview I will start by asking you some basic information about yourself, what type of cleft the young person in your family was born with and how many surgeries they have had (approx. 10 minutes). I will not need to know the gender or name of your <u>child</u> but you can share it with me if you wish. We will then focus on your experience of the decision-making process, how involved you were, what it was like for you and how the decision was reached. The interview is expected to last approximately 45-60 minutes and it will be video and audio recorded. The video recording will be deleted once the audio is confirmed as of satisfactory quality.

#### What will happen to the information I provide?

Your interview will be transcribed and anonymised so you cannot be identified. Your interview and other parents' interviews will be considered in detail in order to try and understand what the experience of the decision-making process has been like. With your consent I would like to share my findings from the study with other professionals and researchers by publishing the findings, so they and future patients can benefit from your expertise. The Cleft Lip and Palate Service will use the information to develop their service and this part of the pathway in particular. If you are interested, you will be able to receive a summary of the anonymised findings.

Following the Data Protection Policy in accordance with GDPR the information you provide (including your non-identifiable data) will be stored securely for 10 years in an encrypted file on a password-protected computer at the University of East Anglia.

The University has a dedicated Data Protection Officer: Ellen Paterson, The Library, University of East Anglia, Norwich Research Park, Norwich NR4 7TJ, dataprotection@uea.ac.uk, 01603 592431.

#### What are the benefits of taking part?

By taking part you will be helping us to understand more about your experiences and you may be able to help other people going through the same process in the future.

#### What are the possible disadvantages and risks of taking part?

As mentioned above, you will need to offer your time to conduct the study, which might be around 60-80 minutes.

Although I hope you will find the interview straightforward, there is a small chance that it might cause you upset as it will address your personal experiences. Ethics committees have to review all planned studies before they can start. The purpose is to protect people taking part by ensuring they do not come to any harm and the studies conducted have value to science and society. This research

> IRAS 266133, REC 20/WS/0034 PIS\_NHS\_V5\_19062020 Page 2 of 4

study has received the required approvals: Health Research Authority (HRA) approval and favourable opinion from West of Scotland REC 5. [REC reference: 20/WS/0034; IRAS project ID: 266133]

#### Can I change my mind?

Yes, you can change your mind whether you would like to take part in the study. This can be prior to our meeting, during our interview or up to a week later. However, after this time the analysis will <u>start</u> and it will *not* be possible to withdraw your data. Hopefully, this approach will offer you enough opportunities to consider your participation and allow you to withdraw in time if you change your mind.

#### Reimbursement

As a 'thank you' for giving up your time to take part you will receive a £10 voucher.

#### Confidentiality and anonymity

All information you provide during the interview will be for this research purposes only. However, if you share something in your interview about harming yourself or others, this will need to be shared with the Cleft Lip and Palate Team to ensure that you and others are safe. This would be discussed with you first.

As I will be using your data in the analysis and might use some quotes, full confidentiality of what you share with me cannot be guaranteed. However, all information that identifies you will be changed and therefore your anonymity won't be broken. A pseudonym of your choice will be used to protect your and your child's identity in any data or quotes used in publications.

The University of East Anglia (UEA) is the sponsor for this study based in the United Kingdom. It will be using information from you in order to undertake this study and will act as the data controller for this study. This means that UEA is responsible for looking after your information and using it properly. UEA will keep identifiable information about you for no longer than it is required after the study has finished, e.g. to share a summary of findings with you if you are interested in seeing them.

You can find out more about how we use your information at https://portal.uea.ac.uk/informationservices/strategy-planning-and-compliance/regulations-and-policies/information-regulations-andpolicies/data-protection.

#### General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) transparency

In this research study we will use information from you. We will only use information that we need for the research study. We will let very few people know your name or contact details, and only if they really need it for this study.

Everyone involved in this study will keep your data safe and secure. We will also follow all privacy rules.

We will make sure no-one can work out who you are from the reports we write.

#### Interested?

IRAS 266133, REC 20/WS/0034 PIS\_NHS\_V5\_19062020 Page 3 of 4

If you are interested and would like to be interviewed to share your experiences, please contact me and we can arrange a date and time for your interview. Please ask me any questions you may have about participating in this research.

We appreciate that life is busy and therefore if neither the team or I hear from you, someone from the Cleft Lip and Palate Team will contact you in approximately a week's time to see if you have had a chance to look through study information.

#### Complaints

If you wish to make a complaint about any aspect of this research, please contact Professor Niall Broomfield, Programme Director, Doctorate in Clinical Psychology (n.broomfield@uea.ac.uk).

#### How to contact us

If you have any queries or would like further information, here are the best contact details to get in touch:

Jana Safarikova, Trainee Clinical Psychologist j.safarikova@uea.ac.uk

#### Dr Paul Fisher

Registered Clinical Psychologist, Senior Clinical Lecturer in Clinical Psychology at UEA, Supervisor of this research study p.fisher@uea.ac.uk

Alternatively, you can contact the Cleft Lip and Palate Team:

Dr Lead Clinical Psychologist option (Secretary

If you are interested in taking part and would like to arrange the interview, please contact Jana or the Cleft Lip and Palate Team.

Thank you for taking time to read through the information and for considering taking part in the research study.

> IRAS 266133, REC 20/WS/0034 PIS\_NHS\_V5\_19062020 Page 4 of 4

### Participant Information Sheet (non-NHS)



#### PARTICIPANT INFORMATION SHEET

#### 'Parents' experiences of decision-making about orthognathic surgery'

My name is Jana Safarikova, Trainee Clinical Psychologist at the University of East Anglia. I am carrying out a research study about parents' experiences of decision-making about orthognathic surgery which is conducted as part of my Doctorate in Clinical Psychology course.

Please take time to read through this information sheet. You can ask me for clarification if anything is not clear or if you would like further details.

#### Why me?

You are being invited to take part in this study because you are a parent of a young person who was born with cleft lip and/or palate. By taking part in the study, you could help us improve and shape NHS services to deliver the best support for children, young adults and their families.

#### What is the study about?

We understand that orthognathic surgery is offered to young people during a transition time when they are expected to be the main decision-makers. It is therefore a significant time for them and consequently for many parents. A recent study addressed the experiences of young people making a decision about this elective surgery but there is limited knowledge about the experiences of parents during the decision-making process. We would like to interview 8-10 parents to share their experiences with us.

#### Who can take part?

- Parents of young people who have made a decision about whether or not to undergo orthognathic surgery.
- If the decision is 'yes', the young person is on the treatment pathway to undergo the surgery. It is expected that this decision has been made in the last five years.
- · If the decision is 'no', then this decision was made in the last five years as well.

#### Do I have to take part?

No, you do not have to take part. Taking part in this research is voluntary, it is up to you whether you want to take part or not. If you decide against taking part, this will in no way affect the care provided to the young person in your family. It is an opportunity for you to share your experiences.

> IRAS 266133, REC 20/WS/0034 PIS\_nonNHS\_V5\_19062020 Page 1 of 4

#### What would taking part in this study involve?

If you are interested in taking part, you should contact me (Jana) using the contact details provided at the end of this information sheet. Once you make contact, I will answer any questions you might have about the study, check that you are eligible to take part and we will arrange our interview via Skype or a similar online platform.

We will start our interview by going through the study details to ensure that you are well informed and agree to take part. We will then read through a consent form to confirm your agreeing to taking part and I will audio record your consent. This might take up to 15 minutes.

During our interview I will start by asking you some basic information about yourself, what type of cleft the young person in your family was born with and how many surgeries they have had (approx. 10 minutes). I will not need to know the gender or name of your <u>child</u> but you can share it with me if you wish. We will then focus on your experience of the decision-making process, how involved you were, what it was like for you and how the decision was reached. The interview is expected to last approximately 45-60 minutes and it will be video and audio recorded. The video recording will be deleted once the audio is confirmed as of satisfactory quality.

#### What will happen to the information I provide?

Your interview will be transcribed and anonymised so you cannot be identified. Your interview and other parents' interviews will be considered in detail in order to try and understand what the experience of the decision-making process has been like. With your consent I would like to share my findings from the study with other professionals and researchers by publishing the findings, so they and future patients can benefit from your expertise. The Cleft Lip and Palate Service in the NHS will use the information to develop their service and this part of the <u>pathway in particular</u>. If you are interested, you will be able to receive a summary of the anonymised findings.

Following the Data Protection Policy in accordance with GDPR the information you provide (including your non-identifiable data) will be stored securely for 10 years in an encrypted file on a password-protected computer at the University of East Anglia.

The University has a dedicated Data Protection Officer: Ellen Paterson, The Library, University of East Anglia, Norwich Research Park, Norwich NR4 7TJ, dataprotection@uea.ac.uk, 01603 592431.

#### What are the benefits of taking part?

By taking part you will be helping us to understand more about your experiences and you may be able to help other people going through the same process in the future.

#### What are the possible disadvantages and risks of taking part?

As mentioned above, you will need to offer your time to conduct the study, which might be around 60-80 minutes in total.

Although I hope you will find the interview straightforward, there is a small chance that it might cause you upset as it will address your personal experiences. Ethics committees <u>have to</u> review all planned studies before they can start. The purpose is to protect people taking part by ensuring they do not come to any harm and the studies conducted have value to science and society. This research study has received the required approvals: Health Research Authority (HRA) approval and favourable opinion from West of Scotland REC 5. [REC reference: 20/WS/0034; IRAS project ID: 266133]

IRAS 266133, REC 20/WS/0034 PIS\_nonNHS\_V5\_19062020 Page 2 of 4

156

#### Can I change my mind?

Yes, you can change your mind whether you would like to take part in the study. This can be prior to our interview, during our interview or up to a week later. However, after this time the analysis will <u>start</u> and it will *not* be possible to withdraw your data. Hopefully, this approach will offer you enough opportunities to consider your participation and allow you to withdraw in time if you change your mind.

#### Reimbursement

As a 'thank you' for giving up your time to take part you will receive a £10 voucher.

#### Confidentiality and anonymity

All information you provide during the interview will be for this research purposes only. However, if you share something in your interview about harming yourself or others, this will need to be shared with CLAPA (or the Police) to ensure that you and others are safe. This would be discussed with you first.

As I will be using your data in the analysis and might use some quotes, full confidentiality of what you share with me cannot be guaranteed. However, all information that identifies you will be changed and therefore your anonymity won't be broken. A pseudonym of your choice will be used to protect your and your child's identity in any data or quotes used in publications.

The University of East Anglia (UEA) is the sponsor for this study based in the United Kingdom. It will be using information from you in order to undertake this study and will act as the data controller for this study. This means that UEA is responsible for looking after your information and using it properly. UEA will keep identifiable information about you for no longer than it is required after the study has finished, e.g. to share a summary of findings with you if you are interested in seeing them.

You can find out more about how we use your information at https://portal.uea.ac.uk/informationservices/strategy-planning-and-compliance/regulations-and-policies/information-regulations-andpolicies/data-protection.

#### General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) transparency

In this research study we will use information from you. We will only use information that we need for the research study. We will let very few people know your name or contact details, and only if they really need it for this study.

Everyone involved in this study will keep your data safe and secure. We will also follow all privacy rules.

We will make sure no-one can work out who you are from the reports we write.

#### Interested?

If you are interested and would like to be interviewed to share your experiences, please contact me and we can arrange a date and time for your interview. Please ask me any questions you may have about participating in this research.

> IRAS 266133, REC 20/WS/0034 PIS\_nonNHS\_V5\_19062020 Page 3 of 4

#### Complaints

If you wish to make a complaint about any aspect of this research, please contact Professor Niall Broomfield, Programme Director, Doctorate in Clinical Psychology (n.broomfield@uea.ac.uk).

#### How to contact us

If you have any queries or would like further information, here are the best contact details to get in touch:

Jana Safarikova, Trainee Clinical Psychologist j.safarikova@uea.ac.uk

Dr Paul Fisher Registered Clinical Psychologist, Senior Clinical Lecturer in Clinical Psychology at UEA, Supervisor of this research study p.fisher@uea.ac.uk

Thank you for taking time to read through the information and for considering taking part in the research study.

> IRAS 266133, REC 20/WS/0034 PIS\_nonNHS\_V5\_19062020 Page 4 of 4

### Appendix E. Consent form (NHS and non-NHS)

### **Consent form (NHS)**



[Trust logo]

IRAS ID: 266133 Study Number: Participant Identification Number for this trial:

#### CONSENT FORM

Title of Project: Parents' experiences of decision-making about orthognathic surgery Name of Researcher: Jana Safarikova

- I confirm that I have read the information sheet dated 19/06/2020 (version 5) for the above study.
- I have had the opportunity to consider the information, ask questions and have had <u>these</u> answered satisfactorily.
- 3. I understand that my participation in this research is voluntary.
- 4. I understand that my interview will be audio recorded.
- 5. I agree for my video interview to be video recorded.
- I understand that I can withdraw from the study without giving any reason and this <u>will</u> not affect my and my child's (young person's) care.
- I understand that once my interview data have been anonymised and entered into <u>analysis</u> they can no longer be withdrawn. Therefore, I have <u>one week</u> after my interview to <u>request</u> withdrawal of my interview data. After this time anonymised data will be used in the study.
- 8. I understand that my data collected during the study may be looked at by individuals from University of East Anglia, regulatory authorities or from the NHS Trust, where it is <u>relevant</u> to my taking part in this research. I give permission for these individuals to have access to these records for the purpose of audit and monitoring of the research.

When completed: 1 for participant; 1 for researcher site <u>file</u> IRAS 266133, REC 20/WS/0034 Consent\_form\_NHS\_v5\_19062020

### Please initial box

_	_	-	٦
			I
			1

1
1
1

	L		_

_		
_		
_		
_		
_		
_		
_		
_		
_		
_		
_		
_		
_		
_		
_		
-		
-		

- 9. I understand and agree for my anonymised interview data to be used in publications.
- I understand that if the researcher is concerned about my or someone else's safety, then information may be shared with the clinical team. However, this will be <u>discussed</u> with me first.
- I would like to receive a summary of findings and agree for my contact details being kept by the researcher to be able to do so.
- 12. I agree to take part in the above study.

Name of Participant

Date

Signature

Name of Person

taking consent

Date

Signature

When completed: 1 for participant; 1 for researcher site file IRAS 266133, REC 20/WS/0034 Consent\_form\_NHS\_v5\_19062020 159

### **Consent form (non-NHS)**



IRAS ID: 266133 Study Number: Participant Identification Number for this trial:

#### CONSENT FORM

Title of Project: Parents' experiences of decision-making about orthognathic surgery Name of Researcher: Jana Safarikova

Please	initial	box

1.	I confirm that I have read the information sheet dated 19/06/2020 (version 5, non.NHS) for the
	above study.

- I have had the opportunity to consider the information, ask questions and have had <u>these</u> answered satisfactorily.
- 3. I understand that my participation in this research is voluntary.
- 4. I understand that my interview will be audio recorded.
- 5. I agree for my video interview to be video recorded.
- I understand that I can withdraw from the study without giving any reason and this <u>will</u> not affect my and my child's (young person's) care.
- I understand that once my interview data have been anonymised and entered into <u>analysis</u> they can no longer be withdrawn. Therefore, I have <u>one week</u> after my interview to <u>request</u> withdrawal of my interview data. After this time anonymised data will be used in the study.
- I understand that my data collected during the study may be looked at by individuals from University of East Anglia where it is relevant to my taking part in this research. I give permission for these individuals to have access to these records for the purpose of audit and monitoring of the research.

When completed: 1 for participant; 1 for researcher site IRAS 266133, REC 20/WS/0034 Consent\_form\_nonNH5\_vS\_19062020

- 9. I understand and agree for my anonymised interview data to be used in publications.
- I understand that if the researcher is concerned about my or someone else's safety, then information may be shared with CLAPA (if applicable) or the Police. However, this will <u>be</u> discussed with me first.
- I would like to receive a summary of findings and agree for my contact details being kept by the researcher to be able to do so.
- 12. I agree to take part in the above study.

Name of Participant	Date	Signature
Name of Person	Date	Signature
taking consent		

When completed: 1 for participant; 1 for researcher site file IRAS 266133, REC 20/WS/0034 Consent\_form\_nonNH5\_v5\_19062020

### **Appendix F. Demographic information form**



### Demographic information form

Participant ID: \_\_\_\_\_

Date: \_\_\_\_\_

#### DEMOGRAPHIC INFORMATION FORM

#### Study name: Parents' experiences of decision-making about orthognathic surgery

In order to learn about the range of people taking part in this study, we would be grateful if you could answer the following questions. All information provided is anonymous, it will be linked only to your Participant Identification Number above. Please write your answer in the space provided, or circle the answer that best applies to you.

#### ABOUT YOUR CHILD

Whet turns of slaft data wave shild have?	Lisiateral claft line and caleta (sight/laft)
what type of cleft does your child have?	Unilateral cleft lip and palate (right/left)
	Bilateral cleft lip and palate
	Cleft palate only
	Other (please specify)
How many surgeries has your child had prior	
to the decision regarding orthognathic	
currany?	
suigery:	
How old was your child when the decision	
shout orthographic surgery was made?	
about orthognathic surgery was made.	
How long ago was that decision made?	
	1

Have you ever had a session with the Clinical	Yes
Psychologist within the Cleft Lip and Palate	No
Service?	Not sure
If yes, how many times have you met with the	Once
Clinical Psychologist?	2-3 times
	3-6 times
	6 times or more (please specify)
	Not sure
Does your child have any other diagnosis?	Please specify

### ABOUT YOU

How old are you?	
Please indicate your gender	Female
	Male
	Other (please specify)
How would you describe your racial/ethnic	White British/White other (please specify)
background?	
	Asian/Asian British
	Black/Black British
	Mixed ethnicity (please specify)
	<u>Other</u> ethnic group (please specify)
	Prefer not to say

### Thank you for your time completing this form.

### Appendix G. Topic guide

## Parents' experiences of the decision-making process for elective surgery at transition in cleft lip and palate: An Interpretative Phenomenological Analysis

Topic guide

### Research question:

What are the experiences of parents of young people with cleft lip/palate, of the decision-making process in elective orthognathic surgery?

### Topic guide:

 In.particular, what are parents' experiences of their involvement and role in this process?

What was it like for you? Can you describe/give me an example of your role?

How do parents experience the transition in decision-making from themselves to their child (young person)?

Was there a moment when you realised that your child started to have responsibility for their decision regarding the surgery? Can you describe the moment? Where were you, who was with you...?

3. How do parents experience the milestone in their child's (young person's) care? What was it like for you after years of making decisions about your child's care to reach a time when your child was expected to decide themselves? Do you recall a particular moment when you felt it?

> IRAS 266133, REC 20/WS/0034 Topic\_guide\_v1\_10012020 Page 1 of 2

4. Was the process of decision-making what parents expected?

Were there any surprises along the way of making the decision? Can you give me an example?

IRAS 266133, REC 20/WS/0034 Topic\_guide\_v1\_10012020 Page 2 of 2